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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

x  ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011
OR
TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number 000-51588

CBEYOND, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 58-363652€
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
320 Interstate North Parkway, Suite 50(
Atlanta, Georgia 30339
(Address of principal executive offices (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area codeg678) 424-2400

Securities registered pursuant to 12(b) of the Act:
Common Stock, $0.01 par value
(Title of Class)
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405c06#turities Act. Yes' No X
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Exchange Act.  Yes
No x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of the Securities Excha
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requaodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pasti9s. Yesx No ~

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant liésnstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥atb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted untsto Rule 405 of Regulation5¢§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the precedignonth
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files). Yes No ~

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilerrs pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K (8205 of this chapter) is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, toltbst of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive pyax information statements incorporated by
reference in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any amderent to this Form 10-K.”

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantleage accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.

Large accelerated filer’ Accelerated filer x Non-accelerated filer” Smaller reporting company”
(Do not check if a smaller reporting compa

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exgje Act.) Yes™ No X

As of June 30, 2011, the aggregate market valtleeofommon stock held by non-affiliates of the s&gint was $400,717,728 based on a
closing price of $13.21 on the Nasdag Global Madresuch date.

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of e&tearegistrant’s classes of common stock, ab@fdtest practicable date.

Title of Class Number of Shares Outstanding on March 1, 2012
Common Stock, $0.01 par val 30,703,46¢
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The information required by Part Ill of this Repdt the extent not set forth herein, is incorpedaty reference from the registrant’s
definitive proxy statement relating to the annuakting of stockholders scheduled to be held on 8u2812. The definitive proxy statement
shall be filed with the Securities and Exchange @dgsion within 120 days after the end of the figar to which this report relates.
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PART |
CAUTIONARY NOTICE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEME NTS
In this document, Cbeyond, Inc. and its subsidsasies referred to as “we,” “our,” “us,” “managemétite “Company” or “Cbeyond.”

This document contains forward-looking statemeriteiwthe meaning of the Private Securities LitigatReform Act of 1995. Such
statements include, but are not limited to, stat@m&entified by words such as “expectation,” ‘Gance,” “believe,” “expect” “anticipate,”
“estimate,” “intend,” “plan,” “target,” “project,’and similar expressions. Such statements are hgsedthe current beliefs and expectations of
our management and are subject to significant asikkuncertainties. Actual results may differ frirase set forth in the forward-looking
statements. Factors that might cause future reuttsfer include, but are not limited to, thelfiwing: the significant reduction in economic
activity, which particularly affects our target rkat of small and mid-sized businesses; the riskwigamay be unable to continue to experience
revenue growth at historical or anticipated lev#is; risk of unexpected increase in customer clewsls; changes in federal or state regulation
or decisions by regulatory bodies that affect esiquls of economic downturn or unusual volatilitythe capital markets or other negative
macroeconomic conditions that could harm our bissinmcluding our access to capital markets andhtipact on certain of our customers to
meet their payment obligations; the timing of thigiation, progress or cancellation of significaontracts or arrangements; the mix and timing
of services sold in a particular period; our apitit recruit and retain experienced managemenparsbnnel; rapid technological change and
the timing and amount of startup costs incurredannection with the introduction of new servicedhs entrance into new markets; our ability
to maintain or attract sufficient customers in &rig or new markets; our ability to respond to gasing competition; our ability to manage the
growth of our operations; changes in estimatesxaltle income or utilization of deferred tax assdigh could significantly affect our
effective tax rate; pending regulatory action liegto our compliance with customer proprietarywak information; the risk that the
anticipated benefits, growth prospects and synemipected from our acquisitions may not be fudiglized or may take longer to realize than
expected; the possibility that economic benefitBuitiire opportunities in an emerging industry mayer materialize, including unexpected
variations in market growth and demand for the &eguproducts and technologies; delays, disruptioosts and challenges associated with
integrating acquired companies into our existingihess, including changing relationships with comtcs, employees or suppliers;
unfamiliarity with the economic characteristicsnafw geographic markets; ongoing personnel andtlogishallenges of managing a larger
organization; our ability to retain and motivatey keamployees from the acquired companies; extenweits outside of our control, including
extreme weather, natural disasters, pandemicsraorrigt attacks that could adversely affect ougeéamarkets; our ability to implement and
execute successfully our new strategic focus; bilityato expand fiber availability; the extentwehich small and midized businesses contir
to spend on cloud, network and security servicasability to recruit, maintain and grow a salesctofocused exclusively on our technology-
dependent customers; our ability to integrate newdpcts into our existing infrastructure; the eféeaf restructuring activities; the extent to
which our customer mix becomes more technology-déget; our ability to achieve future cost savingated to our capital expenditures and
investment in Ethernet technology; and general egin and business conditions. You are advised nswb any further disclosures we make
on related subjects in the reports we file with $seurities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, imofuthis report in the sections titled “Part
[, Item 1A. Risk Factors” and “Part I, Item 7. Magement'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial @Giordand Results of Operations.” Such
disclosure covers certain risks, uncertaintiesgossibly inaccurate assumptions that could causadaiual results to differ materially from
expected and historical results. We undertake tigatipn to correct or update any forward-lookingtements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.
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ltem 1. Business
OVERVIEW

Cbeyond provides managed information technologyI{d) and communications services to businessé@narily consisting of between
5 and 249 employees in the United States. Ourcesvnclude cloud applications such as Micro8oftcHaxge, data center infrastructure as a
service (or “laaS”), cloud private branch exchame'PBX”") phone systems, Microsaft SQL Serfer ,thdeEthernet, Broadband Internet
Access, Multi-Protocol Label Switching (or “MPLSYirtual Private Networking (or “WPN"), mobile vo&cand data, information security,
local and long distance voice services, adminisinainanagement and professional services to migralenanage customer environments.

All of such services, other than cloud-based ses/murchased outside of an integrated packageégfivered over our secure all-Internet
Protocol (or “IP") network via high capacity contieas, which allows us to control quality of semrimuch better than services delivered over
the best-efforts public Internet. We utilize vasaypes of high-speed connections where availaideeaonomically feasible, such as copper-
based and Fiber Optic Metro Ethernet and Fiberdmtworks, allowing for rapid deployment of nevegucts and services. Our network
allows us to manage quality of service and achi@tevork reliability comparable to that of traditedrcommunications networks.

Cbeyond provides a high-value customer service réxpee tailored and devoted solely to serving smadl mid-sized enterprises. Our
network management and monitoring systems scan thare100,000 network elements making millions ebsurements each day. Our
systems can detect anomalies and facilitate cavesattion, often prior to customer detection. Vileegustomers multiple paths to interact v
us, including on-site sales and support, telephoinat, fax, e-mail and on-line portals. Our reduridzll centers in Denver, CO and Atlanta,
GA are staffed continuously 24 hours a day. Oua denter in Louisville, KY supports our cloud-basedvices and is also staffed 24 hours a
day.

Offerings

Our offerings range from a simple bundle of loaad dong distance voice communications services tittadband Internet access to a
comprehensive offering of discreet IT, network, coumications, mobile services, security and protessiservices.

Communications Offerings

For businesses that desire basic communicationgesy we offer an array of flexible packages dedeby customer needs. We provide
these packages at a competitive fixed monthly\fée believe these services, by virtue of our netvasdhitecture and service management
systems, are delivered with the highest reliabititthe industry.

Other services include voicemail, basic email, iedifmessaging, web hosting, online backup, faxai@ik virus protection, mobile
workforce management, and Virtual Receptionist.

Technology-Dependent Business Offerings
For needs transcending basic communications, vegz af€atalog of technology solutions. These sesviak into three categories:
» Data Center and Clot
* Networking
*  Security
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Our cloud data center laaS includes virtual andsjay servers with Microsoft Hyper-V™ hypervisor magement engine and console.
Additional cloud-based applications include MicrhstSQL, Microsoft® Exchange, Microsagft ASP.Net™ Wibsting, cloud PBX, online
back up and fax-to-email.

During the third quarter of 2011, we began offeringne-time professional service in which we migegsential applications and data
from customers’ on-premise servers to our dataeceiie believe this Remote Migration Service wéldkey differentiator and will positively
influence the adoption and implementation of ooudtbased solutions.

Our networking catalog consists of broadband Irgeatcess, e-commerce and site-to-site enterpagke gnternetworking.

Internet access services range from 1.5 megahitsepend (or “Mbps”) through 100Mbps and are predidia high-performing Time
Division Multiplexing and Metro Ethernet. These relmared access networks with high performance pgearie suitable for critical business
applications such as video conferencing, websitelseacommerce.

For site-to-site enterprise networking, we offertMeEthernet and MPLS networking to any addreghénUnited States. This managed
service includes premise equipment and router famapetitive monthly price. It also features custoroonfigurable class of service so
businesses can transport all voice and data oweunified network, a key driver for adoption ofdlsiervice.

Because we combine network and data center offerimgsinesses experience a higher level of perfaecmasecurity, survivability and
risk management. We are responsible for all asgegdteir outsourced IT implementation. Often, thésults in increased reliability, especially
for remote users, and lower total cost of ownership

Our expanding security portfolio includes virus teion, internet network border security servidgewalls and remote secure VPN
services.

Operations

Cbeyond offers a differentiated value propositioiits customers through superior pre- and posteaatomer service. We believe three
factors are keys to this superiority:

* Our focus on small and nr-sized businesses leads to process and procedwveaitages not achievable by operators serving nhei
market segment:

» Proprietary systems that facilitate rapid servieation, anc
» A culture of service reinforced by a significanteéimal focus on customer satisfaction scc
We continue to put emphasis on customer servieekay cultural differentiator to drive satisfactiand referrals. We define the overall

customer experience across all customer touchaimd the implementation of a cohesive programrmsoie higher retention rates. This focus
has also contributed to continued improvementaimaitomated care and support capabilities.

Sales and Marketing

In our local network markets, our primary marketingchanism is a direct sales force that presesitaglified communications package
sold at a fixed price. This is an acquisition-cientnigh-activity model. The intention is to cowadf target businesses multiple times per year.
This approach enables us to intercept or crea¢s sgiportunities with little to no mass-marketingreach. This strategy has proven successful
in achieving penetration rates as high as onevantfirget businesses.

3
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A more formal, consultative sales and marketingrepgh is used to reach the technology-dependentesgigWe engage these prospects
with a more knowledgeable sales and technical stigbannel using formal funnel management and fipesziles team assignments. During
2011, we began an initiative to realign our resesioy reducing staffing levels in our traditionafmamunications-centric sales force while
expanding new distribution channels focused onreldyy-dependent customers.

Indirect Sales

We supplement our direct sales force with partmdrs leverage pre-existing business relationshilsaah as sales agents. These agents
include value-added resellers, local area networsaltants and other IT and communications constslta

Private Label Resellers

Private Label Resellers (or “PLRs”) use their brand resources to market, sell, invoice and prosiggport for their customers. We
provide cloud infrastructure and services, on-iveb portals for end-user and PLR account administratechnical support and overall
program management. We invoice PLRs at a discountit retail pricing for the services consumedhmsirtend-user customers. PLRs include
value-added resellers, managed services provisigstems integrators and software vendors.

Marketing

Our marketing resources focus on supporting thewtative sales force. The goal is to create algiptesence and establish brand
credibility. This includes advertising, verticalnopaigns, collateral, digital marketing, incentivegents, press relations, analyst engagement,
promotions and events.

Customers

Prior to joining Cbeyond, the majority of our cusiters received basic communications services franmirtumbent local exchange
carriers (or “ILECs™)and frequently had multiple other providers foresthT and communications services. Often they syndid not utilize th
kinds of IT services available through our serpeekages. In most cases, these businesses didcedte the focus and personalized attention
that larger enterprises enjoy and often laggedriaelairger businesses in the adoption of produgtieithancing and cost-effective IT and
communications services.

Our sole focus on small and mid-sized businessesisneo single customer or group of customers reptes significant percentage of
our customer base or revenues. Our largest custeegenents are professional services, which ingilngsicians, legal offices, insurance
services, consulting firms, accounting firms aral estate services. Each of these segments repsdsss than 10% of our customer base.

Markets

We first launched communication services through@ere Managed Services segment in Atlanta in 4801, and have expanded to
metropolitan markets in total, including Dallas,niver, Houston, Chicago, Los Angeles, San Diegotrditethe San Francisco Bay Area,
Miami, Minneapolis, the Greater Washington D.C. @r8eattle and Boston.

We can provide our cloud and MPLS networking prasitic any address in the United States and intemslty. We provide cloud-based
services to customers located in more than 60 desnDuring 2011, less than 1% of our consolidag@nue came from customers based
outside of the United States.
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Infrastructure

We employ a single integrated network, which digii voice communications into IP packets and cga/érem with data services for
transport across the network. Compared to traditioetworks using legacy technologies, our netvetagign requires significantly lower
capital expenditures and operating costs.

The integration of our network with an automatexhfr and back-office system allows us to monitdmoek performance, quickly
provision and offer an online self-service portays reducing expenses while increasing satisfactio

We deliver all of our services over secure IP neks@llowing us to control service quality not amlhable by services delivered over the
“best-effort” public Internet. Our network allows to manage quality of service and achieve reltglibmparable to that of traditional
communications networks. Our network operatingesyssoftware monitors network quality and is capablielentifying potential problems.

Our all-IP network and automated support systenablerus to deliver services typically only avaihb large enterprises or otherwise
too expensive or impractical for small businesseshtain.

Network Evolution

Our largest single monthly expense to date is ¢ af leasing T-1 access circuits from local exgeacarriers to connect customers to
our network. We are able to obtain cost-basedmgibecause we meet certain qualifying criteriatdistaed by the Federal Communications
Commission (or “FCC”) for use of these servicese HCC'’s Triennial Review Remand Order (or “TRRGEuires us to lease T-1 circuits
under special access pricing when serving customemrtain geographical areas within the metrdpolimarkets we serve. See “Government
Regulation.” We also incur costs associated witlettgping and constructing processes and systeagéoadvantage of these wholesale
circuits.

We augment our access networks with Fiber Opticcapgper-based Metro Ethernet with the followingethcharacteristics and
advantages:

» Faster Speeds: Metro Ethernet allows speeds maweg fiaster than T-access circuits going from 1.5Mbps up to 1,0008Mefih the
same levels of quality

» Cost: Metro Ethernet costs less per Mbps th-1 access circuit:
» Supplier Diversity: We source these services frouftiple suppliers allowing for cost arbitrac

We currently serve over 20% of our customers witktid Ethernet and are increasing our capabilibesetve approximately 50% of our
customers with Metro Ethernet by 2014. As of Decengi, 2011, we have incurred $25.8 million in clative capital expenditures associe
with the copper-based Metro Ethernet conversionyhi€h $20.1 million was incurred during 2011. Adxecember 31, 2011 we have
substantially completed the copper-based MetrorB#teustomer conversion project and have shifbedd to our Fiber Optic initiative. We
have begun executing agreements to provide Fibdc @gcess and plan to have active agreementsae ph several markets by December
2013. We expect that upfront costs associated Métro Ethernet conversions will be offset by sigrdaht access cost savings and competitive
advantages over time.

Competition

We broadly compete with companies that could previdth voice and enhanced services to small anesinédi businesses in our
markets.

As a provider of voice services, our primary conitpes are the ILECs: CenturyLink (formerly Qwest)Denver, Minneapolis, and
Seattle; AT&T in Atlanta, Dallas, Detroit, Houstdbhicago, Los Angeles, San Diego,

5
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Miami and the San Francisco Bay Area; and Verizothé Greater Washington D.C. Area and Bostondtitan, we compete with other
competitive local exchange carriers (or “CLECs”emch of our markets. These competitive carrieride XO Communications, Windstream,
Integra Telecom, TelePacific Communications andtiEamk, among many others. Certain of these cortigetcarriers have adopted VolP
technology similar to that employed by us, and waeet others to do so in the future. Based on imé&dion provided by our customers at the
time of activation, approximately 59% of our custasiused an ILEC for local telephone service goaigning with us.

In addition, there are other providers using Vaéhnology, such as Vonage, Skype (a division ofrbioft), deltathree, and 8x8, which
offer service using the public Internet to accéssrtcustomers. We do not currently view these cames as our direct competitors because
they primarily serve the consumer market and bgsiee with fewer than four lines.

Certain cable television companies, such as Comdast, Time Warner Cable and Cablevision, have meffering VolP services to
both consumers and business customers, primardgrpete better against ILECs.

We expect other companies may be formed in thedututake advantage of a VolP-based business migxisting companies may also
expand their focus in the future to target smatl amd-sized business customers. In addition, certgiity companies have begun
experimenting with delivering voice and high-speath services over power lines.

In connection with our BeyondMobile offering, wengpete with national wireless phone companies, sscAT&T, Sprint, T-Mobile
USA and Verizon Wireless, as well as other regiavie¢less providers.

In connection with our clouttased service offerings, we compete with seveaaicckerver and cloud PBX service providers. Widpez:
to cloud server and other hosting services, we etenywith companies such as Rackspace, Hosting Maengsoft, GoDaddy.com, and Amaz
Web Services. In the cloud PBX space we compete idsted PBX providers such as 8x8, Telesphered\Biath.com, Broadvox,
SimpleSignal, and Vocalocity.

Government Regulation

As a company that sells telecommunications senasgsart of a bundle of managed software, our kssiis, in part, subject to the
statutory framework established by federal legistain the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (or “Teden Act”), various state statues and
varying degrees of federal, state and local regulatn contrast to certain other IP-based carrieeshave elected to operate as a common
carrier, rather than representing that we shoudd @iminished regulation based on our use of |IRrelogy. As a common carrier, we are
subject to the jurisdiction of both federal andest@gulatory agencies that have the authoritgwew our prices, terms and conditions of
service. These regulatory agencies exercise mirgorattol over our prices and services, but do irepagious obligations such as reporting,
payment of fees and compliance with consumer ptioteand public safety requirements. Further, weeadso subject to requirements place:
“interconnected VolP providers” in addition to tfegjuirements we are subject to as a common carrier.

We operate as a facilities-based carrier and hes@vred all necessary state and federal authaimato do so. Unlike resale carriers, we
do not rely upon access to the switching facilited_ECs such as AT&T or Verizon. As a facilitiéssed carrier, we have undertaken a va
of regulatory obligations, including providing assdo emergency 911 systems, permitting law enfioece officials access to our network
upon proper authorization, contributing to the afghe FCC'’s (and, where applicable, state) usiakeservice programs and making our
services accessible to persons with disabilities.

By operating as a common carrier, we also bergiihfcertain legal rights established by federaslagjon, especially the Telecom Act,
which gives us and other common carrier competiivigants the right to interconnect to the ILEGstworks and to access elements of their
networks on an unbundled basis. These
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rights are not available to providers who do natrape as common carriers. We have used these t@gtsn interconnections with ILECs in
each metropolitan market where we provide seruitkta purchase selected unbundled network elenfentt NEs”) at prices based on
incremental cost, that provide us with dependatitgh-quality digital access to our customers’ pigsiwhich we use to provide them with a
bundle of management software services.

The United States Congress, (or “Congress8,FCC, and state regulators are consideringiatyaf issues that may result in change
the statutory and regulatory environment in whighaperate our business. While federal legislatian tould affect our business operations or
costs is always a possibility, we believe it isikelly that any such negative legislation will besped by Congress in 2012. We also believe the
FCC is unlikely to adopt rules that extinguish basic right or ability to compete in the telecomigations markets and that any rule changes
that affect us will likely be accompanied by traiwsi periods sufficient to allow us to adjust ousmess practices accordingly. Some of the
changes under consideration by Congress, the R@Cstate regulators could affect our competitoffedintly than they affect us.

Regulatory Framework

Although we have begun providing service to out@uers using Ethernet technology over copper ledgsout heavy reliance on ILEC-
provided electronics and, to a lesser extent, Riygic connections that are not at all dependentN&s, our business continues to rely hea
on the use of T-1 UNE loops and enhanced exteridksl that include T-1 loop components for accesaigiomer premises. Our existing
strategy is based on FCC rules that require ILEGsdvide us UNEs at wholesale prices based oreinental costs in all wire centers except
those with the densest concentration of loops sgrbusiness customers. This exception affectsribe we pay to obtain access tdlTeops ir
some of the central business districts we serves@ules that currently govern our access to bdttand copper loop UNEs may change due
to future FCC decisions or acts of Congress, andneainable to predict how such future developmeraig affect our business. We are,
however, taking steps to minimize our relianceldaC facilities both to limit our exposure shouldi@nt regulations change and to provide
higher bandwidth services to our customers.

The Telecom Act

The Telecom Act, which substantially revised thenBmunications Act of 1934, established the regujapweconditions to allow
companies like us to compete for the provisiorool communications services. We have developetbasiness, including our decision to
operate as a common carrier, and designed andreotest our networks to take advantage of the feataf the Telecom Act that require
cooperation from the ILECs. There have been nunseattempts to revise or eliminate the basic frantkeiar competition in the local
exchange services market through a combinatiorda#rl legislation, new FCC rules and challengexisting and proposed regulations by
the ILECs. We anticipate that Congress will consaleange of proposals to modify the Telecom Actrdhe next few years, including some
proposals that could restrict or eliminate our asde elements of the ILECs’ networks. However caesider it unlikely that Congress would
reverse the fundamental policy of encouraging cditipe in communications markets.

Congress may also consider legislation that wodtttess the impact of the Internet on the Telecomn ®ach legislation could seek to
clarify the regulations applicable to VolP and Intet access service providers. We believe that giblation is unlikely to result in the
imposition of new regulatory obligations on ushaligh it is possible that it will eliminate certaggulatory obligations that apply to us bec:
of our status as a common carrier.

Federal Regulation

The FCC regulates interstate and international comeations services in the United States, inclugiogess to local communications
networks for the origination and termination ofg¢beservices. We provide
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interstate and international services on a comnaores basis. The FCC has authorized the provigfaomestic interstate communications
services by rule but requires all common carrierskitain an authorization to construct and opdraggnational communications facilities and
to provide or resell communications services betwbe United States and international points. Weslscured authority from the FCC for
installation, acquisition and operation of our Wire network facilities to provide facilities-basadernational services.

Unlike ILECs, our retail services are not currersiypject to price cap or rate of return regulatidte. are therefore free to set our own
prices for end-user services subject only to theega federal guidelines that our charges for sitde and international services be just,
reasonable and non-discriminatory. We have fileiffsavith the FCC containing interstate rates warge to long distance carriers for access
to our network, also called interstate access @sarfghe rates we can charge for interstate aceelise our end user services, are limited by
FCC rules. We are also required to file periodjmorgs, to pay regulatory fees based on our intersevenues and to comply with FCC
regulations concerning the content and format ofldlis, the process for changing a customer’s stibed carrier and other consumer
protection matters. The FCC has the authority foose monetary forfeitures and to condition or revalcarrier’s operating authority for
violations of these requirements. Our operatingscaee increased by the need to assure compliaitic¢h&se regulatory obligations.

As a key part of its regulatory mandate, and ipoese to petitions filed by ILECs and others, tlECFconstantly reviews the regulations
it administers. These proceedings could eventinlye some impact on our ability to buy UNEs in onenore markets we serve or wish to
serve, the prices we pay for UNEs, the prices wefpaspecial access facilities, inter-carrier camgation rates, interconnection rules,
Universal Service Fund (or “USF”) rates and oth#es and regulations that impact our business. \Weitor these proceedings closely and are
active participants in those that could have thstrimapact on us, whether positive or negative. \Afnot predict the outcome of these
proceedings or new proceedings that may be initiate

The FCC recently made significant changes to tHertld USF and inter-carrier compensation regimesi@nonsidering making
additional reforms. These changes may affect the ¥ee are required to pay to the USF, but sincawdeour competitors generally pass these
fees through to customers, we expect any chandesvi® minimal competitive effect. Similarly, altrghuthe FCC recently ordered significant
reductions in the default rates for terminatingistate and intrastate telecommunications traffeedo not expect these changes in inter-carrier
compensation rules to have a material effect dmeggsuse we derive the vast majority of our reveuirestly from our customers rather than
from other carriers. Reciprocal compensation fanteation of local calls is not a significant soeiraf revenue, and we derive relatively little
revenue from access charges for origination amditettion of long-distance calls over our networlevirtheless, the inter-carrier
compensation regime is in a state of transitiomplement the long term reforms adopted by the F&@, it is impossible to foresee all
potential outcomes, whether temporary or permarggthter of the transition or ultimate state of ther-carrier compensation system. For
example, it is possible, and we cannot predict,tirrelocal telephone companies that rely more tgawi inter-carrier compensation revenues
may seek to recoup lost access revenue by raisingit service rates or other rates associatedthatiswitching and transport of
telecommunications traffic.

We expect that nationwide access to T-1 and voiadegcopper loops serving current and new custéooations will continue to be
available to us regardless of future changes ifF€ rules, although not necessarily at curremtegtiAll ILECs are required, independent of
the UNE rules, to offer us some form of T-1 loopl @aransport services as well as copper loops withesociated electronics. It is possible that
the FCC will establish rates for some of theseisesvat levels that are comparable to current UMNES; or that we may be able to negotiate
reasonable prices for these services through comah@egotiations with ILECs. However, we cannaiypde assurance that either of these
possibilities will occur. If all other options weummavailable, we would be required to pay spediaéas rates for these services. These rates are
substantially higher than the rates we pay for UNEs
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State Regulation

State agencies exercise jurisdiction over intragiecommunications services, including localgktme service and in-state toll calls. To
date, we are authorized to provide intrastate ltedaphone, long distance telephone and operateices in California, Colorado, Florida,
Georgia, lllinois, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigklinnesota, Texas, Virginia, Washington, andBiigtrict of Columbia, as well as in oth
states where we are not yet operational. As a tiondb providing intrastate telecommunications/g=s, we are required, among other things,
to:

» file and maintain intrastate tariffs or price ligisscribing the rates, terms and conditions ofseavices
» comply with state regulatory reporting, tax and dédligations, including contributions to intrastatgversal service funds; ai

» comply with, and to submit to, state regulatorygdiction over consumer protection policies (inéhgdregulations governing
customer privacy, changing of service providers ematent of customer bills), complaints, transfgrsontrol and certain financing
transactions

Generally, state regulatory authorities can coadjtmodify, cancel, terminate or revoke certifisadé authority to operate in a state for
failure to comply with state laws or the rules,utegions and policies of the state regulatory arthoFines and other penalties may also be
imposed for such violations. As we expand our ojana, we identify and evaluate the requiremenésig to each individual state to ensure
compliance with the rules and regulations of thates

In addition, states are required under the Tele8otio approve agreements for the interconnectfadelecommunications carriers’
facilities with those of the ILEC, to arbitrate pliges arising in negotiations for interconnectiad o interpret and enforce interconnection
agreements. In exercising this authority, the statay ultimately determine the rates, terms andlitions under which we can obtain access to
the loop and transport UNEs that are required tava@able under the FCC rules. The states mayxaemie these rates, terms and conditions
from time to time.

State governments and their regulatory authonitiag also assert jurisdiction over the provisioindfastate [P communications services
where they believe that their authority is broadweggh to cover regulation of IP-based services. daristate regulatory authorities have
initiated proceedings to examine the regulatorustaf IP-based services, and some have chosegtitate such services. Unlike some other
IP-based providers, we already operate as a regludatrrier subject to state regulation, rules &ed fand, therefore, we do not expect that our
business will be materially affected by these pedliegs. The FCC'’s ongoing proceedings on VolP apeeted to address, among other issues,
the appropriate role of state governments in tgelegion of these services.

Local Regulation

In certain locations, we are required to obtairaldanchises, licenses or other operating rights street opening and construction
permits to install, expand and operate our telecanications facilities along the public rights-ofyvadn some of the areas where we provide
services, we pay license or franchise fees basedpamcentage of gross revenues. Cities that dourcgntly impose fees might seek to impose
them in the future, and after the expiration ofsérg franchises, fees could increase. Under thecden Act, state and local governments retain
the right to manage the public rights-of-way andeguire fair and reasonable compensation froncoatenunications providers, on a
competitively neutral and non-discriminatory bagisrecover the costs associated with governmemtisagement of the public rights-of-way.
These activities must be consistent with the Tefeéat and may not have the effect of prohibitingfngsn providing telecommunications
services in any particular local jurisdiction. ler@in circumstances, we may be subject to loea &ssociated with construction and operation
of telecommunications facilities along the publghts-ofway. To the extent these fees are required, we owith applicable requirements
collect and remit the fees.
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History

We incorporated in March 2000 as Egility Commuriarad, Inc. and changed our name in April 2000 teyeind Communications, Inc.
In November 2002, we recapitalized by merging timétéd liability company that served as our holdogmpany into Cbeyond
Communications, Inc., the surviving entity in thenger. In July 2006, we changed our name from Chéyoommunications, Inc. to Cbeyond,
Inc. Cbeyond, Inc. now serves as a holding companalydirectly owns all of the equity interests of operating company, Cbeyond
Communications, LLC. In October 2010, Cbeyond Comications, LLC acquired 100% of the common stoclkuadtta Communications, Inc
and in December 2011, we merged Aretta Communitgtimc. into Cbeyond Communications, LLC, the sung entity in the merger.

Intellectual Property

We currently do not own any patent registratiopgliaations, or licenses, but have applicationsdpgnfor two patents. We maintain &
protect trade secrets, know-how and other propgietdormation regarding many of our business psses and related systems. We also hold
several federal trademark registrations, including:

e Cbeyonce;

* BeyondVoice;

* BeyondOffice®;

» BeyondMobile®;

» The last communications company a small busindsswer neec®; and
» Cbeyond Logc

Employees

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had 1,928 antitlefhployees, respectively. None of our employeesepresented by labor
unions. We believe employee relations are genegaibd.

Where You Can Find More Information

Our website addresssvw.cbeyond.nethe information contained on, or that may be ac#isrough, our website is not part of this
annual report. You may obtain free electronic cemitour annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterlyorepon Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports aimvestor relations website,cbeyond.net/index.cfrander the heading “SEC Filings” or
on the SEC’s website atww.sec.gov We will also furnish a paper copy of such filifgse of charge upon request. Investors can akst aed
copy any materials filed by us with the SEC at$##C’s Public Reference Room, which is located &tA®treet, NE, Washington, DC 20549.
Information about the operation of the Public Refese Room can be obtained by calling the SEC &0tSEC-0330. These reports are
available on our investor relations website as smreasonably practicable after we electroniddéythem with the SEC. You can also find
our Code of Ethics on our website under the heatfdugporate Governance” or by requesting a copynfics.
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Iltem 1A.  Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Business
Our growth and financial health are subject to a mber of economic risks.

As widely reported, the financial markets in theitdd States have experienced significant disrugtiarecent years, including, among
other things, extreme volatility in security pricesverely diminished liquidity and credit availdj rating downgrades of certain investments
and declining valuations of others. If the capétatl credit markets experience further volatility éimited availability of funds remains limite
our ability to access the capital and credit markeay be limited by these conditions or other feectd a time when we would like, or need, to
do so. This could have an impact on our abilityetact to changing economic and business condititddle currently these conditions have
impaired our ability to access credit markets andrfce our operations, there can be no assuraatthtire will not be a further deterioration in
financial markets and confidence in major economies

We attempt to monitor the financial health of sfgaint vendors because economic conditions mayaasersely affect the ability of
third-party vendors important to our operationsdatinue as going concerns. If such vendors wefailtove may not be able to replace them
without disruptions to, or deterioration of, oungee and we may incur higher costs associated thigmew vendors. Transitioning to new
vendors may also result in the loss of the valuasskts associated with our integration of thindypservices into our network or service
offering.

The depth and duration of economic downturns orsthall and mid-sized business sector may also eethecsize and viability of our
target market of small and mid-sized businessesicpkarly in geographic areas where the economigacts are more severe. We are unable to
predict the timing, likely duration or severity @onomic downturns on the small business sectdchwhay in turn limit the formation of sm
business customers.

The success of our growth and expansion plans dapen a number of factors that are beyond our coritro

We have thus far grown our business by increasiagitimber of customers in existing markets, ergergw geographical markets, and
selling additional services to existing customé&ye. do not plan to open additional geographic markethe near term and we expect future
revenue growth will come by selling more compled amnofitable services, including clodzised services, to new and existing customersa
mix of access models including UNE T-1s, Ethereetises provided over UNE copper loops, fiber sggiprovided via long-term leases with
various fiber providers, and other fiber connedifnom various wholesale providers. There is naanize we will be able to maintain our
growth or that we will choose to target the sameepaf market growth in the future. Our successchieving continued growth depends upon
several factors including:

» the availability and retention of qualified andezffive personnel with the expertise required tbase operate effectively or
successfully

» the overall economic health of existing marketsmoall businesses in gener

» the number and effectiveness of competit

» the pricing structure under which we will be aldeobtain circuits and purchase other services reduo serve our custome
» the availability to us of technologies needed toaa competitive

» our ability to establish relationships and workeeffvely with the local telephone companies forphevision of access lines to
customers; an

» Federal and state regulatory conditions, includirigs that burden our business and therefore iserear costs, and regulatc
requirements imposed on incumbent providers froritwitve derive significant benefit

11
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Acquisitions and joint ventures may have an adveestct on our busines:

We may continue making acquisitions or entering joint ventures as part of our long-term busirstsstegy. These transactions involve
significant challenges and risks including that tife@saction does not advance our business stretegywe do not realize a satisfactory return
on our investment; or that we experience difficuttyhe integration of new employees, businesssyst and technology; or diversion of
management’s attention from our other businesdessd events could harm our operating results anéiial condition.

We may not be able to continue to grow our custorbase.

Future growth in our existing markets may be maffécdlt than our growth has been to date due tyéased or more effective
competition in the future; difficulties in scaliryir business systems and processes; or difficuftiegintaining sufficient numbers of qualified
market management personnel, sales personnel atileglintegrated access device installation seryiroviders to obtain and support
additional customers.

The fixed pricing structure for our integrated paelges makes us vulnerable to price increases bysuppliers for network equipment and
access fees for circuits that we lease to gain asd® our customers.

We offer a majority of our customers an integrgiadkage at a fixed price for one, two or three gelfiwve experience an increase in our
costs due to price increases from our suppliersd@es or thirdparty carriers, new or changed regulation, or iases in access fees, installa
fees, interconnection fees payable to local telaptemmpanies or other fees, we may not be ablads fhese increases on to our customers
immediately, and this could materially harm ourutessof operations.

We face intense competition from other service pdars that have significantly greater resources theve do. Several of these competitors
are better positioned to engage in competitive prig which may impede our ability to implement obusiness model of attracting custome
away from such providers.

The market we compete in is highly competitive. ¥depete, and expect to continue to compete, withyntygpes of service providers,
including traditional local telephone companies aallle companies. We also face competition fromilaaervice providers. In the future, we
may also face increased competition from new ViodBed service providers or other managed servinadars with similar business models
our own. Our current or future competitors may [levservices comparable or superior to those peavity us, or at lower prices, or adapt
more quickly to evolving industry trends or charggmarket requirements.

A substantial majority of our target customersexisting small and mid-sized businesses that aeady purchasing services from one or
more of these providers. The success of our opasts in part dependent on our ability to persuthdse small businesses to leave their cL
providers. Many of these providers have competitisteantages over us, including substantially grdatancial, personnel and other resour
better access to capital, brand name recognitiddarg-standing relationships with customers. Theseurces may place us at a competitive
disadvantage. Because of their greater financ&ueses, some of our competitors can also betirdato reduce prices for their services and
engage in aggressive promotional activities. Sactids could have a negative impact on our busifemsexample, some of our competitors
have adopted pricing plans that are similar to (arebme cases lower than) the rates that we cHargémilar services. In addition, other
providers are offering unlimited or nearly unlindtase of some of their services for an attractieatinly rate. Any of the foregoing factors
could require us to cause us to lose customengrtivefr reduce our prices to remain competitiveyltez®y in continued decreases in average
monthly revenue per customer location.

12
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Improvements in quality of service of VoIP technalp provided over the public Internet could increasempetition.

We believe we generally do not compete with Vol®viters who use the public Internet to transmit mamications traffic, as these
providers generally do not provide the level andliy of service typically demanded by the businasstomers we serve. However, future
advances in VolP technology may enable these peovith offer an improved level and quality of seevover the public Internet to business
customers and with lower costs than using a primateork. This development could result in increbgace competition and may affect our
business, results of operations and financial ¢amrdi

Continued industry consolidation could further stngthen our competitors, and we could lose customaréace adverse changes in
regulation.

In the past several years, the communication imgiists undergone a significant amount of consatidator example: Verizon merged
with MCI; SBC merged with AT&T; AT&T and BellSoutimerged; Comcast acquired a CLEC based in the Midaretsa nationwide
wholesale provider of hosted VolIP services; Wiretstn acquired Nuvox, a privately held CLEC and cditgge and CenturyLink acquired
Qwest. The increased size and market power of tt@spanies may have adverse consequences fordusttear large mergers may create
larger and more efficient competitors. These coitgrstcould focus their large resources on regagisimare in the small and m#ized busines
sector, and we could lose customers or not groraigly. Furthermore, these companies could use giheater resources to lobby effectively
for changes in federal or state regulation thatccbave an adverse effect on our cost structumoright to use access circuits that they are
currently required to make available to us. Thdsmges could have a harmful effect on our futurarfcial results.

We are susceptible to business and political riflksn our use of international third-party resourcethat could result in delays in the
development or maintenance of operational supporstems and business processes.

A portion of our IT development is performed byrthparties with offshore resources. There are iaierisks in engaging offshore
resources including difficulties in complying wighwvariety of foreign laws, unexpected changes guilegory requirements, fluctuations in
currency exchange rates, difficulties in staffimglananaging foreign operations, changes in polibc@conomic conditions and potentially
adverse tax consequences. To the extent that wetdoanage our international third-party vendoxceasfully, our business could be
adversely affected.

Our operational support systems and business preesanay not be adequate to effectively manage oowth.

Our continued success depends on the scalabilbyo$ystems and processes. As of December 31, B0h# of our individual market
operations has supported levels of customers uiedia in excess of 11,000, and our centralizestemns and processes have not supported
more than approximately 65,000 customer locatigvis.cannot be certain that our systems and processeslequate to support ongoing
growth in customers. In addition, our growing magtagervices profile, including our mobile servicgdeud services and associated new
applications, may create operating inefficiencied gesult in service problems if we are unsuccésfiully integrating such newer services
into our existing operations. Failure to managefature growth effectively could harm our qualitfyservice and customer relationships, wt
could increase our customer churn, result in higiperating costs, write-offs or other accountingrgles and otherwise materially harm our
financial condition and results of operations.
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We depend on local telephone companies for theahation and maintenance of our customers’ T-1 oextain other access lines and other
network elements and facilities.

A significant majority of our customers’ T-1 or ethaccess lines are installed and maintained kst tetephone companies in each of our
markets. If the local telephone company does ndope the installation properly or in a timely mamnour customers could experience
disruption in service and delays in obtaining emvies. Since inception, we have experiencedmeutelays in the installation of T-1 lines by
the local telephone companies to our customerag¢h ef our markets, although these delays havgetgesulted in any material impact to our
ability to compete and add customers in our marléety delays or work stoppage action by employddeaal telephone companies on which
we rely to provide services to us could resultubstantial delays in activating new customers’diaad could materially harm our operations.
Although local telephone companies may be requgahy fines and penalties to us for failures tvpe us with these installation and
maintenance services according to prescribed titegvials, the negative impact on our business df ailures could substantially exceed the
amount of any such cash payments. Furthermorerevalso dependent on traditional local telephomepamies for access to their collocation
facilities, and we utilize certain of their netwaglements. These companies are required to praddess to UNEs and collocations under
federal law, but it is possible that they couldussf to comply with their obligations or engage étegt tactics that could negatively affect our
ability to compete. In addition, failure of thederaents or damage to a local telephone comatyliocation facility could cause disruptions
our service.

We depend on third-party providers who install oategrated access devices at customer locationsnwst maintain relationships with
efficient installation service providers in our cuent cities and identify similar providers as wetennew markets in order to maintain
quality in our operations.

The installation of integrated access devices stiotner locations is an essential step that enalllesustomers to obtain our service. We
outsource the installation of integrated accesscdswto a number of different installation vendioreach market. We must ensure that these
vendors adhere to the timelines and quality thategeire to provide our customers with a positivetallation experience. In addition, we must
obtain these installation services at reasonalidegrlf we are unable to continue maintaining ffigent number of installation vendors in our
markets who provide high quality service at reabtmarices to us, we may have to use our own enggi®yo perform installations of
integrated access devices. We may not be able nagessuch installations effectively using our owrpeyees with the quality we desire and
at reasonable costs.

Some of our services are dependent on facilitiesl aystems maintained by or equipment manufacturgdiird parties over which we hav
no control, the failure of which could cause intauptions or discontinuation of some of our servicelamage our reputation, cause us to lc
customers or limit our growth.

We provide some of our existing services, sucteasre desktop, by reselling to our customers sesvicovided by third parties. We a
offer mobile options integrated with our existirgngces by reselling mobile services provided byestablished national third-party mobile
carrier and reselling mobile equipment manufactimgthird parties. We do not have control overrikvorks and other systems maintained
by these third parties or their equipment manufaeguprocesses, facilities or supply chains. If third-party providers fail to maintain their
facilities properly or fail to respond quickly tetwork or other problems, our customers may expeéenterruptions in the service they obtain
from us or we may not be able to supply the needekile equipment. Any service interruptions expeeed by our customers could negativ
impact our reputation, cause us to lose custometdimit our ability to attract new customers.

14



Table of Contents

Some of the services we provide are regulated leyREC, state public service commissions and loegulating governmental bodie
Changes in regulation could increase our costs ebpiding service or require us to change our serssc

We operate in a highly regulated industry and algest to regulation by telecommunications autlhesiat the federal, state and local
levels. Changes in regulatory policy could incretheefees we must pay to third parties, make aereguired inputs for our network less
readily available to us or subject us to requiretsiéimat could increase our operating costs.

The T-1 and voice-grade copper loop connectionproeide to our customers are leased primarily faamcompetitors, the local
telephone companies. The rules of the FCC, adaptddr the Telecom Act, generally entitle us todetii®se connections at wholesale prices
based on incremental costs. It is possible, thauglhelieve unlikely, that Congress will pass legtisin in the future that will diminish or
eliminate our right to lease such connections giileged rates.

Our rights of access to the facilities of locakfione companies may also change as a resultuoé fteggulatory decisions, including
forbearance petitions by ILECs that currently pdevus with access to collocation and UNEs, as agetiourt decisions. To date, no forbear.
petitions have been granted that have had any ingmacur operations and none are pending. Thigdechdnge, however, and there is the
possibility that future forbearance grants or ottegulatory rulings could limit our various rightader the Telecom Act.

Although we expect that we will continue to be atol®btain T-1 and other copper loop connection®to customers, we may not be
able to do so at current prices. State regulatomyraissions periodically review and establish pgdiar the majority of the T-1 and other
copper loop connections we use. State commissioisidas are subject to appeal. If our right to @bthese connections at regulated prices
based on incremental costs is further impairedwlleneed to either negotiate new commercial areangnts with the local telephone
companies to obtain the connections, perhaps avardble rates and conditions, or obtain other me#&providing connections to our
customers, which may be expensive and require@tioreframe to implement. These actions may casde exit affected markets and
decrease our customer base and revenues.

The FCC is also considering changing its rulecédculating incremental cost-based rates, whichdcmsult in either increases or
decreases in our cost to lease these facilitigmif8iant increases in wholesale prices, especfaliyhe loop element we use most extensively,
could materially harm our business.

Under the FCC's rules, we are required to contelaupercentage of revenue generated from intestaténternational
telecommunications services (and VolP servicef)édederal USF. Current FCC rules permit us te plais contribution amount on to our
customers. The FCC has adopted a number of refaritss USF mechanisms and currently is considesthgrs. It is possible that the reforms
adopted could increase our overall contributionigattions—for example, by expanding the scope ofégeilatory regime to cover broadband
Internet access services and/or limiting our gbilit pass these costs through to our customerthélextent the FCC adopts new contribution
requirements expand the base of services subjecntoibution requirements or otherwise imposestamal contribution obligations, such
requirements and obligations may increase the egsiacur to comply with such regulations.

We also must comply with the Communications Assistafor Law Enforcement Act of 1994 (or “CALEA”) wdh requires
communications carriers to ensure that their eqaignfacilities and services can accommodate cergghnical capabilities in executing
authorized wiretapping and other electronic sulzede. We believe that we have deployed a CALEAmtant solution throughout our
network. However, we could be subject to an enfoieat action by the FCC or law enforcement agerfoieany delays related to meeting, ¢
we fail to comply with, any obligations under CALE#r similarly mandated law enforcement-relatedgatilons. Such enforcement actions
could subject us to fines, cease and desist ordergher penalties, all of which could adversdfget our business. Further, to the extent the
FCC adopts additional capability requirements aghlie to voice and data service providers, itssi@cimay increase the costs we incur to
comply with such regulations.
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We are required to bill taxes, fees, and other amtsito our customers on behalf of government emiiti Determining the services on which
such amounts should be assessed and how to caleula proper amounts can be complex and may invgldgment that an assessir
entity may disagree with, exposing us to the potitjbof material liabilities for amounts we did niobill to our customers, including interest
and penalties.

We are required to bill taxes, fees and other ans{aollectively referred to as “taxes”) on behaligovernment entities on some of the
services we provide to our customers. These ediitidude governments and governmental authowtidise county, city, state and federal le
(or “taxing authorities”). Each taxing authority ynkave one or more taxes with unique rules as towervices are subject to each tax and
how those services should be taxed. While somestgpeaxes may be similar among taxing authorities,rules and applicable rates are often
unigue and change from time to time. Determiningcivitaxing authorities have jurisdiction for a arser, which taxes are applicable, and
how the specific rules should be applied often imee exercising judgment and making estimation® f&ture of this process creates a risk of
non-compliance, such as subjecting a customeretavtong taxing authorities. Other risks that repnedigher exposure to us include
interpreting rules in a manner that may differ frtma taxing authority, resulting in one or moretlod following outcomes: we may not charge
for a tax that we may be liable for, we may chdmgea tax at a rate that is lower than what we ipajiable for, or we may apply the correct
rate using a methodology that differs from the aafille taxing authority’s methodology. Because eleéraany of our services on a bundled
basis and assess different taxes on the indivichrabonents included within the bundle, there is alsisk that a taxing authority could
disagree with the taxable value of a component.

Taxing authorities can perform audits for any peido periods still open for review under the apgiile statute. These statutes typically
provide that periods remain open for three to faars. If we were found to be improperly assestirgs and were assessed for multiple years
of under-billing our customers we could be subjeatignificant assessments of past taxes, finesrdacest, which could materially harm our
financial condition.

Adverse decisions or regulations of these taxirthaities could negatively impact our operationd ansts of doing business. We are
unable to predict the scope, pace or financial chpéregulations and other policy changes thatdcbe adopted by the various governmental
entities that oversee portions of our business.

The FCC is reexamining its policies towards VolP ételecommunications in general. New or existinggrdation could subject us to
additional fees or increase the competition we face

We currently operate as a regulated common cawigich subjects us to a number of regulatory olige. The FCC adopted rules
applicable to “interconnected VoIP providers,” lidtas not determined whether to classify intere@med VolP providers as common carriers.
The rules applicable to interconnected VolP prorddequire them to provide access to emergencys@fvices for all customers that are
comparable to the 911 services provided by traufiicelephone networks, to implement certain cdjigisi for the monitoring of
communications by law enforcement agencies purdoaasubpoena or court order and to contributbeédederal universal service fund,
among other requirements. As a common carrier,wmeently comply with the 911 requirements, complyhvthe law enforcement assistance
requirements applicable to traditional telecommations carriers and contribute to the federal Usiel, we also comply with the additional
duties imposed on interconnected VolP providerg FEC continues to examine its policies towardgises provided over IP networks, such
as our VolP technology and broadband Internet acemwices, and the results of these proceedingd acapose additional obligations, fees or
limitations on us.

Regulatory decisions may also affect the levelahpetition we face. Reduced regulation of retaivises offered by local telephone
companies could increase the competitive advanthgss companies enjoy, cause us to lower ouriicerder to remain competitive or
otherwise make it more difficult for us to attractd retain customers.
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Our customer churn rate may increase.

Customer churn occurs when a customer discontiseléce with us, whether voluntary or involuntasych as a customer going out of
business or switching to a competitor. Changekeénetonomy, increased competition from other pengdor issues with the quality of service
we deliver can impact our customer churn rate. Afeot predict future pricing by our competitorst e anticipate that price competition v
continue. Lower prices offered by our competitarald contribute to an increase in customer chuighétr customer churn rates could
adversely impact our revenue growth. A sustainetisignificant growth in the churn rate could haveaterial adverse effect on our business.

We obtain the majority of our network equipment asdftware from a limited number of thirgharty suppliers. Our success depends upor
quality, availability and price of these supplieraetwork equipment and software.

We obtain the majority of our network equipment aoftware from a limited number of third-party slipgs. In addition, we rely on
these suppliers for technical support and assistakithough we believe that we maintain good relahips with these suppliers, if any of tr
were to terminate our relationship or were to cemaaking the equipment and software we use, ouityabil efficiently maintain, upgrade or
expand our network could be impaired. Although wbdve that we would be able to address our futgrapment needs with equipment
obtained from other suppliers, we cannot assuttestizh equipment would be compatible with our neknweithout significant modifications or
cost, if at all. If we were unable to obtain theligegnent necessary to maintain our network, ouitghi attract and retain customers and
provide our services would be impaired. In additioar success depends in part on our obtainingarktequipment and software at affordable
prices. Significant increases in the price of theselucts would harm our financial results and rimayease our capital requirements.

We depend on third-party vendors for informationsggms. If these vendors discontinue support for Hystems we use or fail to maintain
quality in future software releases, we could incsubstantial unplanned costs to switch or upgrade gystems or equipment, and we could
sustain a negative impact on the quality of our s&es to customers, the development of new sendcekfeatures and the quality ¢
information needed to manage our business.

We have entered into agreements with vendors tioaige for the development and operation of badicefsystems, such as ordering,
provisioning and billing systems. We also rely @mslors to provide the systems for monitoring thégpmance and condition of our network.
The failure of those vendors to perform their segsiin a timely and effective manner at acceptets could materially harm our growth and
our ability to monitor costs, bill customers andrigas, provision customer orders, maintain thevogk and achieve operating efficiencies.
Such a failure could also negatively impact ouligttio retain existing customers or to attract newgtomers.

We use software technology developed internally &ydhird-party vendors, and hardware technologye&ped by third-party vendors. We
or any of these vendors could be the subject chaduit alleging a violation of the intellectual ppeerty of third parties.

We have created software systems, purchased seffrean third-party vendors and purchased hardwama third-party vendors. Our
contracts with these vendors provide indemnifiegatmus should any entity allege that we are viigpits intellectual property. Should an
entity bring suit or otherwise pursue intellectpedperty claims against us based on its own tedgyobr the technology of thirgarty vendors
the result of those claims could be to raise ostor deny us access to technology currently sacgs$o our network or software systems.
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If we are unable to generate the cash that we néeg@ursue our business plan, we may have to raidditional capital on terms unfavorabl
to our stockholders.

The actual amount of capital required to fund querations and development may vary materially foamestimates. If our operations
fail to generate the cash that we expect, we mag tmseek additional capital to fund our businésse are required to obtain additional
funding in the future, we may have to sell asssek debt financing or obtain additional equityitzdpln addition, the terms of our secured
revolving line of credit (or “Credit Facility”) wit Bank of America subjects us to restrictive coveadimiting our flexibility in planning for, or
reacting to changes in, our business, and any attlebtedness we incur in the future is likelyrtolude similar covenants. If we do not com
with such covenants, our lenders could acceleegtayment of our debt or restrict our access ttéurborrowings. If we raise funds by selling
more stock, our stockholders’ ownership in us bdldiluted, and we may grant future investors sgluperior to those of the common
stockholders. If we are unable to obtain additiaragdital when needed, we may have to delay, madihbandon some of our expansion plans.
This could slow our growth, negatively affect obiliy to compete in our industry and adverselyeatfour financial condition.

If we cannot negotiate new (or extensions of exigf) interconnection agreements with local telephooempanies on acceptable terms, it
be more difficult and costly for us to provide sé® to our existing customers or to expand our bess.

We have agreements for the interconnection of etwork with the networks of the local telephone pamies covering each market in
which we operate. These agreements also provideatmework for service to our customers when otbeal carriers are involved. We will be
required to negotiate new interconnection agreesnenénter new markets in the future. In additise,will need to negotiate extension or
replacement agreements as our existing intercolmmeagreements expire. Most of our interconnecéigreements have terms of three years,
although the parties may mutually decide to ex@@namend the terms of such agreements. If we caregiitiate new interconnection
agreements or extend or renew our existing interection agreements on favorable terms or at alinag invoke binding arbitration by state
regulatory agencies. The arbitration process igegipe and time-consuming, and the results ofratimn may be unfavorable to us. If we are
unable to obtain favorable interconnection termsf .ECs are relieved of their obligations to@éntonnect with us, it would harm our existing
operations and opportunities to grow our businessir markets.

The cloud-based computing model presents execusind competitive risks.

We are transitioning to a computing environmentrabierized by cloud-based services used with saliartt devices. Our competitors
are rapidly developing and deploying cloud-basedises for consumers and business customers. Brigid delivery models are evolving.
Devices and form factors influence how users acsessces in the cloud. We are devoting signifia@sburces to develop and deploy our own
competing cloud-based software plus services gfiegeWhile we believe our expertise, investmemtsfrastructure, and the breadth of our
cloud-based services provides us with a strongdation to compete, it is uncertain whether ourtsgigs or technologies will attract the users
or generate the revenue required to be successfadldition to software development costs, we aceiiring costs to build and maintain
infrastructure to support cloud-based servicess&lmsts may reduce the operating margins we hravepsly achieved. Whether we are
successful in this new business model depends oex@geution in a number of areas, including:

e continuing to innovate and bring to market compegliclouc-based experiences that generate increasing teaffianarket shart

* maintaining the utility, compatibility and performee of our clou-based services on the growing array of computirvicds,
including smartphones, handheld computers, neth@oidtablets; an

» continuing to enhance the attractiveness of ouwrctjgatforms to thir-party developer:
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We have an MVNO agreement with a nationwide wiredegtwork provider. If we cannot negotiate extenssoof this agreement on
acceptable terms, it will be more difficult and dbfysfor us to provide mobile services to our exiggicustomers or to expand our business.

We provide mobile services to our customers undeohile virtual network operator (or “MVNQO”), agreent with a nationwide
wireless network provider. Upon or before expimatid the current contract term in 2013, we will dée renew this agreement or enter an
agreement with another provider. In addition, w# méed to negotiate amendments to our MVNO agregme services or technologies evc
in order to offer competitive services to our castos. If we cannot renew our existing agreemertérento an agreement with another prov
or negotiate amendments on favorable terms ot,at alould harm our existing operations and oppoities to grow our business in our curl
and new markets.

Our current and future competitors may be bettergitioned than we are to adapt to rapid changesechinology, and we could lose
customers as a result.

The communications industry has experienced, afigpmibably continue to experience, rapid and digant changes in technology.
Technological changes, such as the use of wirelesther alternatives to network access to custerimeplace of the T-1 or other access lines
we lease from the local telephone companies, cauider aspects of the technology we employ subaptimobsolete and provide a
competitive advantage to new or larger competitdre might more easily be able to take advantaghexfe opportunities. Some of our
competitors, including the local telephone compgieve a much longer operating history, more éagpee in making upgrades to their
networks and greater financial resources than wé\tocannot provide assurance that we will be tbtEbtain access to new technologies,
we will be able to do so as quickly or on the saenms as our competitors, or that we will be ablagply new technologies to our existing
networks without incurring significant costs. Inditibn, responding to demand for new technologiesh as our copper-based and Fiber Optic
Metro Ethernet expansion, requires us to increaseapital expenditures, which may require adddidimancing in order to fund. As a result
of those factors, we could lose customers andinan€ial results could be harmed.

System disruptions could cause delays or interrops of our service, which could cause us to losstomers or incur additional expense

Our success depends on our ability to provide bldigervice. Although we have designed our netwgerkice to minimize the possibility
of service disruptions or other outages, our serwiey be disrupted by problems on our system, aschalfunctions in our software or other
facilities and overloading of our network, and gesbs with the systems of competitors with whichimterconnect, such as physical damag
telephone lines, power surges and outages. Althaigghave experienced isolated power disruptionsosimer outages for short time periods,
we have not had system-wide disruptions of a gefiitcduration or magnitude that have had a siganifigmpact on our customers or our
business. Any significant disruption in our netwedauld cause us to lose customers and incur additexpenses.

Business disruptions, including disruptions causby security breaches, extreme weather, terrorisnotirer disasters, could harm ot
future operating results

The day-to-day operation of our business is higledgendent on the integrity of our communications iaformation technology systems,
and on our ability to protect those systems frommage or interruptions by events beyond our con8abotage, computer viruses or other
infiltration by third parties could damage our €ms. Such events could disrupt our service, daroagéacilities, damage our reputation, and
cause us to lose customers, among other things;arid harm our results of operations.

In addition, a catastrophic event could materibliym our operating results and financial conditi@atastrophic events could include a
terrorist attack on the United States a major @éhulisaster, extreme
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weather, earthquake, fire, or similar event théga$ our central offices, corporate headquartesyork operations center, data centers or
network equipment. We believe that communicatiofi@structures, such as the one on which we redy, be vulnerable in the case of such an
event, and our markets, which are major metropokteas, may be more likely to be the targetsrobtist activity.

There is no assurance of profitability in the futer

We recorded net losses of $8.0 million, $1.7 milland $2.2 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respebti We cannot provide any
assurance that we will generate positive net incontlee future. Future losses could require usdw ®ur growth and make other changes to
our business plans, and could result in an incrieger allowance against our net deferred taxtasse

If our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets t®me impaired, we may be required to record a digant charge to earnings

Under accounting principles generally acceptedh@nited States (or “GAAP”), we review our amaabie intangible assets for
impairment when events or changes in circumstaimcsate the carrying value may not be recoverablodwill is tested for impairment at
least annually. Factors that may be consideredaagghin circumstances, indicating that the carryigge of our goodwill or amortizable
intangible assets may not be recoverable, includiectine in stock price and market capitalizati@auced future cash flow estimates, and
slower growth rates in our industry. We may be nexglto record a significant charge in our finahstatements during the period in which ¢
impairment of our goodwill or amortizable intangitdssets is determined, negatively impacting ault® of operations.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Future sales of shares by existing stockholdersssuances of our common stock by us could reduce stock price.

If our existing stockholders sell substantial amswf our common stock in the public market, theketprice of our common stock
could decline. In the future, we may sell additicsteares of our common stock to raise capital. Aot predict the size of future issuances or
the effect, if any, that they may have on the miapkiee of our common stock. We may also issueeshaf our common stock from time to ti
as consideration for future acquisitions and inwestts. If any such acquisition or investment ismigant, the number of shares that we issue
may, in turn, be significant. In addition, we maigt registration rights covering those shareimection with any such acquisitions and
investments. The issuance and sales of substant@alints of common stock, or the perception thah sgsuiances and sales may occur, could
adversely affect the market price of our commoumlsto

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents an@lBware corporate law might deter acquisition bifts us that our stockholders
might consider favorable.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmgtrovides for a classified board of directorg itability of our stockholders to call
special meetings of stockholders, to act by writtensent, to remove any director or the entire dofdirectors without cause, or to fill any
vacancy on the board of directors; and advance@otiquirements for stockholder proposals. Ourdoéadirectors is also permitted to
authorize the issuance of preferred stock withtsigluperior to the rights of the holders of commatmtk without any vote or further action by
our stockholders. These provisions and other pimvisunder Delaware law could make it difficult #othird party to acquire us, even if doing
so would benefit our stockholders.
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Because we do not currently intend to pay dividemaisour common stock, stockholders will benefit fnoan investment in our commo
stock only if it appreciates in valut

The continued expansion of our business will rezjgirbstantial funding. Accordingly, we do not cuathg anticipate paying any
dividends on shares of our common stock. Any deteation to pay dividends in the future will be hetdiscretion of our board of directors :
will depend upon results of operations, financ@dition, contractual restrictions, restrictiongpimsed by applicable law and other factors our
board of directors deems relevant. Accordinglylization of a gain on stockholdersivestments will depend on the appreciation offttiee of
our common stock. There is no guarantee that omnuan stock will appreciate in value or even maimthie price at which stockholders
purchased their shares.

ltem 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

ltem 2. Properties

We lease a 165,546 square-foot facility for oupooate headquarters in Atlanta, GA. We also leasa cknter facilities in Atlanta, GA
and Dallas, TX as well as sales office facilitieattrange between 15,000 to 28,000 square-feeicim @ our markets. Our total rental expenses
in 2011 were approximately $1.1 million for our loghation and data center facilities and approxitye#8.4 million for our offices.

Additionally, we own a 33,000 square-foot data eent Louisville, KY that is focused on cloud-basatvices. Management believes that our
properties, taken as a whole, are in good operatinglition and are suitable for our business opmrst

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in legal prodegd arising in the ordinary course of business.Baleve that we have adequately
reserved for these liabilities and that as of Ddoen31, 2011, there is no litigation pending thaild have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations and financial condition.

As of the date of this filing, we are involved hretpreliminary stage of a lawsuit with Klausner Aealogies (“Klausner”) that Klausner
filed in the United States District Court for thadtern District of Texas. Klausner sued us andmabeun of other technology companies on
October 27, 2011, alleging that our service vidatarious patents they have for a technology knaswisual voicemail. The term “visual
voicemail” describes the ability to select voicemail messdgeretrieval in any order, and it is not cleartthe utilize any services to which 1
patents would apply. Although the patents expirBlarch of next year, the suit seeks past damadasisker has previously sued other parties
in matters that were settled prior to trial. In gideh, Klausner’s proposed licensing agreement amggrovide us with a methodology to
calculate an estimated range of potential liabbiécause it is not yet clear what Cbeyond servi€asy, would allegedly violate the asserted
patents. As a result, we are currently unable timase any possible range of loss which may ariem fthe lawsuit.

ltem 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie
Market Price Information and Dividend Policy for Our Common Stock
Our common stock trades on the Nasdag Global Mankeéé¢r the symbol “CBEY.”

As of March 1, 2012, there were approximately Skléis of record of shares of our common stock.

The table below shows, for the quarters indicateel reported high and low trading prices of our own stock on the Nasdaq Global
Market:

Market Prices

High Low

Calendar Year 2010

First quarte $16.2¢ $10.71

Second quarte 18.0¢ 12.1¢€

Third quartel 15.5¢ 11.5¢

Fourth quarte 15.8¢ 12.22
Calendar Year 2011

First quarte $16.3¢ $11.41

Second quarte 14.7¢ 11.31

Third quartel 13.8¢ 6.97

Fourth quarte 8.5¢ 5.7t

As of March 1, 2012, the closing price of our conmstock was $7.45.

We have never paid or declared any dividends orcommmon stock and do not anticipate paying anydeds in the foreseeable future.
The terms of our Credit Facility with Bank of Ameairestrict our ability to pay dividends on our ecoon stock. We currently anticipate that
will use any future earnings for use in the operatf our business and to fund future growth. Téeislon whether to pay dividends will be
made by our board of directors in light of condigahen existing, including factors such as owlte®f operations, financial condition and
requirements, business conditions and covenanramy applicable contractual arrangements or #mgr dactors the board of directors may
consider.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

We issue our employees share-based awards und20@brEquity Incentive Award Plan (or “2005 Planthich has been approved by
our stockholders. The following table provides mfiation as of December 31, 2011 regarding outsta@ndptions and shares reserved for

future issuance under the 2005 Plan:

Plan Category
Equity compensation plans approved by seci
holders:
2005 Equity Incentive Award Ple
2002 Equity Incentive Award Plan(
2000 Equity Incentive Award Plan(
Equity compensation plans not approvec
security holder:

Total

Number of securities

to be issued upon
exercise of
outstanding options,

warrants and rights

- @

2,314,25.
1,301,56:
507

3,616,32.

Weighted-
average exercise
price of outstanding

options, warrants

and
rights
N () B
$ 18.0¢
$ 7.3€
$ 13.4¢
$ —
$ 14.2(

Number of securities
remaining available for

future issuance under

equity compensation
plans (excluding

securities reflected in
column (a)) (c)

1,023,36!

1,023,36!

(1) Shares remaining for issuance under the 20@2yEbpcentive Award Plan and the 2000 Equity IngenAward Plan were rolled into the
2005 Plan, pursuant to our registration statemerarm -8 (File No. 33-129556) filed with the SEC on November 8, 2C

Transfer Agent and Registrar

American Stock Transfer and Trust Company is taedfer agent and registrar for our common stock.
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Date

You should read the following selected consoliddieaincial data in conjunction with our consolidhfenancial statements and related
notes thereto and with “Management’s DiscussionfAmalysis of Financial Condition and Results of @i®ns” included elsewhere in this
report. The consolidated statements of operatiate fbr the years ended December 31, 2011, 201@@0®| and the consolidated balance
sheets data as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 @vedi&om the audited consolidated financial statats and notes thereto included
elsewhere in this report. The consolidated statésnafroperations data for the years ended DeceBhe2008 and 2007 and the consolidated
balance sheets data as of December 31, 2009, 2003087, are derived from audited consolidatedniiiel statements not included herein.
Historical results are not necessarily indicatifeesults to be expected in the future.

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(amounts in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date
Revenue $485,42. $451,96! $413,77: $349,70( $280,03¢
Operating expense
Cost of revenue (exclusive of $39,439, $34,843,833,
$27,779, and $22,896 depreciation and amortization,
respectively’ 161,30¢ 146,50° 138,09: 109,67: 84,45¢
Selling, general and administrative (exclusive 80356,
$24,461, $20,002, $13,797 and $9,074 depreciatidn a

amortization, respectively) (. 257,74( 249,08: 228,50¢ 192,35 153,45¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 69,89" 59,30« 51,84( 41,57¢ 31,97(
Total operating expens 488,94: 454,89: 418,43¢ 343,60 269,88

Operating (loss) incom (3,519 (2,92¢ (4,66¢) 6,097 10,14%

Other income (expense

Interest incomt — 2 28 84¢€ 2,70(
Interest expens (500 (281) (152 (224) (252)
Other income, ne 1,217 1,86 49¢ 71 —
(Loss) income before income tay (2,80¢) (1,340 (4,294 6,79( 12,59¢
Income tax (expense) bene (5,17¢€) (3149 2,074 (3,099 8,90z
Net (loss) incomi $ (798) $ (1,659 $ (2,220 $ 3,69¢ $ 21,49¢

(1) To conform to our current year presentationhaee reclassified amounts previously recognizefirassaction costs and Public offering
expenses to Selling, general and administrativeres@. Transaction costs were $755 in 2010 anddoifdiring expenses were $2 in
2007.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets Data (at period enc
Cash and cash equivalel

Working capital

Total asset

Contingent consideration (

Stockholder equity

Other Financial Data:

Capital expenditures (.

Net cash provided by operating activit

Net cash used in investing activiti

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi
Net (loss) income per common share, b.

Net (loss) income per common share, dilt
Weighted average common shares outstanding,
Weighted average common shares outstanding, di

Non-GAAP Financial Data:
Total Adjusted EBITDA (3

Free Cash Flow (Z

Core Managed Services ARPU |

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(amounts in thousands, except per share data and ARJ)

$ 8,521 $ 26,37 $ 39,267 $ 36,97¢ $ 56,17
(23,309 (3,56¢) 19,80: 17,68 27,41(
241,07: 257,96° 228,89 212,48° 198,36

4,927 6,82¢ — — —
163,98° 173,12: 158,60 143,53¢ 127,31¢
77,69 62,83: 62,12¢ 69,94( 57,53¢
75,87« 79,14¢ 62,61( 48,62¢ 61,80¢
(78,782 (92,619 (60,729 (67,640 (45,089
(14,947 57€ 411 (187) 5,342
$ ©02) $ (©09 $ (009 $ 01z $ 0.77
$ (027 $ (0.0 $ (0.0 $ 01z $ 0.72
29,22« 29,36¢ 28,75 28,33¢ 27,83
29,22¢ 29,36¢ 28,75:¢ 29,58¢ 29,98¢
$ 80,16: $ 72,93t $ 63,12¢ $ 60,56( $ 52,10¢
$ 247: $1010: $ 1,000 $ (9,38) $ (5,426
$ 65¢ $ 70C $ 744 $ 752 $ T4¢

(1) Represents the current and reumrent portions of the contingent liability reldt® the acquisitions of MaximumASP and Aretta (Seée

5 to the consolidated financial statemer

(2) Represents cash and I-cash purchases of property and equipment on a ceuhthiasis

(3) Total Adjusted EBITDA, Free Cash Flow and Cbtanaged Services average monthly revenue per cestiocation (or “ARPU”) are
not substitutes for Revenue, Operating (loss) iredxet (loss) income, or Cash flow from operatintjvities as determined in
accordance with GAAP, and are not substitute measofrperformance or liquidity. See “Non-GAAP Finah Measure” for our reasons
for including Total Adjusted EBITDA and Free Cadbow data in this report and for material limitat®owith respect to the usefulness of
these measurements. The following table sets forttonciliation of Total Adjusted EBITDA and Fréash Flow to Net (loss) incom

Reconciliation of Free Cash Flow and Total AdjusERITDA

to Net (loss) income
Total Free Cash Flo
Capital expenditure
Total Adjusted EBITDA
Depreciation and amortizatic
Non-cash shar-based compensatic

MaximumASP purchase accounting adjustm

D
Transaction cost

Public offering expense

Interest incomt

Interest expens

Other income, ne

Income (loss) before income tax
Income tax (expense) bene

Net (loss) incomi

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(amounts in thousands'
$ 2,47:  $10,10: $ 1,000 $ (9,380 $ (5,420
77,69 62,83: 62,12¢ 69,94( 57,53¢
$ 80,16 $ 72,93t $ 63,12¢ $ 60,56( $ 52,10¢
(69,895  (59,30)  (51,84()  (41,57¢ (31,970
(14,149 (15,597 (15,95¢) (12,887 (9,989
51€ (213 - - -
(154) (755) — — —
— — — — @)
— 2 28 84¢€ 2,70(
(500) (281) (152) (224) (252)
1,211 1,861 49¢€ 71 —
(2,809) (1,340) (4,299 6,79( 12,59¢
(5,176 (314) 2,07¢ (3,099 8,90:
$ (7,989 $ (1,659 $ (2,220 $ 3,69¢  $21,49¢
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(1) These adjustments include the effect of adjusteyuiied deferred revenue and the contingent coretide to fair value. Thes
adjustments affect period-to-period financial parfance comparability in periods subsequent to tigiigition and are not indicative of
changes in underlying results of operations. We hwye similar adjustments in future periods if veedrany new acquisition

The following table sets forth a reconciliationtofal revenue to Core Managed Services ARPU:

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(amounts in thousands, except ARPU)

Reconciliation of Core Managed Services ARI

Total revenue $485,42. $451,96! $413,77. $349,70( $280,03:
Cloud Services revent (14,619 (2,797 — — —
Intersegment eliminatior 354 7 — — —
(A) Core Managed Servies net revel 471,16: 450,18: 413,77: 349,70( 280,03¢
(B) Average Core Managed Services custor 59,57 53,58¢ 46,33 38,75 31,197
Core Managed Services ARF
(A/B/12) $ 65 §$ v70C $ 744 $ 75z $  74¢

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Total Adjusted EBITDA

Our chief executive officer, who is our chief optérg decision maker (or “CODM?”), uses Adjusted EBIA to evaluate the performance
of our reportable segments. EBITDA representsmaire (loss) before interest, income taxes, degiieniand amortization. We define
Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) before intgregome taxes, depreciation and amortization Bgpeexcluding, when applicable, non-
cash share-based compensation, public offeringresgseor acquisition-related transaction costs,hase accounting related adjustments, gain
or loss on disposal of property and equipment @ahdranon-operating income or expense. On a legsiém basis, Adjusted EBITDA may
exclude charges for employee severances, assatibtyfimpairments, and other exit activity coatsociated with a management directed |
Our Total Adjusted EBITDA represents the sum ofustigd EBITDA for each of our segments. We use Tatflisted EBITDA as a principal
indicator of the operating performance of our basgon a consolidated basis.

Our Total Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financiabasure. Our management uses Total Adjusted EBITD® idecision-making
processes relating to the operation of our busitoggther with GAAP measures such as revenue aonia (loss) from operations.

Our calculation of Total Adjusted EBITDA excludeghen applicable:

* non-cash share-based compensation, loss on diggfqzalperty and equipment and other non-operatingme or expense, none of
which are used by management to assess the ogerasinlts and performance of our segments or msdiimlated operation

» public offering expenses or acquisit-related transaction cos
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* purchase accounting related adjustments, whicketgfferioc-to-period financial performance comparability in pessubsequent
the acquisition and are not indicative of changesnderlying results of operations; &

» charges for employee severances, asset or faaifigirments, and other exit activity costs assedatith a management directed
plan.

Our management believes that Total Adjusted EBITi2Amits a comparative assessment of our operaérfgrmance, relative to our
performance based on our GAAP results, while isadathe effects of depreciation and amortizatiohjoh may vary from period to period
without any correlation to underlying operatingfpemance, and of non-cash share-based compensatiict) is a non-cash expense that
varies widely among similar companies. We providermation relating to our Total Adjusted EBITDA #mat investors have the same data
that we employ in assessing our overall operatidfes believe that trends in our Total Adjusted EBA Bre a valuable indicator of operating
performance on a consolidated basis and of ouratipgrsegments’ ability to produce operating cdaW to fund working capital needs, to
service debt obligations and to fund capital exjtenes.

In addition, we believe Total Adjusted EBITDA isiaeful comparative measure within the communicatiodustry because the industry
has experienced recent trends of increased mengexcuisition activity and financial restructursngvhich have led to significant variations
among companies with respect to capital structanelscost of capital (which affect interest experse) differences in taxation and book
depreciation of facilities and equipment (whicheaffrelative depreciation expense), including sigant differences in the depreciable lives of
similar assets among various companies, as walbasperating or infrequent charges to earningsh sis the effect of debt restructurings.

Accordingly, we believe Total Adjusted EBITDA allevanalysts, investors and other interested partigge communications industry to
facilitate company to company comparisons by elatiimg some of the foregoing variations. Total AtgasEBITDA as used in this report may
not, however, be directly comparable to similaithed measures reported by other companies dudfezehces in accounting policies and
items excluded or included in the adjustments, tvhimits its usefulness as a comparative measure.

Our calculation of Total Adjusted EBITDA is not datly comparable to EBIT (earnings before inteegst taxes) or EBITDA (earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortimgtin addition, Total Adjusted EBITDA does nofleet:

» our cash expenditures, or future requirementsgdpital expenditures or contractual commitme

» changes in, or cash requirements for, our workiaqgtal needs

e our interest expense, or the cash requirementssageto service interest or principal paymentswndebts

» any cash requirements for the replacement of absétg depreciated and amortized, which will oftewe to be replaced in tl
future, even though depreciation and amortizatiemar-cash charges; ar

» cash used for business acquisitic

Total Adjusted EBITDA is not intended to replaceeogting income (loss), net income (loss) and otieasures of financial performance
reported in accordance with GAAP. Rather, Totalustd EBITDA is a measure of operating performaonamnsider in addition to those
measures. Because of these limitations, Total AeguEBITDA should not be considered as a measudésofetionary cash available to us to
invest in the growth of our business. We compenfgaitthese limitations by relying primarily on oGAAP results and using Total Adjusted
EBITDA as a supplemental financial measure.
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Free Cash Flow

Free Cash Flow represents the cash that a compaatyd to generate after cash expenses and cayihditures necessary to maintain
or expand its asset base. We define Free Cashdddvetal Adjusted EBITDA less total capital expencds.

We believe that Free Cash Flow is an importantimédr investors in evaluating how a company isrently using cash generated, and
may indicate its ability to generate cash thatpatentially be used by the business for capitaégtments, acquisitions, reduction of debt,
payment of dividends or share repurchases. Infgrive¢ have also begun to focus on Free Cash Ffomnamportant operating performance
metric and have designed our corporate bonus cosagien plan to utilize Free Cash Flow as a compbréowever, Free Cash Flow is not a
measure of financial performance under GAAP and maybe comparable to similarly titled measureorega by other companies.
Additionally, we do not present or manage Free Gdstv on a segment basis.
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ltem 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

You should read the following discussion togethién wur consolidated financial statements and tekated notes and other financial
information included elsewhere in this report. Thecussion in this report contains forward-lookistatements that involve risks and
uncertainties, such as statements of our plan®ativies, expectations and intentions. The cautipstatements made in this report should be
read as applying to all related forward-looking ments wherever they appear in this report. Otualcresults could differ materially from
those discussed here. See “Cautionary Notice Reggueiorward-Looking Statements” elsewhere in tl@part.

Business Overview

We formed Cheyond and began the development ofiework and business processes in early 2000. Wheleed our first market,
Atlanta, in early 2001 and have since expandedCone Managed Services into 13 additional metropolinarkets. Additionally, the
establishment of our Cloud Services operationspantherships with providers of network servicessmlg our geographic markets through
MPLS allows us to deliver services outside of thasget markets. We aggregate established markgtsimilar economic characteristics for
segment reporting. The markets subject to aggragatie those that we consider established bechegébave successfully passed through the
critical start-up phase and, for the reasons meetigreviously, achieved certain operating perforwedevels. Currently, a market is
considered established upon achieving positive stdpll EBITDA for at least four consecutive fiscahgers and otherwise sharing similar
long-term economic characteristics as the othebéished markets. As of September 30, 2011 andrbleee31, 2011, the Miami and
Minneapolis markets, respectively, have been regmaized to the Core Managed Services Establishettddl grouping due to their
achievement of four consecutive fiscal quartersasfitive Adjusted EBITDA. We have updated our segnaésclosures to retroactively pres
Miami and Minneapolis as established markets iorgreriods (see Note 13 to the consolidated firdrstatements).

As of December 31, 2011, our reportable segmentsispof Core Managed Services Established Markegsindividual Core Managed
Services Emerging Markets including, the GreatesNifggton DC Area, Seattle and Boston; and the C&®erdices segment. The Cloud
Services segment was established in the fourthtepualir 2010 after our acquisitions (see Note Sieodonsolidated financial statements).

During 2011, we began to integrate and merge tbedCEervices business unit into the existing oparatof the Core Managed Service
business and under common functional leadershipb&gan this effort as part of a strategic shiffitectly focus more of our selling and
service delivery efforts toward the customers withiir target market of small and mid-sized busieeseho are more technology-dependent
and have more complex IT needs. In addition, weebelthis strategic shift may make our historicggaphic footprint less relevant as we gl
the level of IT and communication services we offationally and internationally through our clomdrastructure. At this time, we have not
determined what impact these functional and stratetanges will have on our reportable segmentsira.

This strategic realignment, which was announceshiy 2012, will result in employee severancesm@ag also result in lease
abandonments and asset impairments. As of theofléités report, we have not yet finalized the effefcthis restructuring activity on our rest
of operations, but we estimate the impact in thet uarter of 2012 will be approximately $1.0 il of expense. In addition, we expect that
our future capital expenditures and operating egpsmvill be more focused on selling to technologpehdent customers. Capital expenditures
will include the costs of continued build out ofiigher bandwidth Fiber Optic and copper-based MEthernet network and additional Cloud
Services infrastructure. Operating expenses willige the cost of revenue to support the highedwaith network and growth in Cloud
Services, as well as the selling expenses of a footsed and consultative sales force. We alsoatxqe revenues to include an increasing
proportion of higher ARPU technology-dependent aumrs in the future. Whereas our gradual stratggit could result in little to no net
growth of overall customer additions in the neamtewe expect that in the long-term our ARPU
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and customer additions will increase as our custame becomes more technology-dependent. Currewttydo not plan to expand our Core
Managed Services into new geographic markets isdhge manner in which we entered our current markisiwever, we may add staff in
additional markets and serve customers outsidewuent 14 markets as we grow our services to wolgy-dependent customers, particularly
those with locations in multiple cities.

We focus on Adjusted EBITDA as a principal indigadd the operating performance of our business@andeportable segments.
EBITDA represents net income (loss) before inteliesbme taxes, depreciation and amortization. \&fend Adjusted EBITDA as net income
(loss) before interest, income taxes, depreciaimhamortization expenses, excluding, when apgécalon-cash share-based compensation,
public offering or acquisition-related transactwosts, purchase accounting related adjustments,ogdoss on disposal of property and
equipment and other non-operating income or expénsrir presentation of segment financial reséittjusted EBITDA for a geographic
segment does not include corporate overhead exparnksether centralized operating costs. On a tesgiént basis, Adjusted EBITDA may
exclude charges for employee severances, assatibtyfimpairments, and other exit activity coassociated with a management directed |
We believe that Adjusted EBITDA trends are a valeahdicator of our operating segments’ relativefpenance and ability to produce
sufficient operating cash flow to fund working dapineeds, to service debt obligations and to fuayltal expenditures.

Total Adjusted EBITDA was $80.2 million in 2011 cpared to $72.9 million in 2010, or a 10.0% increager the prior year. Cloud
Services contributed an additional $1.6 milliorAidjusted EBITDA in 2011 primarily due to the inclas of a full twelve months of results in
2011 as compared to 2010, which included approxtpdivo months of results given the timing of oagaisitions. Free Cash Flow was $2.5
million in 2011 compared to $10.1 million in 20Mespite an increase in Total Adjusted EBITDA, F@ssh Flow was negatively affected by
capital expenditures related to our coppased Metro Ethernet expansion. We incurred $2@libmin capital expenditures associated with
copper-based Metro Ethernet conversion in 2011 esetpto $5.7 million in 2010.

The nature of the primary components of our opegatésults—Revenue, Cost of revenue and Sellingergé and administrative
expenses—are described below.

Revenue

Our offerings range from a simple bundle of loaad dong distance voice communications services tittadband Internet access to a
comprehensive offering of discreet IT, network, coumications, mobile services, security and protessiservices. All of such services, other
than cloud-based services purchased outside oitegrated package, are delivered over our secldtB aktwork via high capacity connectic

For businesses that desire basic communicationgesy we offer an array of flexible packages, knas BeyondVoice packages,
designed to address a customer’s business neéés tiaan the size of the customer. Our integragedce offering packages will continue to
evolve as the needs of our customers and thevelatarket change, such as including more cloudebssevices in our base integrated
packages.

Through our acquisitions we have expanded the genfferings we deliver, most notably by addinguat and physical servers and cli
PBX services. Our acquisitions bring customersdisttibution channels not limited to our traditibggographical markets. We believe the
expansion of our product offerings allows us tcagiseexpand the breadth of services we can detiveur customers via the web, thus further
minimizing or eliminating the need for our custom& invest in complex IT infrastructure and resesrwhile increasing our wallet share
opportunity and improving our value proposition. s continue to focus on and expand our cloud-basedces, we expect to expand our
addressable customer market and provide more itirevi@chnology to new and existing customers, &ifirimary focus on the technology-
dependent small business customer.
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ARPU is impacted by a variety of factors includimgroduction of new packages with different prigrirthanges in customer demand for
certain products or services, changes in custosegeaipatterns, the proportion of customers sigtiiregyear contracts at lower package pr
as compared to shorter term contracts, the distoibwf customer installations during a period, tise of customer incentives employed when
needed to be competitive, as well as fluctuatiortgiminating access rates. Customer revenuessesgesl approximately 98.4%, 98.4% and
98.2% of total revenues during 2011, 2010 and 268pectively. Access charges paid to us by othmeunications companies to terminate
calls to our customers represented the remaindetaifrevenues. We do not currently include reeeftam the Cloud Services segment or the
related intersegment revenue eliminations withinARPU calculation. Thus, we only utilize Core Mged Services ARPU as our primary
revenue metric for our traditional business. With strategic shift to focus more on technology dejemt customers, we have not yet
determined the future revenue metrics that besesemt the results of the consolidated business.

Core Managed Services customer revenues are gedenader one, two, and thrgear contracts. Therefore, customer churn rates he
impact on projected future revenue streams. Wendefustomer churn rate for a given month as thebeumf customer locations disconnected
in that month divided by the total number of custohocations on our network at the beginning of thanth. Our average customer churn rate
for Core Managed Services during 2011, 2010 an® 206 1.4%, 1.4% and 1.5%, respectively.

Although not a significant source of revenue, wargle other communications companies for terminataity to our customers on our
network. Terminating access charges have histtyigabwn at a slower rate than our customer bagetdueductions in access rates on
interstate calls as mandated by the FCC. Theseadtetions are expected to continue in the fusmaye expect terminating access revenue
will continue to grow at a rate slower than ourtooser growth and possibly decline.

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue represents costs directlyeeltd the operation of our network, including paptsdo the ILECs and other
communications carriers such as long distance gesgiand our mobile provider, for access, interection and transport fees for voice and
Internet traffic, customer circuit installation exyses paid to the local telephone companies, f@dg@third-party providers of certain service
offerings such as web hosting services, collocatéorts and other facility costs, telecommunicaticeiated taxes and fees and the cost of
mobile handsets. The primary component of coseeémue consists of the access fees paid to Idephiene companies for high capacity
circuits we lease on a monthly basis to provideneativity to our customers. These access circunksdur customers to our network equipm
located in a collocation facility, which we leaserh local telephone companies. The access fedgbdee circuits vary due to a number of
factors and are the primary reason for differerigce®st of revenue across our markets.

Historically, most of the high capacity circuits Veased have been T-1's, which are the largest oaemg of our circuit access fees.
However, we are converting many of our existingtaoner T-1 circuits and have begun serving new caste using Fiber Optic and copper-
based Metro Ethernet in place of T-1 circuits imuanber of locations. Although not available to nsacubiquitous basis in all areas, Ethernet
technology provides us with the opportunity to ofidarge percentage of our customer’s bandwiddpaeds well in excess of T-1 circuits
while reducing our ongoing operating expenses. Weeatly serve just over 20% of our customers Witttro Ethernet and are targeting to
have approximately 50% of our existing customeehl@sMetro Ethernet by 2014. As of December 31120 incurred $25.8 million in
cumulative capital expenditures associated withctifgper-based Ethernet conversion, of which $20lliomwas incurred during 2011. We
have substantially completed our copper-based Mettniernet customer conversion project and havéeshibcus to our Fiber Optic initiative.

A rising component of cost of revenue is transpost, which is primarily the cost we incur with ICE for traffic between central offices
where we have collocation equipment, traffic betwesre centers without our
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presence and our collocations, and intercity ttadétween our markets. These costs may incredbke imear term as we have built additional
collocations to support our Ethernet initiativewawver, we expect that the increased transport ealitbe offset by greater reductions in future
access fees resulting from our investment in Eitelechnology, which provides significantly lowgrerating expenses than traditional T-1
technology.

Another significant component of our cost of reveithe cost associated with our mobile offerifigese costs include usage-based
charges, monthly recurring base charges, or soméioation thereof, depending on the type of mopiteduct in service, and the cost of
mobile equipment sold to our customers to facaitdieir use of our service. The cost of mobile popgnt typically exceeds our selling price of
such devices due to the competitive marketplacepaicthg practices for mobile services. We beliivese costs are offset over time by the
long-term profitability of our service contracts.

We routinely receive telecommunication cost rec@gefrom various local telephone companies to ad@rsprior errors in billing,
including the effect of price decreases retroattiapplied upon the adoption of new rates as mautlay regulatory bodies. These service
credits are often the result of negotiated resohgtiof bill disputes that we conduct with our versd®Ve also receive payments from the local
telephone companies in the form of performance Ierdhat are assessed by state regulatory coriamgsbased on the local telephone
companies’ performance in the delivery of circaitgl other services that we use in our network. Bszaf the many factors as noted above
that impact the amount and timing of telecommuimcatost recoveries, the ultimate outcome of ttetsmtions is uncertain. Accordingly, we
generally recognize telecommunication cost recegegis offsets to cost of revenue when the ultimestelution and amount are known and
verifiable. These items do not follow any predi¢tainpends and often result in variances when coingahe amounts received over multiple
periods.

Though not as significant to our existing overalsimess, the primary costs of revenue associatibdoni Cloud Services include
licensing fees for the required operating systémsadband service and access fees, power for ¢aicdater facilities and other various costs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Our selling, general and administrative expensesisbof salaries and related costs for employadsther expenses related to sales and
marketing, engineering, information technologylitg, regulatory, administrative, collections, légad accounting functions. In addition, bad
debt expense and share-based compensation experiseladed in selling, general and administragxpenses. Our selling, general and
administrative expenses include both fixed andaldei costs. Fixed selling expenses include baseissland office rent. Variable selling costs
include commissions, bonuses and marketing masefated general and administrative costs incliigecost of staffing certain corporate
overhead functions such as IT, marketing, admatist, billing and engineering, and associateds;astch as office rent, legal and accounting
fees, property taxes and recruiting costs. Varigbleeral and administrative costs include the abptovisioning and customer activation staff,
which grows with the level of installation of newstomers, and the cost of customer care and tealsupport staff, which grows with the
level of total customers on our network.

Reclassifications

Reclassifications have been made within Item 7ihgceconform to the presentation of 2011 resditgese reclassifications include the
following:

* In our December 31, 2010 and 2009 Cost of Reveahle,tadjustments were made to disaggregate trerfeps for voice and
Internet traffic from Other cost of revenue to Tspart cost; an

* In our December 31, 2010 and 2009 Selling, GersrdlAdministrative and Other Operating Expensele tatoljustments were made
to reclassify Transaction costs from Other opegagirpense to Selling, general and administratiyyeese. These costs are included
within Acquisition related (benefit) expen:
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Consolidated Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Endé2kecember 31, 2010

Revenue (Dollar amounts in thousands, except ARF

For the Year Ended December 31

Change from

2011 2010 Previous Periods
% of % of
Revenug Dollars Revenue Dollars Perceni
Revenue
Customer revenu $477,85¢ 98.4% $444,84¢ 98.4% $33,00¢ 7.4%
Terminating access reven 7,56¢ 1.6% 7,117 1.6% 451 6.2%
Total revenu 485,42. 451,96 33,45} 7.4%
Cost of revenu 161,30¢ 33.2% 146,50 32.8% 14,79¢ 10.1%
Gross margin (exclusive of depreciation and
amortization): $324,11¢ 66.£% $305,45¢ 67.€% $18,65¢ 6.1%
Customer date
Core Managed Services customer locations at
period enc 62,16¢ 56,97- 5,19 9.1%
Core Managed Services ARF $  65¢ $ 70C $ M (5.9%
Core Managed Services average monthly churn
rate 1.4% 1.4% (0.0%
The following comprises the segment contributiansevenue in 2011 compared to 2010: (Dollar amoimtisousands):
For the Year Ended December 31 Change from

Segment Revenue:
Core Managed Services Established Mar

Core Managed Services Emerging Mark
Greater Washington, D.C. Ar
Seattle
Boston
Core Managed Services total emerging mar
Total Core Managed Servic
Cloud Service:
Intersegment eliminatio

Total revenue

nm—not meaningful

2011 2010
% of % of

Dollars Revenu Dollars Revenut
$452,22: 93.2% $441,11! 97.6%
9,26( 1.% 6,291 1.4%
8,43¢ 1.7% 2,691 0.€%

1,24¢ 0.2% 84 nm
18,94: 3.% 9,06¢ 2.C%
471,16: 97.1% 450,18: 99.6%
14,61: 3.C% 1,791 0.4%

(359 nm ) nm

$485,42: $451,96!

Previous Periods

Dollars Percent
$11,107 2.5%
2,96¢ 47.2%
5,74¢ 213.5%
1,161 nm
9,87¢ 108.%%
20,98: 4.7%
12,822 nm
(347) nm
$33,45; 7.4%

RevenueTotal revenue increased in 2011 compared to 20ib@apity due to an increase in the average numb€&aré Managed Servic
customers. Cloud Services contributed an additi&®al8 million in revenue in 2011 primarily duetk@ inclusion of a full twelve months of
results in 2011 as compared to 2010, which inclugatoximately two months of results given the tighof our acquisitions.
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Core Managed Services segment revenue increasi#ddiiing 2011, and Core Managed Services ARPUmietI$41, or 5.9%. The
decline in ARPU is primarily due to the lower pscef the new packages introduced in 2010, exigtirgjomers converting to lower priced
packages, decreased charges for usage abovedéwelise minutes included in our packages, custemeducing the number of additional
lines and services with incremental charges, acdeased adoption of our mobile services. We belibgalecline is related to the effects of the
ongoing current economic conditions on customedsthe continued increased competitive pressures &iternate providers, such as cable
companies. This downward pressure has been ppifdet by the value delivered through sellingitiddal service offerings.

We anticipate that ARPU will continue to declinglie short-term for the reasons noted above; hornvexealso anticipate that recent
changes to our service packages will decreasathef the ARPU decline by increasing the propartbnew, higher ARPU, technology-
dependent customers. Long-term, we expect thah@wrstrategy to focus on technology-dependent mesto will increasingly benefit ARPU.
Growth in our Cloud Services revenue decreaselderidurth quarter of 2011 as compared with prigiqus due to our decision to limit the
adoption of our cloud PBX services until we maderiavements to the platform stability to supportagee levels of scale. In addition, we
decided to discontinue collocation services to $oewre fully on cloud server opportunities to besterve technology-dependent customers.
We anticipate that Cloud Services revenue growthaetelerate in 2012 as we increase the numbdirett sales representatives dedicated to
Cloud Services.

Cost of Revenue (Dollar amounts in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31 Change from
2011 2010 Previous Periods
% of % of
Dollars Revenue Dollars Revenue Dollars Perceni

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and éizadion):

Circuit access fee 72,54¢ 14.% 64,72¢ 14.2% 7,82: 12.1%

Other cost of revent 47,29¢ 9.7% 40,00¢ 8.9% 7,29z 18.2%

Transport cos 24,35¢ 5.C% 20,30: 4.5% 4,054 20.(%

Mobile cost 22,35¢ 4.6% 26,71: 5.9% (4,359 (16.9%

Telecommunications cost recover (5,259 1.)% (5,239 (1.2% (17 0.2%
Total cost of revenu 161,30¢ 33.2% 146,50 32.2% 14,79¢ 10.1%

Cost of Revenu&@he principal driver of the overall increase intcokrevenue is customer growth. Cloud Servicedrdmuted an
additional $3.2 million in cost of revenue in 20drdmarily due to the inclusion of a full twelve mbis of results in 2011 as compared to 2010,
which included approximately two months of resgitgen the timing of our acquisitions. Cost of reverdirectly associated with migrating
customers to copper-based Ethernet technologyetb&®.8 million during 2011. In addition, indirexists we attribute to our copper-based
Ethernet initiative totaled $1.8 million during 201

Circuit access fees, or line charges, represeriathest component of cost of revenue. These gostarily relate to our lease of circuits
connecting our equipment at network points of a@twmn to our equipment located at our customersmises. The increase in circuit access
fees has historically correlated to the increagbémumber of customers. However, we have expegieincreased costs as we have expanded
in certain markets with higher access fees andaddtitional bandwidth to existing customers. Ciradicess fees also include $1.1 million of
direct conversion expenses related to copper-bagesinet conversions and $1.8 million of certaifirect costs in 2011. These indirect costs
relate to inefficiencies in our circuit disconnecbcess and other unanticipated costs identifigshguhe third quarter that we attribute to our
copper-based Ethernet initiative and do not excfmergoccur in the future. Circuit access feesdased as a percentage of revenue primarily
due to a decrease in Core Managed Services ARPUEXECt circuit access fees as a percentage afiweve stabilize over time as we con
customers to Ethernet technology, which we expdtteduce operating costs, and as ARPU stabilizes.
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Other cost of revenue principally includes compdsanich as long distance charges, installatiors¢ostonnect new circuits, the cost of
local interconnection with the local telephone camips’ networks, Internet access costs, the casiiraf-party service offerings we provide to
our customers, costs to deliver our cloud-basedces and certain taxes and fees. Other cost efnevincreased as a percentage of revenue i
2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to customewtftmutpacing revenue growth. In addition, we eigrezed a $1.7 million increase in
installation costs during 2011 relating to the aappased Ethernet conversion initiative.

Transport cost is a rising component of cost oénexe and may continue to rise in the near ternrateaoutpacing customer growth as
build additional collocations to support our Fil@stic and copper-based Metro Ethernet initiativendi-term, we expect transport costs to
stabilize and relative decreases to access costpen-customer basis given the cost savings arkét access over traditional T-1 access.

As a percentage of revenue, mobile costs decréasil1 compared to 2010. The primary drivers «f trecrease are reductions in
service costs due to better rates and mobile dedses as a result of lower volumes. The redudtishipments stems from a lower percentage
of new customers electing mobile services primatig to a reduction in our use of promotional athgtoincentives. Additionally, we have
been able to negotiate and achieve more efficieiitsgrvice costs. Though we do not currently aodite significant changes in the percentage
of customers using our mobile services in the fjture have recently been investing in the latestehmobile devices. As such, we do not
anticipate mobile costs will continue to declinenfr current levels in the near term.

Selling, General and Administrative and Other Op¢ireg Expenses (Dollar amounts in thousands, excemanthly selling, general an
administrative expenses per average customer laegti

For the Year Ended December 3: Change from
2011 2010 Previous Periods
% of % of
Dollars Revenue Dollars Revenue Dollars Percent
Selling, general and administrative (exclusive epciation
and amortization)
Salaries, wages and benefits (excluding share-based
compensation $160,07: 33.(% $150,20! 33.2% $ 9,86¢ 6.6%

Shar-based compensatic 14,14¢ 2.% 15,59: 3.4% (2,447 (9.2%

Marketing cos 2,73¢ 0.€% 3,44( 0.8% (701) (20.9)%

Acquisition related (benefit) expen (42€) (0.1)% 75& 0.2% (1,18)) (156.9%

Other selling, general and administrat 81,20« 16.7% 79,09! 17.5% 2,11 2.7%
Total SG&A $257,74( 53.1% $249,08: 55.1% $ 8,65¢ 3.5%
Other operating expense

Depreciation and amortizatic 69,89" 14.2% 59,30¢ 13.1% 10,59: 17.%
Total other operating expens $ 69,89t 14.%  $ 59,30¢ 13.1%  $10,59: 17.%%
Other data

Monthly SG&A per average Core Managed Services

customer location $  34¢ $ 384 $ (36 (9.49%
Average Employee 1,957 1,81¢ 142 7.5%

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses arfteODperating ExpenseSelling, general and administrative expenses iseeén
2011 compared to 2010, primarily due to increasegleyee salaries, wages and benefits. Total selfjegeral and administrative expenses
also includes $7.9 million of additional expensesf our new Cloud Services segment; and approxign@&9 million in employee cost and
other expenses associated with migrating custotoarspper-based Ethernet technology during 201&.dMerall

35



Table of Contents

increase in selling, general and administrativeeasps is partially offset by certain decreasedmsgs including bad debt expense and share-
based compensation.

Higher employee costs, which include salaries, walgenefits and other compensation paid to oucd#@les representatives and sales
agents, principally relate to the additional empley necessary to staff emerging markets and Clendc8s, and to serve the growth in
customers. We incurred approximately $5.5 millioorenin compensation costs in 2011 than in 2010td@oud Services employees who
were not with us for the full year in 2010. Over#fle increase in salaries, wages and benefitstbeeprior respective periods was consistent
with the growth in the average number of employ#essa percentage of revenue, employee costs dafifhd remained consistent with the p
period. During the third and fourth quarters of 20thanagement recommended and the Board of Dieeafiproved to reduce the accrued
payout level under our 2011 corporate incentive pplased on management’s assessment that the qfaktgults warranted a lower
achievement level than expected under the plananpeters. We believe this amendment to the plaeib@iigned managementtompensatic
with the interests of stockholders. These actiesslted in a $1.8 million reduction to employeetsaliring 2011.

Share-based compensation expense decreased avetat a percentage of revenue in 2011 compa2@il@® primarily due to a decline
in the fair value of awards granted based on Isheare prices in recent periods. As our share psedeclined from its height in 2007, we t
experienced decreases in our share-based commenegtiense related to the full vesting of highstdrical valued awards granted.
Additionally, during the third quarter of 2011, thesting of certain non-employee performance awasno longer considered probable.

Marketing costs decreased in 2011 compared to pfifréarily due to lower advertising and promotionativity as we reduced costs
while focusing on our strategic shift to focus enfhnology-dependent customers. Acquisition relétedefit) expense during 2011 includes a
$0.6 million fair value adjustment to reduce ountimgent consideration liability related to the NtawumASP acquisition based on actual
revenue achievement. In 2010, acquisition relabedé€fit) expense primarily includes direct trangactosts associated with our acquisitions,
which includes accounting, legal, and other pratess fees.

Other selling, general and administrative expepsiesarily include professional fees, outsourcedisess, rent and other facilities costs,
maintenance, recruiting fees, travel and entertaitrnosts, property taxes and bad debt expensdang@iease in this category of costs is
primarily due to the addition of new and expandpdrations needed to keep pace with the growthstocuers. The improvement as a
percentage of revenue is partially attributablertproved bad debt expense over the prior year aandger overall cost controls as we scale
back overhead growth due to slowing revenue growth.

Bad debt expense associated with Core ManagedcBsrwias $6.5 million, or 1.3% of revenues, comp&ekl’.5 million, or 1.7% of
revenues, during 2011 and 2010, respectively. @éddine was primarily from stronger cash collecsi@md more stringent credit policies in
place in the current year.

The increase in depreciation and amortization il2€@bmpared to 2010 relates primarily to a 23.6éfdase in capital expenditures
during 2011 compared to 2010. In addition, we reied $3.4 million of depreciation and amortizatinr2011 from assets acquired through
the Cloud Services acquisitions in late 2010.

Over time, as more markets achieve positive AdfuEBITDA and as our customer base and revenues, gvevexpect selling, general
and administrative costs to decrease as a pereeafagvenue. Excluding depreciation and amortiratour selling, general and administrative
cost per customer location in 2011 was 9.4% lowantin 2010. These efficiency gains were offsetiéglining ARPU, resulting in a more
modest decrease in these costs relative to revenues
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Operating Loss

We incurred operating losses in 2011 and 2010 ¢ #8llion and $2.9 million, respectively. The op#ng loss during 2011 was
primarily driven by the $5.7 million of direct cestand $1.8 million of indirect costs, attributedur copper-based Ethernet initiative;
increased depreciation and amortization as a rekiitreased capital expenditures and acquiregiltémand intangible assets from our
acquisitions; and decreasing Core Managed SendB&d). Substantially all of the 2010 operating lass generated in the fourth quarter,
which reflects the incurrence of approximately $hiflion in costs associated with our Ethernet ansion project, $0.8 million of transaction
costs from our Cloud Services acquisitions, ané $fllion in asset write-offs from abandoning arplad market launch. The remaining fourth
quarter 2010 operating loss resulted primarily fibea decline in Core Managed Services ARPU.

Other Income (Expense) and Income Taxes (Dollar ammbs in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 3: Change from
2011 2010 Previous Periods
% of % of

Dollars Revenue Dollars Revenue Dollars Percent
Interest income — nm 2 nm 2 nm
Interest expens (500 (0.)% (281) (0.2 (219 77.%
Other income, ne 1,211 0.2% 1,861 0.4% (65€) (35.1%
Income tax expens (5,17¢) (1.2)% (319 (0.1)% (4,862) 1,548.%
Total $(4,465) (0.9%  $1,27¢ 0.3%  $(5,739 (450.5)%

Interest Expensd&.he majority of our interest expenses in 2011 addZelate to commitment fees under our Creditlacand are
higher in 2011 due to the increase in our Crediilfafrom $25.0 million to $40.0 million early i2010 and then to $75.0 million early in
2011. We had no amounts outstanding under our Ofedility as of December 31, 2011.

Other income, neDuring 2011 and 2010, we recognized other inconm&ld? million and $1.9 million, respectively, whiphimarily
relates to adjusting liabilities of our former daptleasing subsidiaries upon the expiration ofouss statutory periods (see Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements).

Income Tax Expensk 2011 we recorded income tax expense despitebavpre-tax loss of $2.8 million due to incomessin states
with gross receipts-based taxes, which are duedbggs of profit levels, the write-off of certaieférred tax assets associated with share-basec
transactions (see Note 10 to the consolidated ¢iahstatements), and an increase in our valuaileuvance against our net deferred tax asset.
We also recorded income tax expense in 2010 or-taprloss of $1.3 million. Since gross receipésed taxes are not dependent upon levi
pre-tax income and because we are near break-¢eepra-tax level, these taxes have a signifiaafiiénce on our effective tax rate. As the
operating results for the markets in these statesrhe proportionately less significant to the ctidated results and as consolidated pre-tax
income increases, the impact of these gross recbgsed taxes on our effective tax rate will declWe recorded income tax expense in 2011
related to increases in the deferred tax asseatiatuallowance of approximately $3.6 million. 161D, income tax expense benefited by $0.6
million due to reductions in the valuation allowanc

Our net deferred tax assets, before valuation alfme, totaled approximately $41.6 million and $48ilion at December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively, and primarily relate to netragiag loss carryforwards. We maintain a valuatiiowance, which reduces our net deferred
income tax assets to the amount that is more littedyp not to be realized. As of December 31, 200t valuation allowance was $36.9 millic
In evaluating our ability to realize our deferreddome tax assets we consider all available positincenegative evidence, including our
historical operating results, ongoing tax planrémgl forecasts of future taxable income. Our evadndéd us to increase our valuation
allowance by $4.2 million in the fourth quarter2dfl1, resulting in
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additional income tax expense. In order to redliwebenefits of the deferred tax assets recograz&kcember 31, 2011, we will need to
generate approximately $13.3 million of taxableoime in the foreseeable future, which, based orentiprojected performance, management
expects to be able to achieve. If future resuktdl@ss favorable than our projections or if thgguted benefits of our investments fall short of
our expectations, we may have to increase our atee against our net deferred tax asset with @gponding increase to income tax expense.
If we generate taxable income in excess of prajastithe result would be a reduction of the alloweaagainst our net deferred tax asset and a
corresponding benefit to income tax expense

Consolidated Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Endé&kcember 31, 2009
Revenue (Dollar amounts in thousands, except ARF

For the Year Ended December 31, Change from
2010 2009 Previous Periods
% of % of
Dollars Revenue Dollars Revenue Dollars Perceni
Revenue
Customer revenu $444,84¢ 98.4% $406,47. 98.2%  $38,37¢ 9.4%
Terminating access reven 7,115 1.6% 7,29¢ 1.8% (182 (2.5)%
Total revenu 451,96! 413,77 38,19 9.2%
Cost of revenu 146,50 32.L% 138,09: 33.4% 8,414 6.1%
Gross margin (exclusive of depreciation i
amortization): $305,45¢ 67.€%  $275,67¢ 66.€%  $29,78( 10.6%
Customer date
Core Managed Services customer locatior
period enc 56,97 50,20: 6,76¢ 13.5%
Core Managed Services ARF $ 70C $ 744 $ (49 (5.9%
Core Managed Services average monthly cl
rate 1.4% 1.5% (0.1)%

The following comprises the segment contributiangetvenue for 2010 compared to 2009:

(Dollar amounts in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31,

Change from
2010 2009 Previous Periods
% of % of

Segment Revenue: Dollars Revenut Dollars Revenue Dollars Percent
Core Managed Services Established Markets $441,11! 97.€%  $412,07: 99.6%  $29,04« 7.C%
Greater Washington, D.C. Ar 6,291 1.4% 1,60 0.4% 4,68¢ 292.%

Seattle 2,691 0.€% 97 nm 2,59 nm

Boston 84 nm — nm 84 nm
Core Managed Services total emerging mar 9,06¢ 2.C% 1,70C 0.4% 7,36¢ 433.%
Total Core Managed Servic 450,18: 99.6% 413,77 100.(% 36,41( 8.8%

Cloud Service: 1,791 0.4% — nm 1,791 nm

Intersegment eliminatio ) nm — nm ) nm
Total revenue $451,96! $413,77: $38,19¢ 9.2%
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RevenueTotal revenue increased in 2010 compared to 20@8apity due to an increase in the average numb&aré Managed Servic
customers and $1.8 million in revenue from our @l@ervices segment. In comparison to 2009, Corealgketh Services ARPU declined $44,
or 5.9%. The decline in ARPU is primarily due te fbwer prices of the new packages introduced kD2@xisting customers converting to
lower priced packages, decreased charges for adsye levels of voice minutes included in our pgelsafrom customers reducing the nun
of additional lines and services with incrementarges, and decreased adoption of our mobile ssrviye believe these declines are relat
the effects of the economic recession on custoaradgncreased competitive pressures. This downpaskure has been partially offset by the
value delivered through selling additional appiizas. In addition, we experienced an increase demgtions of previously issued promotional
incentives, which resulted in a reduction to revenfi$1.5 million, or approximately ($2) of Core Maed Services ARPU, in 2010. This is
compared to an increase to revenue of $0.5 milbompproximately $1 of Core Managed Services ARRZ2009, related to lower
redemptions of previously issued promotional inoexst We believe this change in customer behasidirectly related to the economic
environment and competitive pressure.

Revenue from access charges paid to us by othemooinations companies to terminate calls to outcrusrs declined by approximat
$0.2 million primarily due to a billing dispute ditl by a major carrier during the third quarter 1@ which had an overall negative impact on
terminating access revenue of approximately $0I6omin 2010. As we continued to evaluate the dispand pursued a resolution, we were
longer recognizing the access charge revenue assdavith this carrier due to the uncertainty dfestiability. Terminating access charges
have historically grown at a slower rate than aistomer base due to our customers’ increased uselufe services and reductions in access
rates on interstate calls as mandated by the FCC.

Cost of Revenue (Dollar amounts in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31, Change from
2010 2009 Previous Periods
% of % of
Dollars Revenue Dollars Revenue Dollars Perceni

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and éizadion):

Circuit access fee 64,72¢ 14.2% 54,21¢ 13.1% 10,507 19.4£%

Other cost of revent 40,00¢ 8.9% 34,99: 8.5% 5,012 14.2%

Transport cos 20,30: 4.5% 17,71¢ 4.3% 2,58¢ 14.€%

Mobile cost 26,71: 5.9% 35,63¢ 8.6% (8,923 (25.0%

Telecommunications cost recover (5,239 (1.2% (4,469 (1.9)% (768 17.2%
Total cost of revenu 146,50 32.4% 138,09: 33.2% 8,414 6.1%

Cost of Revenu&@he principal driver of the overall increase intcokrevenue was customer growth, reduced by mabikgted cost
savings and beneficial telecommunication cost redes. Cost of revenue for 2010 also includes #flion related to our Cloud Services
segment.

Circuit access fees, or line charges, represeratgest single component of cost of revenue. Thests primarily relate to our lease of T-
1 circuits connecting our equipment at network t®of collocation to our equipment located at austomerspremises. The increase in circ
access fees has historically correlated to theeas® in the number of customers. However, we hgwerienced increased costs as we have
expanded in certain markets with higher access &g additional bandwidth to existing customersg] incurred transitional costs while
migrating customers to Ethernet technology.
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Other cost of revenue principally includes compdsanich as long distance charges, installatiors¢ostonnect new circuits, the cost of
transport circuits between network points of presethe cost of local interconnection with the Ideiephone companies’ networks, internet
access costs, the cost of third-party applicatieaprovide to our customers, access costs paic by ather carriers to terminate calls from our
customers and certain taxes and fees. Other costvefiue increased as a percentage of revenuehavprior period primarily due to customer
growth outpacing revenue growth.

Mobile-related costs represent the second largegiescomponent of cost of revenue. As a percentgevenue, mobile service costs
benefitted from a reduction in mobile device cestjch is a result of shipping fewer devices in 2@1@& more favorable average cost per
device. The reduction in shipments stems from atgeercentage of new customers electing to inciadkile services in their package,
primarily due to a reduction in our use of promn#iband other incentives. Additionally, we haverbable to negotiate and achieve more
efficient unit service costs.

Telecommunication cost recoveries are an ongoimgatipnal activity that fluctuate from period torjpel. During 2010,
telecommunication cost recoveries increased $0l®midue to TRRO-related cost recoveries, cosbvedes from negotiated resolutions of
billing disputes with our telecommunication vendacsoss various markets, and performance penattiesved from local telephone

companies.

Selling, General and Administrative and Other Opéirsg Expenses (Dollar amounts in thousand

For the Year Ended December 31, Change from
2010 2009 Previous Periods
% of % of
Dollars Revenue Dollars Revenue Dollars Perceni
Selling, general and administrative (exclusive epciatior
and amortization)
Salaries, wages and benefits (excluding s-basec
compensation $150,20! 33.2%  $136,89¢ 33.1%  $13,30" 9.7%

Shar-based compensatic 15,59 3.4% 15,95¢ 3.9% (363 (2.9%

Marketing cos 3,44( 0.8% 2,95¢ 0.7% 48t 16.4%

Acquisition related (benefit) expen 75& 0.2% — nm 75& nm

Other selling, general and administrat 79,09. 17.5% 72,69¢ 17.€% 6,392 8.8%
Total SG&A $249,08: 55.1%  $228,50¢ 55.2%  $20,57¢ 9.C%
Other operating expense

Depreciation and amortizatic 59,30¢ 13.1% 51,84( 12.5% 7,464 14.4%
Total other operating expens $ 59,30/ 13.1%  $ 51,84( 12.5%  $ 7,46/ 14.4%
Other data

SG&A per average Core Managed Services cust $ 384 $ 41 $ (27 (6.€)%
Average employee 1,814 1,63¢ 175 10.7%

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses arteOOperating ExpenseSelling, general and administrative expenses isee#n
2010 primarily due to increased employee costsdbateased as a percentage of revenue due to dowenission payments, lower shdrase
compensation expense, a decrease in bad debt expeeater overall cost control measures, and govent incentives of approximately $0.9
million attributable to new jobs created during 2@hd 2010. Higher employee costs, which includiries, wages, benefits and other
compensation paid to our direct sales represepttind sales agents, principally relate to thetiaddl employees necessary to staff new
markets and to serve the growth in customers. Total
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selling, general and administrative expenses aldades $1.1 million of additional expenses from mew Cloud Services segment in 2010.

Share-based compensation expense decreased asatpge of revenue and overall from the prior ypamarily related to a lower stock
price in recent years.

Marketing costs have been stable as a percenvehuves over the prior year. In general, our mangetosts increase as we add custol
and expand into new markets.

Acquisition related (benefit) expense includes aoting, legal, consulting and other directly rethggofessional fees associated with our
recent Cloud Services acquisitions.

Other selling, general and administrative expeirsgdade professional fees, outsourced services,ameth other facilities costs,
maintenance, recruiting fees, travel and entertairtmosts, property taxes and bad debt expensang@iease is primarily due to the additior
new and expanded operations needed to keep patéheigrowth in customers. The stability as a pgage of revenue is partially attributable
to improved bad debt expense over the prior year.

Bad debt expense was $7.5 million, or 1.7% of Qdamaged Services revenues in 2010 compared tonfiflidn, or 2.2% of revenues in
2009. This decline is primarily driven by our deased Core Managed Services customer churn rate iagate of bad debts and customer
churn are typically closely related.

Other operating expenses include depreciation enattization. The increase in depreciation and aizetibn over the prior year relates
primarily to 2010 capital expenditures; $0.5 mifliof depreciation and amortization from assets imeduhrough the recent Cloud Services
acquisitions; and, a $0.6 million write-down of etssrelated to the build-out of collocations inlanmed new market prior to our decision in
mid-December 2010 to not expand into this markeGhl.

Operating Loss

We incurred operating losses of $2.9 million and7$4illion in 2010 and 2009, respectively. Substdiytall of the 2010 operating loss
was generated in the fourth quarter, which refléotsincurrence of approximately $1.2 million irstoassociated with our Ethernet conversion
project, $0.8 million of transaction costs from @loud Services acquisitions, and $0.6 million $set write-offs from abandoning a planned
market launch. The remaining fourth quarter 201€rafping loss resulted primarily from the decline€Ciare Managed Services ARPU. The
overall improvement in operating loss in 2010 im@pally attributable to achieving greater scal@ur emerging markets. We had nine
markets with operating income in 2010 comparecdetes markets in 2009. Additionally, the reductiomiobile-related device and service
costs has also contributed to the decreased opgiass in 2010.

Other Income (Expense) and Income Taxes (Dollar anmbs in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31, Change from
2010 2009 Previous Periods
% of % of

Dollars Revenue Dollars Revenug Dollars Percent
Interest incomt $ 2 nm $ 28 nm $ (26) (92.9%
Interest expens (281 (0.1)% (152) nm (129 84.5%
Other income, ne 1,867 0.4% 49¢ 0.1% 1,36¢ 274.%%
Income tax (expense) bene (319 (0.1)% 2,07¢ 0.5% (2,389 (115.%
Total $1,27¢ 0.3% $2,44¢ 0.6% $(1,179) nm
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Interest IncomeWe had insignificant interest income in 2010 basedur decision to shift funds from investment tmsinterest bearing
operating bank accounts. This decision was madausecthe resulting reduction in bank fees was grélaan the amount of interest income
would have earned due to the low rates currently pa our money market investments.

Interest Expensd&.he majority of our interest expense in 2010 an@P2@lates to commitment fees under our Creditlifgcand were
higher in 2010 due to increasing our Credit Facflibom $25.0 million to $40.0 million early in 201@/e had no amounts outstanding undel
Credit Facility during 2010 and 2009.

Other income, netDuring 2010 and 2009, we recognized other incofrl.9 million and $0.5 million, respectively, wehi primarily
relates to adjusting liabilities of our former daptleasing subsidiaries upon the expiration ofouss statutory periods, as discussed in Note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

Income Tax (Expense) Benefit.2010 we recorded income tax expense despiteafavpre-tax loss of $1.3 million due to incomeetax
in states with gross receipts based taxes, whieldae regardless of profit levels, and the writesbtertain deferred tax assets associated with
sharebased transactions (discussed more fully in NaiétBe consolidated financial statements). We rdedran income tax benefit in 2009
a pre-tax loss of $4.3 million in 2009. In 2009, weurred gross receipts based state income taxeelh but, due to the higher loss before
income taxes, they were offset by the effect ofittteme tax benefit for federal and other non-gresgipts based state taxes. Since gross
receipts based taxes are not dependent upon lgfvets-tax income and because we are near breakavepre-tax level, these taxes have a
significant influence on our effective tax rate. the operating results for the markets in thesiestaecome proportionately less significant to
the consolidated results and as consolidated prext@me increases, the impact of these grosspiscleased taxes on our effective tax rate will
decline. The income tax amounts recorded in 20002809 benefitted from reductions in the defergedasset valuation allowance of
approximately $0.6 million in each year. Income ¢éapense for 2010 also included activity relateddquisitions made in 2010.

Segment Data

We monitor and analyze our financial results oegnsent basis for reporting and management purpasés presented in Note 14 to our
consolidated financial statements hereto.

Liquidity and Capital Resources (Dollar amounts inthousands)

At December 31, 2011, we had cash and cash eqnigadé $8.5 million. The available cash and cashivedents are held primarily in o
operating bank accounts.

Change from Previous Perioc

For the Year Ended December 31 Dollars Percent
2011 2010 2009 2011v 201 2010 v 200 2011v 201 2010 v 200
Cash Flows
Provided by operatin
activities $ 75,87 $ 79,14¢ $62,61( $ (3,27Y) $ 16,53¢ (4.1)% 26.4%
Used in investing activitie (78,789 (92,619 (60,729 13,83t (31,890 (14.9% 52.5%
(Used in) provided b
financing activities (14,947 57€ 411 (15,519 16E nm 40.1%
Net (decrease) increase in cash
cash equivalent $(17,857) $(12,899) $ 2,29: $ (4,959 $(15,18¢) 38.5% (662.6)%
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Cash Flows from Operating ActivitieQur operating cash flows result primarily from casbeived from our customers, offset by cash
payments for circuit access fees, employee comgpienggess amounts capitalized related to inteusa software that are reflected as cash uset
in investing activities), and operating leases.daseived from our customers generally correspemasir revenue. Because our credit terms
are typically less than one month, our receivabéie quickly. Changes to our operating cash flbeage historically been driven primarily by
changes in operating income and changes to the @oenps of working capital, including changes tceereable and payable days. Operating
cash flows may fluctuate favorably or unfavorabépending on the timing of significant vendor paytsewhich we may influence depending
on our cash requirements.

Operating cash flows decreased in 2011 compar2@16 primarily due to a greater net loss, resuliim$6.3 million of reduced cash
flows, higher bonus payments of $1.2 million, whéaale paid annually during the first quarter, arab&payment escalations for our facilities
over that of the prior year. As previously discukgbe direct and indirect costs of converting toeEnet technology were a significant factor in
driving our operating and net loss for the yearef@fing cash flows increased during 2010 compar@®09 primarily from increased revenues
along with a higher number of markets that werdeaghg positive operating cash flows and a narrgndfithe losses we were incurring in
earlier stage markets as they made progress toywentigability. Furthermore, collection of accouméeeivable improved in 2010 compared to
2009, resulting in a $5.6 million increase in céelvs. We also experienced cash flow savings fraoreasing our inventory purchases as we
had a lower percentage of new customers electinglenservices in their package.

Cash Flows from Investing ActivitiSur principal cash investments are purchases gfgotp and equipment, which fluctuate depending
on the growth in customers in our existing markets,timing and number of facility and network ditiis needed to expand existing markets
and upgrade our network, enhancements and devetdmosts related to our operational support sysiarosder to offer additional
applications and services to our customers, angéases to the capacity of our data centers asustwroer base and the breadth of our product
portfolio expand.

We continue to invest in the conversion to Ethetaehnology to reduce operating expenses and pdugher bandwidth services to our
customers. We believe that capital efficiency keg advantage of the IP-based network technologiie employ. Our cash purchases of
property and equipment during 2011 included appnaxély $20.1 million related to the copper-basdtkeHEtiet conversion project compared to
$5.7 million in 2010.

We paid $1.2 million in deferred acquisition coresition related to our Cloud Services acquisitiord011 and expect to pay an
additional $4.9 million of contingent consideratietated to these acquisitions in 2012. Additionat the fourth quarter of 2010 we closed
Cloud Services acquisitions and paid closing datesicleration of $30.6 million, net of cash acquired

Cash Flows from Financing Activitie€ash flows from financing activities relate to aityi associated with employee stock option
exercises, vesting of restricted shares, financogls associated with the fourth and fifth amendsenour Credit Facility, and the repurchase
of common stock. We repurchased 1.3 million sh&e$13.0 million in 2011 under the $15 million tephase program authorized by our
Board of Directors in May 2011. No additional stsbhave been repurchased subsequent to DecemizH131,

Overall. We believe that cash on hand, cash generated fp@mating activities, and cash available under aed(® Facility will be
sufficient to fund capital expenditures, operatixgpenses and other operating cash requirementsiatesbwith future growth. Significant cash
payments were made during 2011 that occur on aagnént basis, such as share repurchases anditicguislated consideration. Cash flows
in 2011 were also negatively impacted by capit@lesxitures related to our Ethernet conversion pt@ed decreasing Core Managed Services
ARPU. In 2012 we have begun reducing our transadtioused sales force in order to reinvest in tefmossed on delivering services to
technology-dependent customers, resulting in damagtd $1.0 million in severance and other exiivitytcosts incurred during the first
guarter. We anticipate that these reductions isgrerel will result in increased Free Cash Flowda22
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Near-term cash requirements to settle acquisitideited contingent consideration is likely to nettats funding beyond our cash on hand
and cash flow from operations, therefore requitisgo temporarily draw against our Credit Facilfyrther, while we do not anticipate a need
for additional access to capital or new financiagla from our Credit Facility in the near term, menitor the capital markets and may access
those markets if our business prospects or plaasgehresulting in a need for additional capitalf additional capital required can be obtained
on favorable terms.

CommitmentsThe following table summarizes our commitmentsfad3ecember 31, 2011:

Payments Due by Perioc
(Dollars in thousands)

Less than :

More than
5

Contractual Obligations Total Year 1to 3 Year: 3to 5yearn Years
Operating lease obligations (1) $46,89¢ $ 10,76¢ $ 19,64 $ 12,48¢ $ 3,99¢
Purchase commitments ( 13,18¢ 7,22 5,96¢ — —
Contingent consideration liability (- 4,95( 4,95( — — —
Anticipated interest payments ( 1,54: 30C 60C 60C 43
Total $66,57¢ $ 23,23¢ $ 26,20¢ $ 13,08¢ $ 4,041

(1) We lease office space in several U.S. locati@perating lease amounts include future minimuaséepayments under all our non-
cancelable operating leases with an initial terraxoess of one yee

(2) Purchase commitments represent an estimate offpehase ordeland contractual obligations in the ordinary cowfbusiness fo
which we have not received the goods or servicegefisas minimum lease agreements for customeuitgrérom ILECs.

(3) Represents the contingent consideration liabigtgted to the acquisitions of MaximumASP and Arétee Note 5 to the consolidal
financial statements

(4) Anticipated interest payments primarily represemhmitment fees related to our Credit Facil

We are required under certain contractual obligetim maintain letters of credit. As of DecemberZ111, we had outstanding letters of
credit totaling $1.3 million, which expire at van®dates through May 2018.

Revolving Line of Credit

We are party to a credit agreement with Bank of Acgewhich provides for a $75.0 million securedakning line of credit (or “Credit
Facility”) that is secured by all of the assets of the Compasyf December 31, 2011, $1.3 million of the Gré&ecility was utilized for lettel
of credit, and we had $73.7 million in remaining#ability. The terms of the credit agreement wangended on July 2, 2007, February 24,
2009, March 3, 2010, February 22, 2011 and May0412

On February 22, 2011, we entered into the fourteradment of the credit agreement with Bank of Angeriche amendment increases the
Credit Facility from $40.0 million to $75.0 millioand extends the term to February 22, 2016. Thendment also makes certain modifications
to the interest and fees, including the applicatéegins based on redefined tiers, as well as themitment fee. The amendment also modifies
certain financial covenants. The amendment resubstantially all other stipulations of the oridioeedit agreement. We also entered into the
fifth amendment to our credit agreement on May04,12to allow for up to $50.0 million of common sdaepurchases during the term of the
credit agreement. The amendment also modifiedioditancial covenants. No other significant mochfiions of terms, or changes to our
available borrowing capacity were made under theraiment.
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The following description of the Credit Facilityibfly summarizes the terms and conditions thatnaaéerial to us.

General.The Credit Facility is available to finance workiogpital, capital expenditures and other genengdarate purposes. Within the
Credit Facility we have access to a cash managelinentf credit for up to $5.0 million for cash negement purposes.

Interest and Feed he interest rates applicable to loans under tlegiCFacility are floating interest rates thatpat option, will equal a
London Interbank Offered Rate (or “LIBO rate”) ar alternate base rate plus, in each case, an apf@imargin. The current base rate is a
fluctuating interest rate equal to the higher oftkee prime rate of interest per annum publicly@mted from time to time by Bank of Ameri
as administrative agent, as its prime rate in efieds principal office in New York City; (b) thevernight federal funds rate plus 0.50%; and
(c) the Eurodollar base rate plus 1.0%. The intgresods of the Eurodollar loans are one, twegehor six months, at our option. The amended
applicable margins for LIBO rate loans or alternadse rate loans are 1.75% and 0.75%, respectivedyldition, we are required to pay to
Bank of America a commitment fee for unused comraitta at a per annum rate of 0.40%.

Security.The Credit Facility is secured by all assets of yoloel Communications, LLC (or “LLC”) and is guaraateby Cbeyond, Inc.
(the Parent). All assets of the consolidated eméiyde with the LLC entity. In addition, Cbeyoridg. has no operations other than those
conducted by LLC. Accordingly, all income and célskvs from operations are generated by and belorid € and all assets appearing on the
consolidated financial statements secure the CFediility. In addition, the credit agreement consagertain restrictive covenants that
effectively prohibit us from paying cash dividends.

Covenants and Other MattefBhe Credit Facility requires us to comply with eémntfinancial covenants, including minimum consateti
Adjusted EBITDA, minimum leverage ratio, as detared by our debt divided by Adjusted EBITDA, and inaxm capital expenditures. The
credit agreement also contains certain customaggtige covenants, representations and warranfii@snative covenants, notice provisions,
indemnification and events of default, includingnobe of control, cross-defaults to other debt addijent defaults. As of December 31, 2011
and 2010 there were no outstanding borrowings uthde€redit Facility and we were in compliance wathapplicable covenants.

As of December 31, 2010, $1.3 million of the Crdditility was utilized for letters of credit, angwad $38.7 million in remaining
availability.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements thatdraae reasonably likely to have a current orreitmaterial effect on our financial
condition, results of operations, liquidity, capigapenditures or capital resources.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare consolidated financial statements inraence with GAAP, which require us to make estesand assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitiesmaes and expenses, and related disclosures goosolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. We believe that of our sigaifiaccounting policies, which are described ineNbto the consolidated financial
statements included herein, those discussed belwivied a higher degree of judgment and complextity are therefore considered critical.
While we have used our best estimates based dadtseand circumstances available to us at the, tilifferent estimates reasonably could t
been used in the current period, or changes iatheunting estimates that we used are reason#bly tio occur from period to period which
may have a material impact on the presentation
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of our financial condition and results of operatioAlthough we believe that our estimates, asswngtand judgments are reasonable, they are
based upon information presently available. Actaallts may differ significantly from these estiemtinder different assumptions, judgments
or conditions.

Revenue Recognitio@ur marketing promotions include various rebates@rstomer reimbursements that fall under the scdpesC
605-25,Multiple Arrangementsand ASC 605-50Customer Payments/Incentigseln accordance with these pronouncements, wedelcese
promotions as a reduction in revenue when earngbdébgustomer. When these promotions are earnadiowe we ratably allocate the cost of
honoring the promotions over the underlying prommberiod as a reduction in revenue. ASC 605-50 r@quires that measurement of the
obligation should be based on the estimated numbarstomers that will ultimately earn and claire fromotion. Accordingly, we recognize
the benefit of estimated breakage on customer ptiomowhen such amounts are reasonably estimabks. tine, these breakage estimates
become more refined and become less sensitivelatilitg.

Software Development/e capitalize the salaries and payroll-relatedscofemployees and consultants who devote timieeo t
development of certain internal-use software pitsjéd/e monitor software development projects tauemnghat only those costs relating to
development activities, including; software deségnul configuration, coding, installation, testingdgarallel processing are capitalized.
Determining the phase of software development baeoement that is eligible for capitalization regaijudgment, which may affect the
amount and timing of both the related capitalizatmd subsequent depreciation. If a project catetan enhancement to previously
developed software, we assess whether the enhantenségnificant and creates additional functigyab the software, thus resulting in
capitalization. All other software development soste expensed as incurred. We amortize capitadiaitdlare development costs over
estimated useful lives of the software.

Goodwill. Goodwill, which consists of the excess of the pasghprice over the fair value of identifiable netets of businesses acquired,
is evaluated for impairment on an annual basistengver events or changes in circumstances indicatémpairment may have occurred. We
have chosen October 1 as our annual impairment#st The goodwill impairment test requires judgmcluding the identification of
reporting units, assignment of assets and liagditd reporting units, assignment of goodwill toaring units, and determination of the fair
value of each reporting unit. We test goodwill impairment at the reporting unit level, which wesbaetermined to be our operating
segments. When evaluating goodwill for impairmevs,first compare the book value of the reporting toits estimated fair value. If the fair
value is determined to be less than book valuecarsl step is performed to compute the amount péirment. We estimate fair value of the
applicable reporting unit or units using a combimabf discounted cash flow and market multiple moeiblogies. This represents a level 3 fair
value measurement as defined under ASC Bab,Value Measurements and Disclosurgisce the inputs are not readily observable in the
marketplace. We allocate goodwill to reporting sfitised on the reporting unit expected to berrefit the combination.
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We have assigned all of our goodwill to our Clowh&ces reporting unit. The review for impairmesnbiased, in part, on a discounted
cash flow approach, which requires that we estirhdtee net cash flows, the timing of these castvdl and a discount rate (based upon a
weighted average cost of capital). We discountedukure net cash flows using a weighted averageafacapital of 25.0%. We also assessed
fair value using alternative valuation methods|uding multiples of Adjusted EBITDA and revenue.

As of October 1, 2011, we completed our first ahimaairment test of goodwill and concluded that gaodwill was not impaired as of
that date and we believe that no events have atgubsequent to that date that would impact oalysis. As of October 1, 2011, the
estimated fair value exceeded its carrying valuenbye than 10%. Should events occur that wouldethes fair value to decline below its
carrying value, we may be required to record a cash charge to earnings during the period in wtiiehimpairment is determined.

There are many assumptions and estimates useditbetly impact the results of impairment testimgluding an estimate of future
expected revenue, earnings and cash flows, andutiscates applied to such expected cash flowsdardo estimate fair value. Changes in
these estimates and assumptions could materid#lgtahe estimated fair value of an asset.

Allowance for Doubtful Accountg/e have established an allowance for doubtful actsotihrough charges to selling, general and
administrative expenses. The allowance is estadiffased upon the amount we ultimately expectlteatdrom customers and is estimated
based on a number of factors, including a specifgtomer’s ability to meet its financial obligat®to us, as well as general factors, such as the
length of time the receivables are past due, higtbcollection experience and the general econ@nigronment. Customer accounts are
typically written off against the allowance appmmately sixty to ninety days after disconnectiortaf customers’ service, when our direct
collection efforts cease. Generally, customer agtare considered delinquent and the service wiissiion process begins when they are
forty-five days in arrears. If the financial condit of our customers were to deteriorate, resulitingn impairment of their ability to make
payments, or if economic conditions worsened, &ufthl allowances may be required in the future awtdould have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements. If we made dbffiéjudgments or utilized different estimatesday period, material differences in the
amount and timing of our expenses could result.

Share-Based Compensatidon.accordance with ASC 718tock Compensatigrwe account for shardahsed compensation expense u
the fair value recognition provisions of ASC 718a8e-based compensation expense is measuredgttitalate based on the fair value of the
award as calculated by the lattice binomial optoicing model and is recognized as expense ora@htrline basis over the requisite service
period, after estimating the effect of forfeitur@ption valuation models involve input assumptitivet are subjective, and hence, may result in
an option value that is not equal to that of thievalue observed in a market transaction betweeilliag buyer and willing seller.

Additionally, estimated forfeiture rates are basadistorical data, and may not be indicative afife forfeiture behavior.
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Valuation Allowances for Deferred Tax Ass&te provide for the effect of income taxes on ooaficial position and results of
operations in accordance with ASC 7#t;ome TaxesUnder this accounting pronouncement, income xg@erse is recognized for the amc
of income taxes payable or refundable for the ecuryear and for the change in net deferred taxtassdiabilities resulting from events that
recorded for financial reporting purposes in aatéht reporting period than recorded in the tadrretWe made assumptions, judgments and
estimates to determine our current provision fapme taxes and also our deferred tax assets dnilitiks and any valuation allowance to be
recorded against our net deferred tax assets.

Our judgments, assumptions and estimates relaitieet current provision for income tax take into@mt current tax laws, our
interpretation of current tax laws and allowablduldions. Changes in tax law or our interpretatibtex laws could materially impact the
amounts provided for income taxes in our consaéiddinancial position and consolidated resultspdrations. Our assumptions, judgments
and estimates relative to the value of our netrdedietax asset take into account predictions ofitheunt and category of future taxable
income. Actual consolidated operating results &edunderlying amount and category of income or ile$sture years could render our current
assumptions, judgments and estimates of recovenabléeferred taxes inaccurate, thus materiallyactipg our consolidated financial position
and consolidated results of operations.

Our valuation allowance for our net deferred taseass designed to take into account the unceytauntrounding the realization of our |
operating losses and our other deferred tax assets.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
For information about recently issued accountigadards, refer to Note 4 to our consolidated fiferstatements.

Iltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31, 2011, the majority of our casheld in operating bank accounts. The impact orfudure interest income of future
changes in investment yields will depend largelyoantotal investments. Additionally in the neamtewe may draw on our Credit Facility,
which may increase our sensitivity to interest rigk.
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ltem 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementariata

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
On Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiarieg’ (@ompany”) internal control over financial refgog as of December 31, 2011,
based on criteria established in Internal Contraitedgrated Framework issued by the Committee of §grimg Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). The Company’s manant is responsible for maintaining effective iing control over financial reporting,
and for its assessment of the effectiveness offiateontrol over financial reporting included ietaccompanying Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporti@gr responsibility is to express an opinion om @ompanys internal control over financi
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri@d@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigifenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness et@st#ig and evaluating the design and operatifegtdfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstanceseliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaagsuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company’s internal control over financial repogiincludes those policies and procedures thgté€ftain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteaffainauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lrareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtwver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiaries rrzined, in all material respects, effective intéantrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2011, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of the Company asadblger 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consadiddatements of operations,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each ofttiree years in the period ended December 31, @bttfe Company, and our report dated
March 7, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinionettuer

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 7, 2012
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
On the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiaries (tlerjiany”) as of December 31,
2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statsméoperations, stockholders' equity, and clshsf for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2011. These financitments are the responsibility of the Company'sagament. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statemersiscban our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiqUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &madbtain reasonable assurance about whethdintiecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on alasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting principged and significant estimates made by managenentelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all materégpects, the consolidated financial
position of Cbeyond, Inc. and Subsidiaries at Ddmem31, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated resitteeir operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period endecebBéer 31, 2011, in conformity with U.S. generallgepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
Company’s internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2011, based on criteria estadiin Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@imgtions of the Treadway Commission and our tegeted March 7, 2012 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 7, 2012
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CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands, except par value amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable, gro
Less: Allowance for doubtful accour
Accounts receivable, n
Prepaid expenst
Inventory, ne
Restricted cas
Deferred tax asset, n
Other asset
Total current asse
Property and equipment, grc
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza
Property and equipment, r
Goodwiill
Intangible assel
Less: Accumulated amortizatic
Intangible assets, n
Restricted cas
Non-current deferred tax asset, |
Other nor-current assel
Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued telecommunications co:
Deferred customer reven
Other accrued liabilitie
Current portion of contingent considerat
Total current liabilities
Other nor-current liabilities
Contingent consideratic
Stockholder’ equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 50,000 shares am#thr28,913 and 29,577 shares issued

outstanding, respective

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 15,000 shardwéméed; no shares issued and outstan

Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes.
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As of
December 31 December 31
2011 2010

$ 8,521 $ 26,37
27,47¢ 27,23¢
(2,608 (2,359
24,87 24,88¢
7,447 9,66°
1,772 2,24:
1,29¢ —

45C 93¢

562 70€

44 ,91¢ 64,80¢
486,27 421,17
(325,80 (270,48))
160,47( 150,69:
19,81« 20,53
9,60¢ 10,391
(1,50%) (24¢€)
8,102 10,14¢

— 1,29¢
4,25¢ 8,06¢
3,51¢ 2,41¢

$ 241,07: $ 257,96
$ 14,46 $ 15,19
16,54¢ 16,94¢
11,36( 10,95¢
20,92¢ 24,48¢
4,927 78¢
68,221 68,37
8,85¢ 10,43¢

— 6,03t

28¢ 29¢
311,37( 299,50:
(147,672 (126,67f)
163,98’ 173,12:

$ 241,07: $ 257,96
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CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Revenue:
Customer revenu $477,85: $444,84¢ $406,47.
Terminating access reven 7,56¢ 7,117 7,29¢
Total revenu 485,42. 451,96! 413,77:
Operating expenses
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and gization of $39,439, $34,843 al
$31,838, respectively, shown separately bel 161,30¢ 146,50 138,09:
Selling, general and administrative (exclusive @biciation and amortization of $30,45
$24,461 and $20,002, respectively, shown separhtdtyw) 257,741 249,08 228,50t
Depreciation and amortizatic 69,89" 59,30« 51,84(
Total operating expens 488,94 454,89 418,43¢
Operating los! (3,519 (2,928 (4,66¢)
Other income (expense)
Interest incom: — 2 28
Interest expens (500 (281) (152)
Other income, ne 1,217 1,867 49€
Loss before income tax (2,80¢) (1,340 (4,299
Income tax (expense) bene (5,176 (314 2,074
Net loss $ (7,989 $ (1,659 $ (2,220
Net loss per common share
Basic $ (0.29) $ (0.0€) $ (0.0¢)
Diluted $ (0.29) $ (0.06) $ (0.09)
Weighted average common shares outstandin
Basic 29,22« 29,36¢ 28,75:
Diluted 29,22« 29,36¢ 28,75

See accompanying notes.
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CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands)

Common Total

Stock Additional Accumulated Stockholders’
Par Paid-in
Shares Value Capital Deficit Equity
Balance at December 31, 2008 28,43t 284 266,05: (122,807) 143,53!
Exercise of stock optior 22¢ 2 1,23¢ — 1,237
Issuance of employee benefit plan st 165 2 3,38¢ — 3,38t
Shar-based compensation from options to emplo — — 7,24¢ — 7,24¢
Shar-based compensation from restricted shares to ereps — — 6,031 — 6,031
Shar-based compensation for r-employees — — 217 — 217
Vesting of restricted shar 20C 2 2 — —
Common stock withheld as payment for withholdingegupon thi
vesting of restricted shar (55) — (81€) — (81€)
Tax effect of shar-based paymen — — (20 — (20
Net loss — — — (2,220 (2,220
Balance at December 31, 2C 28,97:¢ $29C $283,33' $(125,02) $ 158,60!
Exercise of stock optior 238 2 2,094 — 2,09¢
Issuance of employee benefit plan st 83 1 2,317 — 2,31¢
Shar-based compensation from options to employ — — 4,23¢ — 4,23¢
Shar-based compensation from restricted shares to eregs — — 8,82¢ — 8,82¢
Sharw-based compensation for r-employees — — 28¢ — 28¢
Vesting of restricted shar 38¢€ 4 (4) — —
Common stock withheld as payment for withholdingegupon the
vesting of restricted shar (10C) (@) (1,310 — (1,31
Write-off of deferred tax asset for non-deductitthere-based
compensatiol — — (28¢) — (28¢€)
Net loss — — — (1,659 (1,659
Balance at December 31, 2C 29,571 $29¢€ $299,50: $(126,67¢) $ 173,12:
Exercise of stock optior 35 — 31€ — 31€
Issuance of employee benefit plan st 158 2 2,54 — 2,54¢
Shar«-based compensation from options to emplo — — 3,544 — 3,54¢
Shar-based compensation from restricted shares to emaps — — 7,50¢ — 7,50¢
Shar-based compensation for r-employees — — (150 — (150
Vesting of restricted shar 565 6 (6) — —
Common stock withheld as payment for withholdingetupon the
vesting of restricted shar (153 2 (1,887%) — (1,889
Shares repurchased under our publicly announceé siaurchase
program (1,264 (13 — (13,019 (13,025
Net loss — — — (7,989 (7,989
Balance at December 31, 2C 28,91: $28¢ $311,37( $(147,67) $ 163,98

See accompanying notes.
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CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31

2011
Operating Activities:
Net loss $ (7,98¢)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 69,89¢
Deferred taxe 4,30z
Provision for doubtful accoun 6,54(
Other nor-cash income, ne (1,217
Non-cash shar-based compensatic 14,14¢
Tax effect of sha-based paymen —
Change in acquistic-related contingent considerati (46€)
Changes in operating assets and liabilil
Accounts receivabl (6,527)
Inventory 471
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,36:
Other asset (74%)
Accounts payabl (72€)
Other liabilities (4,189
Net cash provided by operating activit 75,87«
Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipm (77,609
Acquisition of MaximumASP, net of cash acquil —
Acquisition of Aretta, net of cash acquir —
Additional acquisition consideratic (2,180
Increase in restricted ca —
Net cash used in investing activiti (78,782
Financing Activities:
Taxes paid on vested restricted shi (1,88%)
Financing issuance cos (34¢)
Tax effect of sha-based paymen —
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 31¢€
Repurchase of common sta (13,029
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (14,949
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivake (17,857)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 26,37
Cash and cash equivalents at end of peric $ 8,521
Supplemental disclosur
Interest paic $ 29t
Income taxes paid, net of refun $ 654
Non-cash purchases of property and equipn $ 87

See accompanying notes.
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2010
$ (1,659

59,30+

(586)
7,45¢

(1,867)
15,59:

22

(4,687)
437
(1,736)
641
1,644
4,581
79,14¢

(61,967)
(28,31))
(2,28¢)
2
(92,61¢)

(1,31))
(209)

2,09€
57€
(12,899
39,26°

$ 26,37

$ 19t
$ 891
$ 87C

2009
$ (2,220

51,84(

(2,73))
9,05¢

(49
15,95:
10

(10,26¢)
1,351
(1,059
(177)
1,32¢
24
62,61(

(60,65()

79
(60,729

(816)
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CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2011
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

1. Description of Business

Cbeyond, Inc. (or “we”, “our”, “us” or the “Compal)y a managed information technology (or “IT”) acdmmunications service
provider, incorporated on March 28, 2000 in Delavar

Our services include cloud applications such agddicft® Exchange, data center infrastructure aswacse cloud private branch
exchange (or “PBX”) phone systems, Microsoft SQkvBe® , Metro Ethernet, Broadband Internet AccessiltiMProtocol Label Switching,
Virtual Private Networking, mobile voice and datgprmation security, local and long distance vaeevices, administration management and
professional services to migrate and manage custenwronments.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tle®ants of Cbeyond, Inc. and its wholly-owned sdiasies. All intercompany and
intersegment balances and transactions have bieginakd in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting priresplor “GAAP”) requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfinetttae amounts reported in the financial statet®@nd accompanying notes. Actual
results may differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

In our December 31, 2010 consolidated financidkstents, we have increased our selling, generahdministrative expense by $755 to
reflect amounts previously classified as transaatiosts. We reclassified these amounts in our gear’s consolidated financial statements to
conform to our current year presentation.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, services are provided or dalativery has occurred, the fee is
fixed or determinable, and collectability is reaably assured. Revenue derived from monthly recgrtmarges for local voice and data serv
and other recurring services is billed in advanug @eferred until earned. Revenues derived fromiges that are not included in monthly
recurring charges, including long distance, exchssges over monthly rate plans, and terminatingssfees from other carriers are
recognized monthly as services are provided areibih arrears.

We offer customers certain wélassed services that are hosted on our technoldgstructure. Customers do not take actual licenske
related software applications. We also offer clbaded services such as virtual and physical seavetsloud PBX. The related revenue is
recognized on a monthly subscription basis, oiigitdine, over the respective periods in which cust@amese the service. Customers who €
to receive mobile service must purchase the mdiaitelsets directly from us. Mobile handset revesuedognized at the time of shipment
when title to the handset passes to the custontkisaret of any handset discounts offered to tlsotner. The net handset revenue is typically
less than our cost of the handsets, and we rec@gjniz loss at the time of shipment to the custofer contracts that involve the bundling of
services, revenue is allocated to the servicesdbaiseheir relative selling price, subject to teguirement that revenue recognized is limited to
the amounts already received from the customeratfgahot contingent upon the delivery of additigmalducts or services to the customer in
the future. Mobile handset revenue totaled $1,82%77 and $4,454, or 0.4%, 0.6%, and 1.1% of tetatnues, in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.
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CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

We recognize revenues and cost of revenues onsa gasis for certain taxes assessed by governnzerkadrities that are imposed on
and concurrent with specific revenue-producingdeations between us and our customers. Thesedagesurcharges primarily include
universal service fund charges and totaled $12$92,242 and $9,963 in 2011, 2010 and 2009, reispéct

If we collect revenue for customer installationvéees, it is deferred along with a portion of thetallation costs, up to the amount of
installation revenue collected. The deferred itetiain revenue and deferred installation costs@regnized over the term of the customer
contract.

We offer certain marketing promotions in the forfivarious customer rebates and reimbursementswhaécognize as reductions of
revenue over the period in which they are earneg réfer to unclaimed rebates and reimbursemeritsreakage”and estimate future breake
rates based on historical experience. We reconah@tions net of estimated breakage to estimatertra@iat of promotions that will be earned
and claimed by customers. When we lack sufficiéstbhical experience to estimate breakage we rettwske promotions as a reduction to
revenue at their maximum amounts. We record estidhlteakage once we gain sufficient historical eepee and adjust estimated breakage
rates as we accumulate additional historical d2te@nges in estimated breakage rates resultedipd@® unfavorable impact in 2010 and a
$473 favorable impact in 2009. Changes in estimbtedkage rates did not have a significant impa20il1.

Our customer contracts require our customers tagrayination fees if they terminate their servipes-maturely. We recognize
termination fees as revenue upon collection frostamers.

Accounts Receivable and the Allowance for Doubitdounts

Accounts receivable are comprised of gross amanwgsced to customers plus accrued revenue, whaphessents earned but unbilled
revenue at the balance sheet date. The gross aingoited includes pass-through taxes and fees;hwdie recorded as liabilities at the time
they are billed. Deferred customer revenue repteshe amounts billed to customers in advance buyet earned.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is establigh@sied upon the amount we ultimately expect to coliem customers and is estimated
based on a number of factors, including custonadgity to meet their financial obligations to @s well as general factors, such as length of
time the receivables are past due, historical cidla experience, customer churn rates and thergke@eonomic environment. Customer
accounts are typically written off against the a#lmce approximately sixty to ninety days after distection of the customers’ service, when
our direct collection efforts cease. Customer antoare generally considered delinquent and theécgedisconnection process begins when a
customer is forty-five days in arrears.

The following table summarizes the change in olamadnce for doubtful accounts for the years endeddbnber 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
(in thousands):

Balance at Bad Debt
Beginning of
Less Balance at
Year Expense Deductions (1 End of Year
2011 $ 2,35¢ $ 6,54( $ (6,286 $ 2,60¢
2010 2,861 $7,45¢ $ (7,979 2,35¢
2009 2,37¢ 9,05: (8,560 2,867

(1) Represents accounts written off during the pergsd kecoveries of accounts previously written
Bad debt expense totaled 1.3%, 1.7% and 2.2%yehtee, in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consists of bank depdsits€onsider all highly liquid investments withiginal maturities of three months or
less when acquired to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash

Some vendors providing services to us requirerettécredit that may be drawn in the event we oanmeet our obligations to the
vendor. We are required to maintain cash or casfvelgnts with the bank in order to avoid fees aigded with our letters of credit, but are not
legally required to do so. Historically, we haveimtained cash equivalents in the form of money reflinds with the bank at a dollar amount
equal to the letters of credits outstanding anceheot intended to use these funds within the neelvie months for any other purpose.
Therefore, these funds have historically been cmed restricted cash and classified as a nonsiuasset.

During the first quarter of 2012 we withdrew théseds. As such, we have classified such amounscasrent asset as of December 31,
2011.

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of new and refurbidmeobile handsets. We state our inventories alotiver of cost, using the first-in, first-
out method, or market. The cost of mobile handsétgcluded in cost of revenue upon shipment tastamer. Shipping and handling costs
incurred in conjunction with the sale of inventamg also included as an element of cost of revenue.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and dafed, once placed in service, over estimatedulieés using the straight-line
method. Leasehold improvements are amortized ¢nestiorter of the life of the lease or the duratibtheir useful life to us. Repair and
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Weepayn equipment maintenance costs in advancer umgléi-year maintenance contracts,
which are included in current and non-current assetd amortize these costs to expense over tineofethe maintenance contract.

Network engineering costs incurred during the dewelent phase of our networks are capitalized aspg@roperty and equipment and
recorded as construction-in progress until theqmtsjare completed and placed into service.

We capitalize certain internal-use software develept costs. For the years ended December 31, 2010,and 2009, we capitalized
$17,923, $17,068 and $12,447, respectively, assacigith these software development efforts. Toests are generally amortized to expense
over a period of three years depending on the Ukfefwf the related asset.

We routinely offer certain programs to our custosnghereby we will directly pay third party venddes the costs of installing hardware
necessary to provide service at the customer’'sitotaVe capitalize these costs and classify themedwork equipment. During the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, $2,5002G2nd $2,954 of vendor installation program ces&se capitalized as network
equipment, respectively.
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CBEYOND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the liability moet, which requires us to recognize deferred inctaressets and liabilities for
temporary differences between the financial repgréind tax basis of recorded assets and liabiktigsthe expected benefits of net operating
loss and credit carryforwards. Deferred incomeassets are reduced by a valuation allowancesfritare likely than not that some portion or
all of the deferred income tax assets will notdsdired. We evaluate the likelihood that we willdige to utilize our deferred income tax assets
and adjust our valuation allowance, if necessary.

We recognize the benefit of uncertain tax positimhgn the position taken or expected to be takentax return is more likely than not
(i.e., a likelihood of more than fifty percent) lodéing sustained upon examination by tax authorife®cognized tax position is then measured
at the largest amount of benefit that is greatan tifty percent likely of being realized upon oiite settlement. As of December 31, 2011 and
2010, we do not have any significant unrecogniagdoenefits.

We recognize interest and penalties accrued retatadrecognized tax benefits as components ofrmame tax provision. We do not
have any interest and penalties accrued, as ofrbleee31, 2011 and 2010, related to unrecognizeteagfits.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill, which consists of the excess of the pasghprice over the fair value of identifiable n&etets of businesses acquired, is
evaluated for impairment on an annual basis or whenevents or changes in circumstances indicatarttpairment may have occurred. We
have chosen October 1 as our annual impairmendi&st The goodwill impairment test requires judgimincluding the identification of
reporting units, assignment of assets and liagditd reporting units, assignment of goodwill toaring units, and determination of the fair
value of each reporting unit. We test goodwill iimpairment at the reporting unit level, which wevbaetermined to be our operating
segments. When evaluating goodwill for impairmevd,first compare the book value of the reporting tmits estimated fair value. If the fair
value is determined to be less than book valuecarsl step is performed to compute the amount péirment. We estimate fair value of the
applicable reporting unit or units using a comhbrabf discounted cash flow and market multiple meelologies. This represents a level 3 fair
value measurement as defined under ASC,820r Value Measurements and Disclosurgace the inputs are not readily observable in the
marketplace. We allocate goodwill to reporting sifiised on the reporting unit expected to berrefih the combination.

We have assigned all of our goodwill to our Clowh&ces reporting unit. The review for impairmesnbiased, in part, on a discounted
cash flow approach, which requires that we estirhdtee net cash flows, the timing of these castvdl and a discount rate (based upon a
weighted average cost of capital). We discountedukure net cash flows using a weighted averageafacapital of 25.0%. We also assessed
fair value using alternative valuation methods|udag multiples of Adjusted EBITDA and revenue.

Intangible assets, including developed technolagyprocess development, customer relationships;aoompete agreements and trade names
arising principally from acquisitions, are recordsaost and then amortized to operating expensetbeir estimated useful lives.

Impairment and Other Losses on L-Lived Assets

We evaluate our lontived assets used in operations (primarily propartgt equipment) and intangible assets subject totaation whel
events or changes in circumstances indicate tleadsbets might be
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impaired. If our review indicates that the carryiredue of an asset will not be recoverable, baged comparison of the carrying value of the
asset to the net undiscounted future cash flovesintipairment will be measured by comparing theyiagrvalue of the asset to the fair value.

Fair value will be determined based on quoted mar&kies, discounted cash flows or appraisals.réiew is at the lowest level for which
there are identifiable cash flows that are largetiependent of the cash flows of other assets.

We occasionally replace equipment and softwaretadwdsolescence and upgrade before the end dfigisally estimated useful life and
incur losses on the remaining net book value. Witaoh, we incur losses on the remaining net boalki@ of our equipment that we are unable
to recover from former customers. This equipmesides at customer locations to enable connecti@uitaelecommunications network. These
losses are recorded as additional depreciatioraaraitization expense in cost of revenue and totdB894, $2,667 and $2,235 for the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respsctivel

Marketing Costs

We expense marketing costs, including advertisisghese costs are incurred. Such costs amounggaptoximately $2,739, $3,440 and
$2,955 during 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subjectasignificant concentrations of credit risk consiktrade accounts receivable, which are
generally unsecured, and cash and cash equiva@utsisk is mitigated by our accounts receivatdanb diversified among a large number of
customers with relatively low average balancesesgated by both geography and industry type. Owemees and receivables are primarily
concentrated among small business customers amglagducally in the cities in which we operate owr€Managed Services.

Our cash and cash equivalents are concentratgetirmiing bank accounts. We believe these invesshienit the risk of loss of principa

Fair Value

The carrying amount reflected in the consolidateldce sheets for cash and cash equivalentsctedtdash, accounts receivable and
accounts payable equals or approximates their céspdair values due to their short maturitieseTdontingent consideration liability is also
recorded at fair value.

Contingencies

We accrue for contingent obligations, includingraated legal costs, when the obligation is probalieé the amount is reasonably
estimable. As facts concerning contingencies bedamg/n, we reassess our position and make appte@éjustments to the financial
statements.

Share-Based Compensation

Share-based compensation cost is measured atahedate based on the fair value of the award singlcognized as expense straight-
line, less the effect of estimated forfeitures,rae period in which the entire grant vests.

Share Repurchases

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we repsaachl,264 shares of our common stock for $13,888nthe $15,000 repurchase
program authorized by our Board of Directors in N 1. As of the date of this
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filing, we have repurchased no additional sharesuofcommon stock subsequent to December 31, Bddurchased shares are retired and no
longer issued and outstanding, but remain authdshares.

3. Earnings per Share
Basic and Diluted Net (Loss) Income per Share

We calculate basic (loss) income per share by wigidet (loss) income by the weighted average nurabshares of common stock
outstanding for the period. Our diluted net (Idsgpme per share is calculated in a similar marmgrincludes the effect of dilutive common
equivalent shares outstanding during the yearh&ektent any common equivalent shares from stptikres and other common stock
equivalents are anti-dilutive, they are excludedirfithe computation of dilutive (loss) income peargh We were in a net loss position for the
year ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, irgsiritno difference between basic loss per shadeddluted loss per shar

The following table summarizes our basic and ddutess) income per share calculations (in thousaexicept per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Net (loss) incomt $(7,984) $(1,659) $(2,22(
Basic weighted average common shares outstal 29,22+ 29,36¢ 28,75
Effect of dilutive securitie — — —
Diluted weighted average common shares outstar 29,22¢ 29,36¢ 28,75:
Basic (loss) income per common sh $ (0.29) $ (0.06) $ (0.0¢)
Diluted (loss) income per common sh $ (0.27) $ (0.0¢) $ (0.0¢)

Securities that were not included in the diluteti(fass) income per share calculations becausewtteeg anti-dilutive, inclusive of
unexercised stock options and unvested restri¢tet ¢see Note 12 to the consolidated financidkstants), are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Anti-dilutive shares 5,13 5,22( 4,98t

4. Accounting Standards
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (or “FASB”) approved for issuance AccountBigndard Update (or “ASU”)
2009-13, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Delal#es (currently within the scope of Accountingr8iards Codification (or “ASC”)
Subtopic 605-25). This update provides principtesallocating sales consideration among multipks¥eint revenue arrangements with an
entity’s customers, allowing more flexibility in identifig and accounting for separate deliverables undarrmngement. The update introdt
an estimated selling price method for valuing tleenents of a bundled arrangement if vendor-speobjective evidence or third-party
evidence of selling price is not available and digantly expands related disclosure requiremews.adopted ASU 2009-13 on January 1,
2011 on a prospective basis, and the adoptionatitiave any effect on our consolidated financialeshents.

In September 2011, FASB approved for issuance A&1128, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (ASC 350). This update allowseatity
to first assess qualitative factors to determinetivér it is necessary to
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perform the two-step quantitative goodwill impaimbéest. Under these amendments, an entity woultdeoequired to calculate the fair value
of a reporting unit unless the entity determinesdu on a qualitative assessment, that it is niagly than not that its fair value is less than its
carrying amount. The implementation of this guidada not have any impact on the consolidated firdstatements as of December 31, -
as we chose to perform the quantitative annual wdbidhpairment test on October 1, 2011.

5. Acquisitions

On November 3, 2010, we acquired substantiallpfaihe net assets of privately-held MaximumASP, L.MaximumCOLO, LLC, and
Maximum Holdings, LLC (collectively known as “MaximASP”). MaximumASP is a cloud server and dedicétesting provider that
delivers its services, including managed virtuavses and physical servers, over the Internet talldousiness customers throughout the world.
On October 29, 2010, we acquired 100% of the ondlitg voting stock of privately-held Aretta Commeetions, Inc. (or “Aretta”). Aretta
offers a cloud servdvased PBX solution to small businesses throughautviorld. Our purchase of MaximumASP and Arettaaexis our entr
into the high growth cloud services market andvedithe expansion of our product portfolio of IT\dees into our small mid-sized business
customer base. It also enables us to serve a yexagtaphic opportunity outside our existing 14-éitgtprint. As a result of these acquisitions,
we launched the Cloud Services segment in late.2010

The acquisition-date fair value of the consideratimnsferred to the shareholders (or “sellers'MakimumASP totaled approximately
$34,031, which consisted of cash consideratior?8#91, exclusive of $94 of cash acquired, andisieke of $28,411 paid on the date of
closing, $380 paid in February 2011, and contingensideration of $5,240. During the second quat@011, we adjusted the acquisition-
date estimated fair value for the contingent cagrsition recognized for MaximumASP. The effect a$ tlevision was a $631 reduction to the
contingent consideration liability and goodwill. Vilso amended the asset purchase agreement witimMaASP to clarify certain terms of
the agreement. Among other things, the amendmeisied the 2011 earnout revenue achievement ran§&0p800 to $11,400 to a range of
$13,000 to $16,000. This range includes certaiemae components that were not considered in tigghatiagreement. The amendment did not
alter the total eligible contingent consideratioritie sellers of MaximumASP of $5,400, nor didt¢athe contingent consideration payment
date of March 31, 2012. The effect of this amendmoerour financial statements was not signific&®atsed on the revenue level that was
achieved in 2011, we are required to pay the se81ér150 by March 31, 2012 under the contingensidenation arrangement.

The acquisition-date fair value of the consideratimnsferred to the sellers of Aretta totaled agimately $4,027, which consisted of
cash consideration of $2,465, exclusive of $17@ash acquired, and contingent consideration ofé®l,Buring the second and fourth quarters
of 2011, we made cash payments of $400 and $46Pectvely, to the former shareholders of Arettarupchievement of product developrr
milestones. Based on the revenue level that wasaathin 2011, we are required to pay the sell8@%y March 31, 2012 under the
contingent consideration arrangement.

We record the contingent consideration liabilityeatimated fair value. The fair value of the cogéint consideration is estimated by
applying the income approach and is based on ggnifinputs that are not observable in the maregtesenting a level three measuremer
defined under ASC 82@air Value Measurements and DisclosujeKey assumptions include the discount rate reprgive of the time valt
of money for the period to the settlement date,thedorobability-adjusted likelihood of milestoneh@&vement and revenue achievement in
calendar year 2011, the period in which the comtmgonsideration is measured. In addition, cegallers of MaximumASP and Aretta
became employees of Cbeyond, Inc. upon acquisiéiod,hence the total contingent considerationlitglis payable to current and former
employees who previously worked for these acquémties.
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During the third quarter of 2011, we finalized theasurement and allocation of the total considmmaif identifiable assets and liabiliti
The following table summarizes the fair valueshaf &ssets acquired and liabilities assumed.

MaximumASP Aretta Total
Current assets $ 17¢ $ 18¢ $ 362
Property, plant, and equipme 9,80: 122 9,92t
Identified intangible asse 8,20( 2,19 10,39
Total identifiable assets acquir 18,18: 2,50z 20,68¢
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 1,38¢ 15C 1,53¢
Deferred revenu 58C 33 613
Deferred tax liability — 92(C 92C
Total liabilities assume 1,96¢ 1,102 3,071
Net identifiable assets acquir 16,21« 1,39¢ 17,61
Goodwill 17,18¢ 2,62¢ 19,81«
Net assets acquire $  33,40( $4,027 $37,42]

The following table summarizes changes to our gaolbdwd total contingent consideration liabilityufgent and non-current portions):

Contingent
Consideration

Gooduwil Liability
December 31, 2009 $ — $ —
Acquisition date purchase price allocat 20,531 (6,802)
Fair value adjustmen — (22)
December 31, 201 $20,531 $ (6,829
Acquisition date related purchase adjustm:
Contingent consideratic (631) 631
Income ta-related adjustmet (92 —
Contingent consideration pa — 80C
Fair value adjustments ( — 46€
December 31, 201 $19,81¢ $ (4,929

(8) Fair value adjustments primarily relate to deerease in the revenue level that was achieveeruhd MaximumASP contingent
consideration arrangement and is recognized threatlimg, general and administrative co

Goodwill has been assigned to our Cloud Servicgsrtig unit, and is primarily attributable to exped synergies unique to our sales
marketing channels that we believe provides usepetitive advantage in the market we serve. Allgbedwill related to the MaximumASP
acquisition is deductible for income tax purpos$es. Aretta, none of the goodwill is deductible flocome tax purposes.

Pro forma Reporting and Transaction Costs

The results of operations of both MaximumASP anettarhave been included in our consolidated restilbperations from their
respective acquisition dates. Our results inclutl@%l of revenue and $65 of net income for the geded December 31, 2010 from these
acquisitions.
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The following represents our pro forma consolidatadnue and net loss for the years ending Dece81heér010 and 2009 as if
MaximumASP and Aretta had been acquired as of Jgriy£2010 and 2009, respectively. These amouwtade pre-acquisition results of
MaximumASP and Aretta and reflect additional dejatian and amortization, and consequential taxct$feas if the fair value of the acquired
assets had been recognized at the beginning ofreaphctive period (unaudited).

Year ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Revenue $ 461,99: $ 424,49:
Net loss $ (2,649 $ (3,56)

All transaction costs associated with the acquoisgihave been charged to selling, general and &tnative expense as incurred. For the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we inciiedl and $755 in total transaci-related costs, respectively.

6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The following table provides information regardiogr amortizable intangible assets as of Decembge?(®11.

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Gross Accumulated Net
Useful Life Carrying Carrying

Amortizable intangible assets Range (years Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Customer relationshir 10 7,77C (90€) 6,86¢ 7,77C (230 7,64(

In-process development ( — — — — 78¢ — 78€

Developed technolog 3-4 1,572 (478 1,094 1,572 (207) 1,471

Trade nam« 2-3 204 (86) 11€ 204 (12) 192

Non-compete: 2 63 (37) 26 63 (5) 58
Total $9,60¢ $ (1,507 $8,107 $10,39° $ (24€)  $10,14¢

(a) Development completed and placed into service iz

Customer relationships are derived from the MaxirA@R acquisition and were assigned based on thatatuof single and multi-year
customer contracts that are subject to extens@ngwal, or termination. In estimating the fair \eabf these assets, we have assumed rene
these contracts at a rate consistent with MaximuPRig8istorical experience.

Amortization expense on intangible assets was $1f@5the year ended December 31, 2011. Intangitdets are recorded at cost anc
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estéd lives. The weighted-average useful life oftadl identifiable intangible assets is 8.8 years.
As of December 31, 2011, amortization expense tamgible assets for the next five years is expetdut as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount
2012 $1,28¢
2013 1,22
2014 1,06
2015 777
2016 777
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As of October 1, 2011, we completed our first amimgairment test of goodwill and concluded that gaodwill was not impaired as of
that date and we believe that no events have atgubsequent to that date that would impact calysis. As of October 1, 2011, the
estimated fair value exceeded its carrying valuenbye than 10%. Should events occur that wouldecthes fair value to decline below its
carrying value, we may be required to record a cash charge to earnings during the period in wtiiehmpairment is determined.

7. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of:

Year Ended December 31

Useful Lives 2011 2010
(In years)
Land $ 67% $ 67¢
Building 25 5,50( 5,50(
IRU (a) 20 1,62¢ 1,62¢
Network equipmen 2-7 275,34¢ 236,93
Leasehold improvemen 3-1C 28,06¢ 27,58¢
Computers and softwa 2-5 148,72: 121,30¢
Furniture and fixture 5-7 7,90¢ 7,35¢
Constructio-in progress 18,42% 20,18¢
Property and equipment, grc 486,27: 421,17:
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (325,807) (270,487
Property and equipment, r $ 160,47( $ 150,69:

(&) We purchase network capacity under |-term contracts, typically 20 years, for the indefbke right of use (¢“IRU”) of fiber network
infrastructure owned by othel

As a result of our acquisitions and our ongoingeltlet conversion project being implemented througloar markets, we did not expand
our operations into any additional geographic mirkieiring 2011. As such we recorded the acceledgpdeciation of previously capitalized
assets related to the build-out of collocationa lanned new market prior to our decision in nddeember 2010 not to expand into that
market in 2011. This resulted in $585 of additiotapreciation expense during the year ended Deaedih@010.

8. Other Accrued Liabilities

December 31 December 31
2011 2010

Accrued bonus $ 8,91¢ $  9,94¢
Accrued other compensation and bene 1,96: 2,251
Accrued sales taxe — 1,23t
Accrued other taxe 4,40¢ 4,30¢
Accrued promotion 1,15¢ 1,32¢
Deferred ren 1,991 1,84¢
Other accrued expens 2,49t 3,57¢
Other accrued liabilitie $ 20,92¢ $ 24,48¢
Non-current portion of deferred re $ 7,34t $ 9,07t
Non-current other accrued expen: 1,51( 1,35¢
Other nor-current liabilities $ 8,85¢ $ 10,43¢
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Accrued sales tax as of December 31, 2010 repefamremaining liabilities related to the dissiolntof our captive lease subsidiaries.
All statutory periods expired as of March 31, 2@44e Note 15 to the consolidated financial statéshen

9. Revolving Line of Credit

We are party to a credit agreement with Bank of Acae which provides for a $75,000 secured revayine of credit (or “Credit
Facility”) that is secured by all of the assetshtef Company. As of December 31, 2011, $1,345 oCieelit Facility was utilized for letters of
credit, and we had $73,655 in remaining availgbillihe terms of the credit agreement were amendellily 2, 2007, February 24,

2009, March 3, 2010, February 22, 2011 and May0412

On February 22, 2011 we entered into the fourthrelment of the credit agreement with Bank of Ameridae amendment increases the
Credit Facility from $40,000 to $75,000 and extetigsterm to February 22, 2016. The amendmentraides certain modifications to the
interest and fees, including the applicable margemsed on redefined tiers, as well as the commitfieen The amendment also modifies cer
financial covenants. The amendment retains sulisigrdall other stipulations of the original credigreement. We also entered into the fifth
amendment to our credit agreement on May 4, 20hlldev for up to $50,000 of common share repurchalsging the term of the credit
agreement. The amendment also modified certaimdiahcovenants. No other significant modificatiaigerms, or changes to our available
borrowing capacity were made under the amendment.

Our Credit Facility is available to finance workingpital, capital expenditures and other genengdarate purposes. Within the Credit
Facility we have access to a cash managementflioeedit for up to $5.0 million for cash managemputposes.

The interest rates applicable to loans under tleeliCFacility are floating interest rates thatpat option, will equal a London Interbank
Offered Rate (or “LIBO rate”pr an alternate base rate plus, in each case,micage margin. The current base rate is a flutganterest rat
equal to the higher of (a) the prime rate of inseper annum publicly announced from time to timeéBlank of America, as administrative
agent, as its prime rate in effect at its principffice in New York City; (b) the overnight federfainds rate plus 0.50%; and (c) the Eurodollar
base rate plus 1.0%. The interest periods of thedeliar loans are one, two, three or six monthsua option. The amended applicable
margins for LIBO rate loans or alternate base ledas are 1.75% and 0.75%, respectively. In additie are required to pay to Bank of
America a commitment fee for unused commitments@r annum rate of 0.40%.

The Credit Facility requires us to comply with @émtfinancial covenants; including minimum consatiet Adjusted EBITDA, minimum
leverage ratio, as determined by our debt divideddjusted EBITDA, and maximum capital expenditurése credit agreement also contains
certain customary negative covenants, represengatind warranties, affirmative covenants, noti@vigions, indemnification and events of
default, including change of control, cross-defatit other debt and judgment defaults. As of Deaarth, 2011 and 2010 there were no
outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facilitd are were in compliance with all applicable coveasan

The Credit Facility is secured by all assets of yoimel Communications, LLC (or “LLC"and is guaranteed by Cbeyond, Inc. (the Par
All assets of the consolidated entity reside whth £LC entity. In addition, Cbeyond, Inc. has n@igtions other than those conducted by LLC.
Accordingly, all income and cash flows
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from operations are generated by and belong to &b all assets appearing on the consolidated fiabstatements secure the Credit Facility.
In addition, the credit agreement contains cemagtrictive covenants that effectively prohibitftem paying cash dividends.

As of December 31, 2010, $1,295 of the Credit Rgiailas utilized for letters of credit, and we Hs@B,705 in remaining availability.

10. Income Taxes

In 2011, we generated net operating loss carryfatsyavhich will offset future taxable income. Curréncome taxes recognized relate
primarily to income taxes in states with gross ijgisebased taxes, which are due regardless oft pewgls. In 2010 and 2009, we utilized net
operating loss carryforwards to offset the majooityur taxable income. Current income taxes rezaghin 2010 and 2009 related primarily
Alternative Minimum Tax (or “AMT”) or to states thaither do not have net operating loss carryfodsanr that have taxing jurisdictions that
do not consider net operating losses.

The current and deferred income tax provision (bgrfer the years ended December 31, 2011, 20102009 are as follows.

2011 2010 2009
Current

Federal $ — $ 66 $ 69
State 761 834 58¢
Total current 761 90C 657
Deferred

Federal 904 377 (1,419
State (12€) (351) (747)
Change in valuation allowan: 3,637 (612) (57¢)
Total deferrec 4,41¢F (586€) (2,737
Income tax provision (benefi $5,17¢ $ 314 $(2,074

Due to our taxable loss in 2011, no current pravisor federal income taxes was recognized. Theeatiprovision for federal income
taxes during the years ended December 31, 201QG@0®i consisted of AMT because we could only ofgg¥t of AMT taxable income with
AMT net operating losses in those years. AMT paytsessult in a credit that will be used to offssgular income taxes due in future periods,
when and if we pay regular income tax. We alsondew current state tax expense in 2011, 2010 a@8 glmarily as a result of the Texas
Margin Tax that totaled $660, $673 and $694 in 2@D1L0 and 2009, respectively. This tax is not depat upon levels of pre-tax income and
has a significant influence on our effective tatera
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During the twelve months ended December 31, 204rtain restricted shares vested where the maria pn the vesting date was lower
than the market price on the date the restrictadeshwere originally granted. This resulted inizéad a lower actual tax deduction than was
deducted for financial reporting purposes. As altewe wrote off deferred tax assets of $1,88atieg) to the share-based compensation that
had been recognized for these restricted shardméorcial reporting purposes, with the entire geagoing to income tax expense as the
Company’s accumulated additional-paid-in-capitadlpgas reduced to zero in 2010. In addition, aipordf our valuation allowance against
other deferred tax assets was no longer requirddvas reduced as an income tax benefit. The foligwable summarizes the significant
differences between the U.S. federal statutoryase (35%) and our effective tax rate for finansi@tement purposes for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

2011 2010 2009
Federal income tax provision at statutory rate $ (989) $(469) $(1,509)
State income taxes, net of federal ber 394 38C 23€
Nondeductible expens: 26& 27¢ 15C
Nondeductible sha-based compensation co 1,88: 80¢ —
Other (20 (3) av3)
State tax credits generated in prior year, needéfal tax benef — (69) (20¢)
Change in valuation allowan 3,631 (612 (578
Income tax provision (benefi $5,17¢ $ 314 $(2,079

The income tax effects of temporary differencesvieen the carrying amounts of assets and liabilitigbe financial statements and their
respective income tax bases give rise to defemedssets and liabilities. As of December 31, 281d 2010, the deferred tax assets and
liabilities are as follows:

2011 2010
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss (federal and stz $ 34,49: $ 33,74¢
Deferred ren 3,554 4,13
Allowance for doubtful accoun 995 89¢
Accrued telecommunication liabilitie 452 62C
Accrued liabilities 1,791 1,82(
Shar-based compensation expel 12,01 12,11¢
Other 3,84¢ 3,177
Gross deferred tax assi 57,14: 56,51
Deferred tax liabilities
Property and equipme 13,94( 12,81(
Intangible assel 481 72C
Goodwill 371 —
Other 79¢€ 76%
Gross deferred tax liabilitie 15,59( 14,29:
Net deferred tax asse 41,55 42,21¢
Valuation allowanct (36,849 (33,219
Net deferred tax asse 4,704 9,00¢
Less no-current net deferred tax ass (4,259 (8,06¢)
Current net deferred tax ass $ 45C $ 93¢
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At December 31, 2011, we have federal net operdtisgycarryforwards of approximately $120,962 aatksnet operating loss
carryforwards of $106,015, which begin expirin®®21. The federal net operating loss carryforwankests of net operating losses unrelated
to share-based compensation of $84,191 (with &sponding deferred tax asset of $29,467) and rezabpg losses related to share-based
compensation of $36,771. We follow the “with andhaut approach”, including indirect effects, whimbnsiders the impact of share-based
compensation deductions last when computing théemefits of share-based compensation. Under gipisoach, any regular income tax
benefit derived from net operating losses relateshare-based compensation is reflected as adalifpaid-in-capital at the time such benefit is
realized.

Our net deferred tax assets, before valuation allme, totaled approximately $41,552 and $42,2T8atmber 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, and primarily relate to net operatogs carryforwards. We maintain a valuation alloeg which reduces our deferred income
assets to the amount that is more likely than mbetrealized. As of December 31, 2011, our vadmadilowance was $36,848. In evaluating
our ability to realize our deferred income tax &s9ee consider all available positive and negagwvielence, including our historical operating
results, ongoing tax planning and forecasts ofreutexable income. Our evaluation led us to inereas valuation allowance by $4,200 in the
fourth quarter of 2011, resulting in additionaldnte tax expense and a decrease in basic and ddatadhgs per share of $0.14. In order to
realize the benefits of the deferred tax assetsgrézed at December 31, 2011, we will need to gareapproximately $13,335 of taxable
income in the foreseeable future, which, basedusrent projected performance, management expetts &ble to achieve. If future results are
less favorable than our projections or if the prtgd benefits of our investments fall short of expectations, we may have to increase our
allowance against our net deferred tax asset withrieesponding increase to income tax expensee lj@nerate taxable income in excess of
projections, the result would be a reduction ofallewance against our net deferred tax asset aodrasponding benefit to income tax
expense.

We continually evaluate whether we have any lirotag on our ability to utilize net operating lossryforwards under Internal Revenue
Code Section 382 due to changes in ownership amaldieEally engage third party experts to perforfoanal study. The most recent formal
study was updated through late 2011 with the caimtuthat there were ownership changes sufficeoatse an annual limitation on the us
net operating losses. However, the limitation gigantly exceeds our projected annual taxable ire@nojections, so we believe the current
limitation will have no effect on the ultimate rizaition of the available net operating losses. Hmweutilization of these net operating loss
carryforwards may be limited in future years ifréfgcant ownership changes were to occur subsedoemir most recent study.

The tax years 2008 to 2011, according to stateteain open to examination by the major taxing glicsons to which we are subject.
Due to the use of net operating losses generatiedt ipears prior to the statutory three-year limérlier tax years of 2001 to 2007 may also be
subject to examination.

11. Employee Benefit Plan
401(k) Plan

We have a 401(k) Defined Contribution RetirememnRlor “Plan”) for the benefit of eligible employeand their beneficiaries. All
regular employees are eligible to participate i fthan on the first day of the month following Hyd of employment. The Plan provides for an
employee deferral up to the dollar limit that i$ I3 the Internal Revenue Service.

We have a commitment to contribute shares to the 8 the end of each plan year which equatesrtatahing contribution value as a
percentage of eligible employee compensation. WelmE00% of the first 1% of eligible compensati@mtibuted by plan participants, and
to 50% of the next 5% of eligible compensation
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contributed. We fund our matching contribution ion@any stock and the number of shares we contribltased on the share price on the last
day of the Plan year. Throughout the year, thenalte number of shares that settles relating tor@aiching contribution remains variable until
the December 31 settlement date. The Plan dodsnibthe number of shares that can be issuedttiedbe matching contribution.We made a
matching contribution of 322 shares of Companylstocdlanuary 2012 relating to the Plan year endecehber 31, 2011.

We also made contributions of 153, 83, and 165ezhaf Company stock in February 2011 (for the Rkar ended December 31,
2010), January 2010 (for the Plan year ended DeeeBih 2009) and July 2009 (for the Plan year erddee 30, 2009), respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012@08, we recognized $2,556, $2,238 and $2,460¢eotisply, of share-based
compensation expense relating to our matching ibutions under the Plan.

Deferred Compensation Plan

We maintain a self-directed, non-qualified, unfuthdeferred compensation plan that provides suppitaheetirement benefits in excess
of limits imposed on qualified plans by U.S. tawsafor certain executives and other highly competsamployees. Under the plan,
participants may elect to defer receipt of a portid their annual compensation. Amounts deferredkuthe plan are invested at the
participants’ discretion in various investment cesi.

Our deferred compensation obligation for the pfaimcluded on our consolidated balance sheetshier oton-current liabilities.
Investment earnings, administrative expenses, asimnginvestment values and increases or decreaties deferred compensation liability
resulting from changes in the investment valuesererded in our consolidated statements of operatiDeferred compensation plan asset
included in other non-current assets on our codatd#d balance sheets. As of December 31, 2011@4@ Beferred compensation plan assets
totaled $1,089 and $901, and plan liabilities w207 and $949, respectively.

12. Share-Based Compensation Plans

We maintain share-based compensation plans thatitpie grant of nonqualified stock options, indeatstock options, restricted stock
and stock purchase rights, collectively referredsshare-based awards. Share-based awards genesalat a rate of 25% per year over four
years or at the attainment of certain performaaogets as of the determination date, although theedBof Directors may approve a differ
vesting period. Upon an exercise of options orlease of restricted stock, new shares are issuedf our approved stock plans. As of
December 31, 2011, we had 1,023 share-based aawadable for future grant. Compensation expenkeee to share-based awards for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009dckak 149, $15,591 and $15,954, respectiy

Beginning in 2011, 50% of the share based awaralstgd to our Chief Executive Officer vest on aftagncertain financial performance
metrics. During 2011, the performance metrics weet and 97% of the shares awarded will vest ovkree year period.

We also grant equity instruments to non-employAéidransactions in which goods or services aredbesideration received for the
issuance of equity instruments are accounted feedan the fair value of the equity instrumenteéskwhich we deem more reliably
measurable than the fair value of the consideratorived. The measurement date of the fair vafltlesoequity instrument issued is the dat
which the counterparty’s performance is complete.
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Stock Options

Options are granted at exercise prices determigetebclosing price of our common stock on the gdate. Our current policy defines
the grant date for options as the second day falig\a quarterly earnings release for previouslyrapged standard option grants. Share-based
option awards expire 10 years after the grant date.

The following table summarizes the weighted avegrgat date fair values and the binomial optiortipg model assumptions that were
used to estimate the grant date fair value of ogtituring the years ended December 31, 2011, 20d @@09:

Years ended December 3:

2011 2010 2009
Grant date fair value $6.02 $7.05 $7.82
Assumptions
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Expected volatility 53.2% 56.2% 58.1%
Risk-free interest rat 2.7% 2.4% 1.9%
Expected multiple of share price to exercise puigen exercisi 2.C 2.2 2.3
Post vest cancellation re 1.2% 2.7% 5.7%

We evaluate the appropriateness of the underlygsgraptions each time we estimate the fair valiegafty instruments requiring
measurement. To assist in validating our assumgtiee periodically engage consultants with releexperience to assess and evaluate its
assumptions.

The risk-free interest rate used in estimatingfétirevalue of options is based on U.S. Treasurgz&upon securities over the appropriate
period. We also use historical data to estimateipected multiple of share price to exercise pugen exercise, volatility and the post-vest
cancellation rate of options granted.

The following table summarizes our option actiwatyd weighted average exercise price during thesyeradled December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2009 (shares in thousands):

2011 2010 2009
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price
Outstanding at beginning of year 3,70t $14.7¢ 3,89¢ $14.82 4,21z $14.5¢
Granted 21¢ 11.8¢ 232 13.2¢ 87 14.3i
Exercised (A (35 9.0¢ (239) 8.9¢ (228) 5.4%
Forfeited or cancelle (272) 20.5¢ (18¢€) 21.4¢ 77 20.21
Expired @ 13.4: (@) 13.4: — —
Outstanding at end of ye 3,61¢ 14.2( 3,70¢ 14.7¢ 3,894 14.8:2
Vested and expected to vest at end of yea 3,58t $14.1¢ 3,66: $14.7C 3,84z $14.7i

(A) The total intrinsic value of options exercised dgrthe years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 andvZ89$167, $1,372, and $3,0!

respectively

(B) As of December 31, 2011, the aggregate intrinsigevaf options vested and expected to vest was323
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The following table summarizes our options outstag@nd exercisable as of December 31, 2011 (slathsusands):

Qutstanding Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Remaining Weighted Remaining Weighted
Options Average Options Average
Range of Exercise Price Outstanding Life (years) Exercise Pric¢ QOutstanding (A) Life (years) Exercise Price
$3.88 734 1.24 $ 3.8¢ 734 1.24 $ 3.8¢
6.00 to 14.0( 1,65¢€ 4.9t 11.81 1,29( 3.87 11.6€
15.00 to 19.0( 277 6.65 16.2¢ 207 6.4¢ 16.3%
19.01 to 22.0( 47¢ 5.71 19.8( 382 5.67 19.8¢
$29.00 to 34.0! 381 5.17 29.9¢ 381 5.17 29.9¢
Over $36.0( 93 5.67 38.8( 93 5.67 38.8(
3,61¢ 4.4¢ $  14.% 3,08¢ 3.8¢€ $ 14.2¢

(A) As of December 31, 2011, the aggregate intrinsigevaf options exercisable was $3,0

As of December 31, 2011, unrecognized share-basmgensation expense related to unvested stocknogii@rds totals approximately
$2,184 and is expected to be recognized over ahiexigaverage period of 2.01 years.

Restricted Shares

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012@08, we granted 565, 894 and 589 restricted shaagsectively. On February 12,
2010, we cancelled 190 restricted shares whosegedpended upon meeting certain minimum annutdl Paljusted EBITDA levels by 20:
and 2012 as we determined that achieving the padoce criteria necessary for these awards to v@sinat probable. On February 25, 2010,
the affected executives were granted 160 sharesstifcted stock that vest in 50% increments inr&aty 2011 and 2012. The shares were
issued at a total grant-date fair value of $2,082.recognized $1,007 and $811 of share-based caapen expense from these awards during
the years ended December 31, 2011 and Decemb263Q, respectively.

The following table summarizes our restricted staward activity during the years ended DecembefB11, 2010 and 2009 (shares in
thousands):

2011 2010 2009
Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Grant- Average Grant- Average Grant-
Shares Date Fair Value Shares Date Fair Value Shares Date Fair Value
Outstanding at beginning of year 1,31z $ 15.5¢ 1,12¢ $ 18.7¢ 844 $ 21.7¢
Granted 56¢& 13.13 894 13.3: 58¢ 15.7¢
Vested (A) (564) 16.0¢ (38¢€) 19.2¢ (200) 22.7¢

Cancellec — — (190 17.0¢ — —
Forfeited (128 14.1( (129 14.8¢ (109 18.6¢
Outstanding at end of ye 1,18¢ $ 14.0: 1,31: $ 15.5: 1,12¢ $ 18.7¢

(A) The fair value of restricted shares that vestedng the years ended December 31, 2011, 201Q2@0@ was $6,766, $5,133, and $3,021
respectively
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As of December 31, 2011, unrecognized shared-bam@gensation expense related to unvested restsbis® awards outstanding totals
approximately $9,945 and is expected to be recegniwer a weighted-average period of 1.95 years.

During the first quarter of 2011, management appdo& mandatory share-based compensation plan fenatagement team that
provides for the settlement of a portion of perfanoe-based compensation under our corporate bdenusvgh shares of common stock,
governed under our 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plre portion of performance-based compensatidiedah equity is 20% of the annual
bonus payout for each respective member of managdmased on the 2011 annual corporate bonus peafarencriteria that are established by
management and approved by the Board of Direcfdesissued 98 shares of common stock under our @6brate bonus plan. The number
of shares granted was based on the closing shaseqgdrour stock on the date we paid the cash payfothe corporate bonus plan, which was
January 31, 2012. The shares earned by the partisifn this plan vest at various points in 201@riby the twelve months ended
December 31, 2011, we recognized $695 of sharedlmmsepensation expense under our 2011 corporateshuan.

13. Commitments

We have entered into various non-cancelable operégiases, with expirations through September 2@ @&ffice space used in our
operations. We also lease customer circuits fraxarimbent local exchange carriers (or “ILECs”) unghénimum agreements for volume and
term commitments in order to obtain more favoragisleing on a per circuit basis. Future minimum ghtions under these arrangements as of
December 31, 2011 are as follows:

Operating Anticipated Credit
Circuit

Leases Commitments Facility Payments

2012 $10,76¢ $ 5,34( $ 30C
2013 10,10: 4,03z 30C
2014 9,54: 1,93¢ 30C
2015 8,091 — 30C
2016 4,39t — 30C
Thereaftel 3,99¢ — 43
Total $46,89: $  11,30¢ $ 1,54¢

Total rent expense for the years ended Decembet031l,, 2010 and 2009 was $9,481, $8,374 and $8r68Pectively. Certain real est:
leases have fixed escalation clauses, holidaysleaséhold improvement allowances. Such leasehgdovement allowances were $87, $870
and $1,476 during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. These allowancesapitalized as leasehold
improvements, which are depreciated over the shoftieir useful lives or the lease term. The Hignef the allowances and the minimum
lease payments under such operating leases areleeloon a straight-line basis over the life oflrgse. Our lease agreements also generally
have lease renewal options that are at our discretid range in terms. Other non-current liabdifeimarily consist of the non-current portion
of our deferred rent liability, and are $8,858 &1,434 as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respéctiv

Our anticipated credit facility payments primarnigpresent commitment fees related to our Crediliasee Note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements). At December 31, 2011, wedadtanding letters of credit of $1,345. Theseetstof credit expire at various times
through May 2016 and collateralize certain of obligations to third party vendors.
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14. Segment Information

Our management monitors and analyzes financialteesn a segment basis for reporting and managemenpbses. Specifically, our
chief operating decision maker allocates resoucesd evaluates the performance of our operagggents based, depending on which
segment, on revenue, direct operating expensesAadjndted EBITDA (defined below). The accountindipes of our reportable segments are
the same as those described in the summary ofisigmi accounting policies.

We aggregate geographic markets with similar lergiteconomic characteristics for segment disclogurposes. This aggregation is
consistent with the direction toward which we areréasingly moving and managing the business. Bqedbi, we recognize that the highest
risk stage for a market is in its early stages wierare adapting our strategy and approach to avoatate a new market's unique
characteristics; including the small business déveand culture, regulatory conditions, local coritpes, and the quality and availability of lor
employees for staffing and managing the marketszoatively, our established markets generally iredass frequent direct corporate level
management involvement because we have adaptkd todal market and have seasoned local managémglace, which generally results in
more stable operating performance. As the numbestaiblished markets has grown, our chief operatimision maker ( or “CODM”) now
spends the majority of his time monitoring the undual performance levels of newer markets anceffectiveness of our corporate operations
rather than focusing on individual established ratgkAs such, we have aggregated these mature tmakene reportable segment entitled
“Core Managed Services Established Markets.”

The markets subject to aggregation are those thatonsider established because they have sucdegsfased through the critical start-
up phase and, for the reasons mentioned previcashyeved certain operating performance levelsofkler markets, our corporate operations
and cloud services will continue to be presentesepsirate segments. Our segment disclosure wilineento include individual market data
each geographic market in addition to aggregate fidatthe established markets as a group. Curremtiyarket is considered established upon
achieving positive Adjusted EBITDA for at least faronsecutive fiscal quarters and otherwise shagiimglar long-term economic
characteristics as the other established markstef Aune 30, 2010, September 30, 2010, Septerfb@031 and December 31, 2011, the San
Francisco, Detroit, Miami and Minneapolis markeespectively, have been re-categorized to the Glaneaged Services Established Market
grouping due to their achievement of four conseeufiiscal quarters of positive Adjusted EBITDA astthierwise sharing long-term economic
characteristics of the other established markesh@le updated our segment tables below to reivefcpresent Detroit, San Francisco,
Miami and Minneapolis as established markets irpti@ periods.

At December 31, 2011, our reportable segments @ere Managed Services Established Markets; theiohail Core Managed Services
Emerging Markets including the Greater Washingt@hArea and Seattle and Boston; and the Cloud SEsndegment. In the fourth quarter of
2010 after making our acquisitions, we establighedCloud Services segment. We consider the Clewdicks segment as a reportable
segment because the CODM is managing the Cloudcgsrsegment separately in terms of resource aibocand financial performance.

The operating results and capital expenditures mammarket-based segments reflect the costs td-#apnch phase in each market in
which the local network is installed and initighfing is hired, followed by a startup phase, begig with the launch of service operations,
when customer installations begin. Sales effoasyise offerings and the prices charged to custerfarservices are generally consistent ac
operating segments. Operating expenses include abstvenue and selling, general and adminisegatosts incurred directly in each market.
Although network design and market operations areegally consistent across all
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operating segments, certain costs differ amongahieus geographical markets. These cost diffeenesult from different numbers of
network central office collocations, prices chargpgdhe local telephone companies for customersacciecuits, prices charged by local
telephone companies and other telecommunicatiansdars for transport circuits, office rents antlatcosts that vary by region.

The balance of our operations is in the Corporateg for which the operations consist of corportecutive, administrative and supy
functions and centralized operations, which inctudetwork operations, customer care and provisgpriihe Corporate group is treated as a
separate segment consistent with the manner inhwhanagement monitors and analyzes financial sesDtirporate costs are not allocated to
the other segments because such costs are mamajedrdrolled on a functional basis that spansaltkets, with centralized, functional
management held accountable for corporate redétaagement also believes that the decision ndtdoade these centralized costs provides a
better evaluation of each revenue-producing gedigcagegment. Management does not report assesgoyesit since it manages assets and
makes decisions on technology deployment and ikestments on a company-wide rather than on d foagket basis. The CODM does not
use segment assets in evaluating the performarmgesting segments. As a result, management dadmeheve that segment asset disclosure
is meaningful information to investors. In additimnsegment results, we use Total Adjusted EBITDAdsess the operating performance ¢
overall business. Because the CODM evaluates tHierpgnce of each segment on the basis of AdjuSBIdDA as the primary metric for
measuring segment profitability, management betigkiat segment Adjusted EBITDA data should be atél to investors so that investors
have the same data that management employs irsaggesir overall operations. The CODM also usesmae to measure operating results
assess performance, and both revenue and AdjuBiddA are presented herein.

EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure commonly diby investors, financial analysts and ratings agen EBITDA is generally
defined as net income (loss) before interest, irctames, depreciation and amortization. HowevernisesAdjusted EBITDA, also a non-
GAAP financial measure, to further exclude, whepl&agable, non-cash share-based compensation, pafiidiing or acquisition-related
transaction costs, purchase accounting adjustmgaits or loss on asset dispositions and non-operatcome or expense. On a less frequent
basis, Adjusted EBITDA may exclude charges for empge severances, asset or facility impairmentsofimel exit activity costs associated
with a management directed plan. Adjusted EBITDArssented because this financial measure, in ¢@tibn with revenue and operating
expenses, is an integral part of the internal rappsystem used by our CODM to assess and evatlwatgerformance of the business and our
operating segments, both on a consolidated and amdévidual basis.

The tables below present information about our atirey segments:

Year Ended December 3:

2011 2010 2009
Revenue:!
Core Managed Services Established Mar $452,22. $441,11! $412,07:
Core Managed Services Emerging Mark
Greater Washington DC Are 9,26( 6,291 1,60:
Seattle (3 8,43¢ 2,691 97
Boston (4) 1,24¢ 84 —
Core Managed Services total emerging mar 18,94 9,06¢ 1,70C
Total Core Managed Servic 471,16: 450,18: 413,77
Cloud Service! 14,61: 1,791 —
Intersegment eliminatio (354) (7) —
Total revenue $485,42: $451,96" $413,77:
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Adjusted EBITDA
Core Managed Services Established Market:
Core Managed Services Emerging Mark

Greater Washington DC Are

Seattle (3

Boston (4)

Core Managed Services total emerging mar
Total Core Managed Servic

Cloud Service:
Corporate

Total Adjusted EBITDA (2,

Operating income (los:
Core Managed Services Established Market:
Core Managed Services Emerging Mark

Greater Washington DC Are

Seattle (3

Boston (4)

Core Managed Services total emerging mar
Total Core Managed Servic

Cloud Service:
Corporate

Total operating (loss) income (

Depreciation and amortization expel
Core Managed Services Established Mar
Core Managed Services Emerging Mark

Greater Washington DC Are

Seattle (3

Boston (4)

Core Managed Services total emerging mar
Total Core Managed Servic

Cloud Service:
Corporate

Total depreciation and amortization expe
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Year Ended December 3.

2011
$ 191,69°

(1,307)
(2,70¢)
(3,716)
(7,72])
183,97t
2,21¢
(106,02)
$ 80,16

$ 161,78¢

(2,959
(4,05¢)
(4,33
(11,349)
150,43
(1,427)
(152,52()
$ (3,519

$ 28,87¢

1,62¢
1,29¢
59C
3,511
32,39(
3,41¢
34,09

2010

2009

$ 187,31t $ 162,86
(4,03%) (5,347)
(5,19€) (1,629)
(2,739 1)
(11,970) (6,977)
175,34 155,88

56¢ —

(102,98;) (92,760)

$ 72,93 $ 63,12¢

$ 159,12 $ 134,77
(5,480) (6,429)
(6,08F) (1,820)
(2,926) 2
(14,49)) (8,245)
144,63t 126,53

(15€) —

(147,40¢) (131,199

$ (2920 $ (4,660

$ 27,22 $ 26,98
1,40¢ 1,02:

852 172

175 1
2,43: 1,19€
29,65t 28,18(
502 —
29,14¢ 23,66(
$ 59,30 $ 51,84
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Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Capital expenditure
Core Managed Services Established Mar $ 34,88’ $ 24,44¢ $ 26,72:
Core Managed Services Emerging Mark
Greater Washington DC Are 1,01z 92: 1,25:
Seattle (3 1,30( 1,63: 3,00¢
Boston (4) 327 2,09¢ 30¢
Core Managed Services total emerging mar 2,64( 4,65¢ 4,56¢
Total Core Managed Servic 37,521 29,10( 31,281
Cloud Service: 4,81¢ 413 —
Corporate 35,34¢ 33,31¢ 30,83¢
Total capital expenditure $ 77,69: $ 62,83: $ 62,12¢
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net los
Total Adjusted EBITDA for operating segmel $ 80,16 $ 72,93t $ 63,12¢
Depreciation and amortizatic (69,895 (59,309 (51,840
Non-cash shar-based compensatic (14,149 (15,59) (15,959
MaximumASP purchase accounting adjustment: 51€ (213) —
Transaction cost (1549) (755) —
Interest incomu — 2 28
Interest expens (500) (281) (152)
Other income, ne 1,217 1,86 49¢
Income tax (expense) bene (5,17¢6) (314) 2,07¢
Net loss $ (7,98¢) $ (1,659 $ (2,220

(1) During 2011 and 2010, we recognized a benefit pfapmately $420 and $724, respectively to cosesknue for telecommunicatic
cost recoveries (see Triennial Review Remand Qideussion in note 15 to the consolidated finarsti@aements’

(2) During 2009, we settled an outstanding cosewénue obligation relating to previous periodsdpproximately $832 less than the
recorded liability resulting in a benefit to co$trevenue across several marki

(3) We launched service to customers in the Seattl&enhar the fourth quarter of 200

(4) We launched service to customers in the Boston etankthe third quarter of 201

(5) These adjustments include the effect of adjustoyged deferred revenue and the contingent coretide to fair value. Thes
adjustments affect period-to-period financial parfance comparability in periods subsequent to tygiigition and are not indicative of
changes in underlying results of operations. We heye similar adjustments in future periods if veedrany new acquisition
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15. Contingencies
Triennial Review Remand Order

In February 2005, the Federal Communications Coionis(or “FCC") issued its Triennial Review Remaddier (or “TRRO”) and
adopted new rules, effective March 11, 2005, gawnerthe obligations of ILECs to afford access tdaie of their network elements, if at all,
and the cost of such facilities. The TRRO redutedlt ECs’ obligations to provide higtapacity loops within, and dedicated transportitaes
between, certain ILEC wire centers that were deetméd or become sufficiently competitive, basedruparious factors such as the numbe
fiber-based collocators and/or the number of bissirsecess lines within a wire center. In addito@mtain caps were imposed regarding the
number of unbundled network element (or “UNE”") faiigs that the ILECs are required to make avadair a single route or into a single
building. Where the wire center conditions or tapswere exceeded, the TRRO eliminated the ILEBIgjations to provide these high-
capacity circuits to competitors at the discourrtgds historically received under the federal 198@communications Act. If, in the future, the
conditions or caps are exceeded in additional iooaf ILEC UNE obligations could be further reduced

The rates charged by ILECs for our high-capacitguts in place on March 11, 2005 that were affédtg the FCC’s new rules were
increased 15% effective for one year until MarcB&0n addition, by March 10, 2006, we were reqaiiee transition those existing facilities to
rate had been negotiated. Subject to any contigatatections under our existing interconnectioreagnents with ILECs, beginning March 11,
2005, we were also potentially subject to the ILB@gher “special access” pricing for any new ifistigons of DS-1 loops and/or DS-1 (the
capacity equivalent of a T-1) and DS-3 (the capasifuivalent of 28 T-1s) transport facilities iretaffected ILEC wire centers, on the affected
transport routes, or that exceeded the caps.

Beginning on March 11, 2005, we began estimatirjautruing the difference between the new pricesyiting from the TRRO and the
pricing being invoiced by ILECs. We continue to meecertain amounts relating to the implementatibthe TRRO due to billing rates that
continue to reflect pre-TRRO pricing. As of DecemBg, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectivelyaoarual totaled $1,187 and $1,629.
These estimates of remaining TRRO obligations aralf markets and, where alternate pricing ofleignt agreements have not been reac
are based on special access rates available uollene and/or term pricing plans. We believe voluand/or term pricing plans are the most
probable pricing regime to which we are subjectbasn our experience and our intent to enter intarae and/or term commitments where
more attractively priced alternatives do not exist.

A portion of these accrued expenses have neveribeeited by the ILECs and are generally subjeditioer a two-year statutory back
billing period limitation or a 12-month contractuzck billing limitation. These amounts are gerignaversed as telecommunication cost
recoveries once they pass the applicable backdifieriod, or once a settlement agreement is relasfik the relevant ILEC that may relieve a
previously recognized liability.

Regulatory and Customer-based Taxation Contingsncie

We operate in a highly regulated industry and abgest to regulation and oversight by telecommutiice authorities at the federal, st
and local levels. Decisions made by these ageno@sding the various rulings made to date regagditerpretation and implementation of
TRRO, compliance with various federal and stategand regulations and other administrative dewsséwe frequently challenged through
the
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regulatory process and through the court systerall€iges of this nature often are not resolveddiog periods of time and occasionally
include retroactive impacts. At any point in tintleere are a number of similar matters before th@wua regulatory agencies that could be e
beneficial or adverse to our operations. In addjtive are always at risk of non-compliance, whiah pesult in fines and assessments. We
regularly evaluate the potential impact of matterdergoing challenges and matters involving compkawith regulations to determine
whether sufficient information exists to requirther disclosure and/or accrual. However, due totitere of the regulatory environment,
reasonably estimating the range of possible outsamd the probabilities of the possible outcomeificult since many matters could range
from a gain contingency to a loss contingency.

We are required to bill taxes, fees and other anm{aollectively referred to as “taxes”) on behafligovernment entities at the county,
city, state and federal level (“taxing authoritie€Zach taxing authority may have one or more tax#s unique rules as to which services are
subject to each tax and how those services shautdxXed, the application of which involves judgmamd heightens the risk of non-
compliance. Because we sell many of our services lmandled basis and assess different taxes dndhédual components included within
the bundle, there is also a risk that a taxing @itthcould disagree with the taxable value of adled component.

Taxing authorities periodically perform audits &rify compliance and include all periods that rem@pen under applicable statutes,
which range from three to four years. At any pdainime, we are undergoing audits that could reisutignificant assessments of past taxes,
fines and interest if we were found to be remmpliant. During the course of an audit, a taxanthority may, as a matter of policy, question
interpretation and/or application of their rulesimanner that, if we were not successful in sultistiéng our position, could potentially result
in a significant financial impact to us. In the ce&l of preparing our financial statements and d&gles, we consider whether information e:
which would warrant specific disclosure and/or aetin such situations. To date, we have been ssbden satisfactorily demonstrating our
compliance and have concluded audits with eitheigs@ssment or assessments that were not matew&glowever, we cannot be assured
that in every such audit in the future the merftewr position or the reasonableness of our inttgtion and application of rules will prevail.

Dissolution of Captive Leasing Subsidiaries

Effective December 31, 2006, we dissolved and pe#d our captive leasing subsidiaries. These sabigigl historically purchased assets
sales tax-free and leased the assets to our apgEMpanies as a means of preserving cash floiglaur start-up phase of operations.
During 2006, we determined that the nature of quarations and experience with asset duration digustify the administrative cost and effi
of maintaining these subsidiaries. In connectiotihhe dissolution, a final accounting of all aittiwunder the leasing subsidiaries was
performed, and certain sales tax underpayments ident¢ified and accrued. These liabilities, alorithvether liabilities related to the captive
leasing subsidiaries that existed at the time 8&pse, are included in Other Accrued Liabiliti€ser time, we have adjusted the liabilities
related to captive leasing subsidiaries for anyustay periods that have expired. For the year dridecember 31, 2011, we removed the
remainder of these liabilities since all statutpgyiods expired as of March 31, 2011, resulting benefit of $1,204 to Other income, net,
compared to a benefit of $1,867 for the year erdeckmber 31, 2010.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in legal prodegd arising in the ordinary course of business.Baleve that we have adequately
reserved for these liabilities and that as of Ddwen31, 2011, there is no litigation pending thaild have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations and financial condition.
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As of the date of this filing, we are involved hetpreliminary stage of a lawsuit with Klausner fiealogies (“Klausner”) that Klausner
filed in the United States District Court for thadtern District of Texas. Klausner sued us andmabeun of other technology companies on
October 27, 2011, alleging that our service vidatarious patents they have for a technology knaswisual voicemail. The term “visual
voicemail” describes the ability to select voicemail mességesetrieval in any order, and it is not cleartthe utilize any services to which 1
patents would apply. Although the patents expirBlarch of next year, the suit seeks past damadasisker has previously sued other parties
in matters that were settled prior to trial. In gideh, Klausner’'s proposed licensing agreement admggrovide us with a methodology to
calculate an estimated range of potential liabbigécause it is not yet clear what Cbeyond servitasy, would allegedly violate the asserted
patents. As a result, we are currently unable timase any possible range of loss which may ariem fthe lawsuit.

16. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2011
Revenue $118,97¢ $120,59: $122,52¢ $123,32:
Gross profit (exclusive of depreciation and amattian) 79,38: 80,38¢ 82,07: 82,27¢
Depreciation and amortization expel 16,46 17,49¢ 16,84: 19,09t
Operating (loss) incom (1,537 (1,500 (5149 28
(Loss) income before income tax (423) (1,627) (650C) (10¢)
Net (loss) incomi (142 (1,67¢€) (1,14) (5,026
Net income (loss) per common st—basic — (0.0¢) (0.09 (0.19)
Net income (loss) per common st—diluted — (0.06) (0.09) (0.19)
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2010
Revenue $110,51! $111,75: $113,45¢ $116,24:
Gross profit (exclusive of depreciation and amaettn) 74,12¢ 76,45( 77,16% 77,71¢
Depreciation and amortization expel 14,28: 14,33 14,50¢ 16,18¢
Operating income (los: 572 14¢ (772) (2,877)
Income (loss) before income tax 2,064 20z (757) (2,855
Net income (loss 1,03¢ (98) (60€) (2,987
Net income (loss) per common st—basic 0.04 — (0.02) (0.09)
Net income (loss) per common st—diluted 0.0¢ — (0.02) (0.07)
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ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Aounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Cligécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, hasluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to &g Act Rule 13a-15(b) as of the end of the pesatred by this report. Based on that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chi@fdncial Officer have concluded that these disagleswntrols and procedures were effective
at the reasonable assurance level.

Management's Annual Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taigimg adequate internal control over financiglading. With the participation of
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial ioffr, management conducted an assessment of #aiedhess of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 basethe “Internal Control"—Integrated Framework isdu® the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Basethisnevaluation, management concluded that ourriatecontrol over financial reporting
was effective as of December 31, 2011. There werghanges in our internal control over financiglawing during the quarter ended
December 31, 2011 that materially affected, oraasonably likely to materially affect, our intekoantrol over financial reporting.

Our independent registered public accounting flEmst & Young LLP, has issued an attestation reporbur internal control over
financial reporting, which appears in Item 8 ofthéport.

Iltem 9B.  Other Information
None.
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PART IlI

Iltem 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required by this Item 10 will bentained in our definitive proxy statement issuedannection with the 2012 annual
meeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEGhwmi 120 days after December 31, 2011 and is iraratpd herein by reference.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Etfiibgs Code of Ethics applies to all of our direstofficers and employees and all
such individuals are required to strictly adher¢hi principles as described in the Code of Ethiibe Code of Ethics is available on our Web
site at www.cbeyond.ne The foregoing information is also available nimpupon request.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatior

The information required by this Item 11 will bentained in our definitive proxy statement under¢hptions “The Board of Directors
and Committees,” “Executive Compensation,” “Comgion Discussion and Analysis,” and “Compensatiom@ittee Interlocks and
Participation” issued in connection with the 20h2@al meeting of stockholders to be filed with 8C within 120 days after December 31,
2011 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andVanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

The information required by this Item 12 will bentained in our definitive proxy statement underehption “Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners” issued in connectiortwtite 2012 annual meeting of stockholders to leel fitith the SEC within 120 days after
December 31, 2011 and is incorporated herein lreate.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an@®irector Independence

The information required by this Item 13 will bentained in our definitive proxy statement under¢hption “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” issued in connection with2B&2 annual meeting of stockholders to be filethwhe SEC within 120 days after
December 31, 2011 and is incorporated herein lreate.

Iltem 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Service

The information required by this Item 14 will bentained in our definitive proxy statement under¢hption ‘Ratification of Independe
Registered Public Accounting Firngsued in connection with the 2012 annual meetfrejackholders to be filed with the SEC within 1@8y<
after December 31, 2011 and is incorporated hérgireference.
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PART IV

ltem 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
(a) (1)Financial Statements.
The response to this item is included in Iltem 8.
(2)Financial Statement Schedule.

All schedules are omitted because they are nofnextjor the required information is shown in thesolidated financial
statements or notes thereto.

(3)Exhibits
See the response to Item 15(b) below.
(b) Exhibits.
The following exhibits are filed as part of, or émeorporated by reference into, this report omfrd0-K:

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit
2.1(a) Asset Purchase Agreement, dated November 3, 2§l&hdamong the Company, Cbeyond Communication€, LL
MaximumASP, LLC, MaximumColo, LLC and Maximum Hotdjs, LLC, and Silas Boyle and Wade Lewis, eachisn h
individual capacity

3.1(b) Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incatjmor of Cbeyond, Inc., as amend
3.2(c) Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Cbeyond Cocations, Inc
10.1(c) Third Amended and Restated Registration Rights é&ment, dated as of December 29, 2004, by and a@bagonc
Communications, Inc. and the other signatoriesetioe
10.2(c) 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan of Cbeyond Comneations, Inc
10.3(c) 2002 Equity Incentive Plan of Cbeyond Communicatjdnc.
10.4(c) 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended) of Cbeyardriunications, Inc
10.5(c) Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Opt#greement under the 2005 Equity Incentive AwarchRif
Cbeyond Communications, In
10.6(c) Form of Restricted Stock Award Grant Notice andtReted Stock Award Agreement under the 2005 Eqlritentive
Plan of Cbeyond Communications, |i
10.7(c) Form of Amended and Restatec-Will Employment Agreemen
10.8(d) Credit Agreement, dated as of February 8, 200&rayamong Cbeyond Communications, LLC, Bank of Acaeand
the other parties theret
10.9(e) First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as bf 3u2007, by and among Cbeyond Communication€; LBank of
America and the other parties there
10.10(f) Form of Indemnity Agreement by and between Cbeyamdieach of the executive office
10.11(g) Form of A-Will Employment Agreement by and between Cbeyordl ZJames Geige
10.12(qg) Form of A-Will Employment Agreement by and between Cbeyordi &rRobert Fugat
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Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit
10.1%(g) Form of A-Will Employment Agreement by and between Cbheyordi @ach of Robert Morrice, Brooks Robins
Chris Gatch, Joseph Oesterling and Richard Bate
10.14(h) Waiver and Second Amendment to Credit Agreemem¢ddas of February 24, 2009, by and among Che
Communications, LLC, Bank of America and the otbarties theretc
10.15(i) Cbeyond Inc's 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan, as amendedrasidted on June 12, 20(
10.1¢€() Cbeyond Inc's Senior Executive Bonus Plan, as adopted on J2n20D9.
10.17%()) Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as ofdid&, 2010, by and among Cbheyond Communicatiob€,
Bank of America and the other parties ther
10.2¢(k) Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated asbflary 22, 2011, by and among Cbeyond Communits’
LLC, Bank of America and other parties there
10.1¢() Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as ofMa2011 by Cbeyond Communications, LLC, Bank afekica
and the other parties there
14.1(m) Cbeyond In¢'s Code of Ethic
21.1 Subsidiaries of Cbeyond, Inc. (filed herewi
23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registgreblic accounting firm (filed herewith
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, JanfesGeiger, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of
2002 (filed herewith)
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, J. Bert Fugate, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sash@xdey Act of
2002 (filed herewith)
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, JanfesGeiger, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb&ndsy Act of
2002 (furnished herewith
32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, J. Bert Fugate, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sag-Oxley Act of

2002 (furnished herewith

(&) Incorporated by reference to Fori-K dated November 3, 2010 filed on November 3, 2(Fil@ No. 00(-51588).

(b) Incorporated by reference to Registration Staterorriorm -1 filed on September 19, 2006 (File No. -137445), as amended
Amendment No. 1 filed on September 25, 2(

(c) Incorporated by reference to Registration $tatet on Form S-1 filed on May 16, 2005 (File No3324971), as amended by
Amendment No. 1 filed on June 30, 2005, by Amendrn 2 filed on July 27, 2005, by Amendment Ndil& on August 24, 2005, k
Amendment No. 4 filed on September 20, 2005, by Adgneent No. 5 filed on October 3, 2005, by Amendni¢mt 6 filed on October 5,
2005, by Amendment No. 7 filed on October 7, 2008 by Amendment No. 8 filed on October 27, 2C

(d) Incorporated by reference to For-K dated February 14, 2006 filed on February 14 62@F0le No. 00-51588).

(e) Incorporated by reference to Form-Q for second quarter 2007, filed on August 7, 2(il& No. 00(-51588).

(H Incorporated by reference to Formr-Q for third quarter 2007 filed on November 6, 2@Bile No. 00(-51588).

() Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 1010.12 and 10.13 of Form 10-K for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2007 filed on February
29, 2008 (File No. 0(-51588).

(h) Incorporated by reference to Forn-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 fdadvarch 6, 2009 (File No. 0-51588).
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() Incorporated by reference to Cbeyond’s definitive proxy statement for the 2009 Annualdtleg of Stockholders filed on April 2
2009 (File No. 00-51588).

() Incorporated by reference to Forn-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 fiadviarch 5, 2010 (File No. 0-51588).
(k) Incorporated by reference to For-K dated February 22, 2011 filed on February 2812(ile No. 00-51588).

() Incorporated by reference to Forn-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 201ddfibon May 5, 2011 (File No. 0-51588).
(m) Incorporated by reference to Forn-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 fiedMarch 31, 2006 (File No. 0-51588).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d)f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigrk thereunto duly authorized.

C BEYOND, I NC.

By: /s/ JAMESF. GEIGER

James F. Geiger
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exadnge Act of 1934, this report has been signed beldw the following persons ol
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities anan the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/sl JamesF. GEIGER March 7, 2012

_ Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offi
James F. Geiger

/sl J. ROBERTF UGATE Executive Vice President and Chief Finan March 7, 201z
J. Robert Fugate Officer

/s/ HENRYC. L YON March 7, 2012

Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Off
Henry C. Lyon

/s/ DoucLASC. GRISSOM March 7, 201z

Douglas C. Grissom Director

/s/ D. ScoTtTL UTTRELL Director March 7, 2012
D. Scott Luttrell

/sl M ARTIN M uccl Director March 7, 2012

Martin Mucci

/sl K EVIN C OSTELLO Director March 7, 201z
Kevin Costello

/sl DAV!D A. R OGAN Director March 7, 2012
David A. Rogan

/s/ LARRY T HOMPSON Director March 7, 201z
Larry Thompson

/s/ BONNIEP. WURZBACHER Director March 7, 2012

Bonnie P. Wurzbacher
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF CBEYOND, INC.

Jurisdiction
Cbeyond Communications, LLC (formerly, Egility Coranications, LLC) Delaware limited liability compan
Aretta Communications, Inc. (dissolved on Decen#igr2011) Delaware corporatio



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference ifdlewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-129%&6taining to the 2005 Equity Incentive AwardiRI2002 Equity Incentive
Plan, and 2000 Stock Incentive Plan of Cbeyond; Inc

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-142%@2taining to the 2005 Equity Incentive AwardriPtd Cbeyond, Inc.;
(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-150@@&8taining to the 2005 Equity Incentive AwardrPt# Cbeyond, Inc.;
(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-17Q®£2taining to the 2005 Equity Incentive AwardrPt# Cbeyond, Inc.; and
(5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-172p@rtaining to the 2005 Equity Incentive AwardriPtd Cbeyond, Inc.

of our reports dated March 7, 2012, with respecth#oconsolidated financial statements of Cbheytmd,and Subsidiaries and the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting of Glmad, Inc. and Subsidiaries included in this AnrRReport (Form 10-K) for the year ended
December 31, 2011.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 7, 2012



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

I, James F. Geiger, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Cbeyond, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operet and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifoleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (.
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financéarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargagdang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantbd report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitiat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anlgave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofmancial reporting which ai
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’'s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdain the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 7, 201

/sl James F. Geiger
Name: James F. Geig
Title: Chairman, President and Chief Executive €ff




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

I, J. Robert Fugate, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Cbeyond, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operet and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifoleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (.
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financéarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargagdang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantbd report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitiat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anlgave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofmancial reporting which ai
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’'s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdain the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 7, 201

/sl J. Robert Fugate

Name: J. Robert Fuga
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Finan€dficer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuarat t
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Seg@i6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undeesi officer of Cbeyond, Inc. (the
“Company”) hereby certifies, to such officer’s knedge, that:

(i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-Khaf Company for the year ended December 31, 20&1‘Report”) fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a$ection 15(d), as applicable, of the SecuritieshiBrge Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finarmaldition and results of operations
the Company.

Dated: March 7, 2012 /sl James F. Geiger
James F. Geige
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off




Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuarat t
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Seg@i6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undeesi officer of Cbeyond, Inc. (the
“Company”) hereby certifies, to such officer’s knedge, that:

(i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-Khef Company for the year ended December 31, 20&1‘Report”) fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a$ection 15(d), as applicable, of the SecuritieshiBrge Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finarmaldition and results of operations
the Company.

Dated: March 7, 2012 /sl J. Robert Fugate
J. Robert Fugat
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




